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prospects and 
overview of operations

Section 1
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Board of Directors
JONATHAN SCOTT (63)
BSc (Hons), MBA

Independent Non-Executive Chairman 
Member of the Audit Committee 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Jonathan has many years of experience in 
mining, mining finance, banking and corporate 
finance, and has served on the boards of 
a number of JSE listed companies over 
the years.

PETRUS CILLIERS (52)
PrEng, BEng (ChemEng), MBA

Managing Director (Executive Director)

Petrus is a chemical engineer with more than 
twenty years’ experience in the mining and 
metallurgical industry both as a consultant and 
in a managerial capacity. He has been involved 
in a wide variety of projects in territories 
including South Africa, the DRC, Zambia, 
America, Australia and the UK.

NAMIR WAISBERG (38)
BBusSc, CFA

Financial Director (Executive Director)

Namir is a qualified Actuary and a CFA 
Charterholder. He has over 14 years of 
experience in finance, financial markets  and 
investments. Namir has served as a board 
member of the FTSE/JSE Index Committee 
since 2006. He is also a founding partner and 
chief financial officer of Sail.

EDWARD BRAMLEY (48)
Non-Executive Director 
Member of the Audit Committee 
Member of the Remuneration Committee

Edward is an experienced mining and 
exploration professional with international 
experience in business exploration and 
management. Edward is a co-founder of the 
Chrometco group of companies and has had a 
long-standing association with the Chrometco 
group. Edward has a wealth of experience 
in the limestone industry, and is also an 
experienced player in the iron ore market. 
Edward has extensive experience in minerals 
exploration and development in central and 
southern Africa.

IVAN COLLAIR (62)
Bcom (Hons), BSc

Independent Non-Executive Director 
Member of the Audit Committee 
Member of the Remuneration Committee

Ivan joined the board in February 2012. Ivan 
has over 30 years of business operations and 
governance experience in energy, oil and gas 
plus mineral exploration. He worked for the 
Shell Group for 34 years, and is currently an 
independent energy consultant.

RICHARD ROSSITER (59)
BSc (Hons), MSc.

Independent Non-Executive Director 
Chairman of the Audit Committee 
Member of the Remuneration Committee

Richard began his career as a geologist in the 
South African gold industry. He subsequently 
qualified in mine management and held 
various production management and business 
development roles. He then joined the financial 
sector as a mining analyst and later was 
responsible for corporate advisory, mergers, 
acquisitions, divestments and private equity 
investments. He then set up a consultancy 
and is the former Non-Executive Chairman 
of Sylvania Platinum Limited and the current 
executive Chairman of Realm Resources 
Limited (ASX listed). He holds a Bachelor of 
Science (Hons) in Geology from the University 
of Natal and an MSc in Mineral Exploration from 
Rhodes University in South Africa.

Note on Integrated Reporting
This year marks the sixth year that Chrometco 
will present an Integrated Annual Report, 
in terms of its social, environmental, 
economic and financial impact. This is one 
of the recommendations of the revised 
King Code and Report on Governance for 
South Africa (“King III”) which was published 
in 2009 compliance with King III’s many 
guidelines and recommendations. This 
Integrated Annual Report provides a detailed 
overview of Chrometco's operations and 
financial performance for the year ended 
28 February 2017. The report also describes 
the group’s mineral prospects and other 
development activities. This Integrated Annual 
Report comprises reporting that examines 
our operational, sustainability and financial 
performance together. The aim of our 
integrated  approach is to enable investors and 

other stakeholders, including Government, 
local communities and our employees, to make 
a better informed assessment of the value of 
Chrometco – and our ability to thrive in the new 
growth environments of the future.

It should be noted that Chrometco is currently 
a relatively small group with early stage 
mineral exploration and mining activities, 
few employees and a small number of public 
stakeholders. Accordingly, the size and nature 
of the group’s operations limit the extent to 
which the company has a significant impact on 
the social and natural environment in which it 
operates. To the extent possible, Chrometco 
remains committed to ensuring that it 
operates in a socially responsible manner and 
remains an upstanding  corporate citizen, and 
intends to grow its social responsibility as the 
company grows.

Section 1 of the report addresses the 
strategy, vision, prospects and an overview of 
the operational performance of the group.

Section 2 focuses on accountability, 
compliance and transparency.

Section 3 contains a detailed insight into 
the group's financial performance, position 
and information.

We are engaged in the process of 
improving our reporting and in future will 
endeavour to include information that is 
relevant and important to a wide range of the 
group’s stakeholders.
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Chairman’s statement

On behalf of your board of directors, I am 
pleased to present the Chairman’s report for 
the year ending 28 February 2017.

Chrometco is a mineral exploration company 
whose primary objective is the acquisition 
of interests in mineral rights and developing 
means for bringing these rights to account.

ACTIVITIES
Since the publication of the 2016 annual report, 
the company has concentrated its efforts 
on implementing the transaction announced 
on 25 August 2016 whereby Chrometco will, 
subject to shareholders’ approval, acquire 
stakes in two mining businesses from Grand 
Slam Enterprise Proprietary Limited as well as 
a stake in the mineral trading business of Sail 
Minerals Proprietary Limited. These exciting 
acquisitions, collectively referred to as the Sail 
transaction, will be presented to shareholders 
for approval at the special general meeting to 
be held on 18 July 2017 in terms of the circular 
posted to shareholders on 30 May 2017. 
Shareholders are referred to this circular for 
the details of the Sail transaction which will be 
transformational for your company and which 
has rightly deserved the undivided attention 
of management and the board over the past 
nine months.

Owing to the nature of the underlying assets 
of the Sail transaction, the level of regulatory 
compliance faced by Chrometco in completing 
the circular has been daunting, which is 
why the transaction has taken much longer 
to implement than originally anticipated. 
Nevertheless, through the dedication of 
management and the commitment of the 
Grand Slam Investments and Sail Minerals 
Executives, shareholders have been 
circularised with all the details of the Sail 
transaction necessary to enable them to take 
an informed decision on its merits.

Notwithstanding the demands placed on 
management to advance the Sail transaction, 
the company has continued with its efforts 
to consolidate its existing Rooderand mining 
rights in the North West province with 
complementary neighbouring resources. 

While some progress has been made on 
this front the potential for success in these 
efforts depends on numerous factors outside 
the control of Chrometco. Fortunately, 
implementation of the Sail transaction will 
provide the company with the resources to 
continue its patient yet persistent approach to 
achieving its goals in this area. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The main features of the financial results of 
the company were the reduction in the loss 
per share by 32% despite a 100% reduction 
in revenue. The main contributors to the 
reduction in the loss per share were a reversal 
of the prior year’s deferred tax charge to a 
deferred tax credit, the effects of which were 
offset to some extent by an additional charge 
owing to a change in the capital gains tax rate. 
Additionally, operating costs were reduced by 
35% while amortisation of intangible assets 
increased by 38%.

The cash position of the company improved 
mainly as a result of the R5 million loan 
provided by the Sail group in terms of the loan 
agreement portion of the Sail transaction.

CHANGES TO THE BOARD
In anticipation of the completion of the 
Sail transaction, Mr Namir Waisberg was 
appointed to the board in September 2016. 
Mr Waisberg was simultaneously appointed to 
the position of Financial Director, taking over 
the financial function from Ms Esther Johnson. 
The appointment of Mr Waisberg filled both 
an important gap in the composition of the 
board, while providing the necessary skills and 
support for implementing the Sail transaction. 
There were no other changes to the board 
during the period under review.

OUTLOOK
Following the unanticipated, although 
short-lived spike in chrome prices towards the 
end of 2016, the short term and medium-term 
outlook for chrome looks stable at current 
prices while platinum is likely to remain 
under pressure. The longer-term prospects 
for chrome are encouraging with supply of 

the metal expected to fall behind gradually 
rising demand over the next two to three 
years. The longer-term outlook for platinum is 
clouded by uncertainties relating to the current 
supply – demand imbalance.

As far as Chrometco is concerned, the 
implementation of the Sail transaction gives 
shareholders cause for optimism. As reported 
by the Managing Director, the Black Chrome 
property in which Chrometco will become 
the controlling shareholder upon approval 
of the Sail transaction by shareholders, 
has performed well since it re-commenced 
production in late 2016 and has met and 
exceeded its current owners’ expectations as 
well as meeting its production target under 
the terms of the Sail transaction.  Chrometco 
can accordingly look forward to a steady 
contribution from this pending investment. 
The sources of revenue for Chrometco will be 
diversified by the acquisition of an interest in 
Sale Minerals, a profitable minerals trading 
entity, while the participation in the Palm 
Chrome property provides the potential for 
additional future mineable chrome resources.

CONCLUSION
Chrometco is on the threshold of an exciting 
future. As concluded in last year’s report 
the Sail transaction will provide substance 
to the company and place it at the forefront 
of mid-sized South African chrome miners. 
Positioning the company on the brink of this 
new era is thanks to the tireless efforts of the 
executive and the board supported by the 
firm commitment to the Sail transaction of the 
Grand Slam Investments and Sail Minerals 
Executives. In the end, however, it is the 
support of the shareholders that provides the 
board and management with the necessary 
confidence to pursue the company’s strategy. 
It is therefore to be hoped that the efforts of 
the past year will in due course adequately 
reward shareholders for this support. 

	

J G Scott
Chairman

3 July 2017
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Managing Director’s review

INTRODUCTION
Chrometco is an exploration and mining 
company which focuses on Chrome 
exploration and mining in South Africa, with the 
Rooderand Mine in the North West province on 
South Africa as its only asset. 

Chrometco is a strong supporter of the 
further consolidation of the Platinum Group 
Metal (“PGMs”) rights associated with its 
mining rights at the Rooderand mine, after 
successfully completed the consolidation 
of the PGM rights previously belonging to 
NKWE Platinum and Real Resources over the 
Remainder Portion of Rooderand. 

Chrometco also continued to explore other 
business opportunities related to Chrome 
and PGMs As a result, on 24 August 2016, 
Chrometco entered into the following 
conditional agreements with Grand Slam 
Investments Propriety Limited (GSE) and its 
subsidiary, Sail Minerals (“Sail”): The Share 
subscription agreement; The Black Chrome 
share swap agreement; The Palm Chrome 
share swap agreement and a loan agreement. 
The detail on the proposed transaction is 
contained in a circular, which is available on 
the Chrometco website www.chrometco.co.za 
and a schematic with the post deal corporate 
structure is outlined on page 7. 

FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
The Group did not sell any chrome ore in the 
period under review after the arrangement, in 
terms of which a third party extracted chrome 
ore from the Rooderand Mine, came to an end 
during the period ended 29 February 2016.

The Group achieved a total comprehensive 
loss after tax for the year amounting to 
R24 850 191 (2016: R30 935 735) after a tax 
expense of R7 517 993 (2016: expense of 
R18 046 038). 

The loss for the period under review was 
mainly attributable to the amortisation of 
intangible assets and the increase in the 
capital gains tax (CGT) inclusion rate from 
66.67% to 80.00%.

CORPORATE 
ACTIVITY OVERVIEW
On 24 August 2016, Chrometco entered into 
the following conditional agreements with GSE 
and Sail:

Share subscription agreement
GSE will subscribe for 62.5 million new shares 
in Chrometco for a consideration of R5 million.

The Black Chrome share 
swap agreement
Chrometco will acquire a 51% stake in 
Black Chrome Holdings, giving Chrometco 
an effective 32.64% interest in the Black 
Chrome mining project at the final stage of 
the restructuring; and Chrometco will acquire 
a 25% stake in Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd (Sail) for 
an issue of new ordinary Chrometco shares. 
The shares will be issued in two tranches: 
835 million and 1 370 million respectively.

The first tranche is linked to a production 
and sales profit margin of the Black Chrome 
project. The Black Chrome project is a fully 
developed underground Chrome mine in 
the Eastern Limb of the Bushveld complex 
having an approximated economically minable 
resource in excess of 20 million tons of 
Chrome ore. It has over 15 years remaining 
on the current new order mining right and 
restarted operations towards the end of 2016.

The Palm Chrome share 
swap agreement
Chrometco will acquire a 51% stake in Palm 
Chrome Holdings giving Chrometco an 
effective 34.68% interest in the Palm Chrome 
prospecting project (this is due to Palm 
Chrome Holdings owning 68% of the Palm 
Chrome Prospecting project) in return for an 
issue of 200 million new ordinary Chrometco 
shares. Palm Chrome will hold a prospecting 
right for Chrome and other minerals in the 
Western Limb of the Bushveld Igneous 
Complex and is viewed to have the potential for 
an estimated 1.4 million tons of economically 
mineable opencastable Chrome ore on the 
prospecting area.

Sail is a privately owned, well-established 
South African based global company and is 
considered one of the leading Chrome trading 
companies worldwide. Sail invests in Mine 
Resource Assets (greenfield and brownfield 
projects) within the borders of South Africa. 
Sail specialises in the Marketing, Distribution 
and Logistics of Chrome and other Ferro 
related products. Sail has provided and 
will continue to provide all funding required 
for the Palm Chrome and Black Chrome 
mine projects.

Loan agreement
The Recapitalisation will ensure that 
Chrometco has funding to sustain itself for 
the year ahead and beyond, as well as to 
cover the costs relating to the implementation 
of the transaction. In addition, the Black 
Chrome asset has the potential to contribute 
significantly to the income of Chrometco as it 
is planned to become cash generative in the 
near future.

To the extent that it is required, Sail will provide 
a loan facility of R10 million to Chrometco, in 
addition to the R5 million injection through 
the share subscription agreement, for the 
purpose of meeting Chrometco’s monthly 
operating costs beyond the next 12 months 
and to ensure the going-concern status of 
the company. The loan is repayable from 
the proceeds received from the Black 
Chrome project.

The above transactions are concluded as one 
indivisible transaction (“the Sail Transaction”) 
and conditional to shareholder approval, to 
be obtained at a special general meeting, 
scheduled to take place on 18 July 2017, 
section 11 approval and other conditions 
outlined in the CMO SAIL circular mailed to 
Chrometco shareholders on 29 May 2017. 
The circular is available on the Chrometco 
website www.chrometco.co.za .
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OUTLOOK
The largest Chrome reserves in the world 
occur in southern Africa and are mostly 
associated with PGMs as part of the Bushveld 
Igneous Complex. Chrome ore from South 
Africa makes up over 50% of the worldwide 
Chrome Ore market.

The year under review saw a meteoric rise in 
the price of Chrome ore and Ferrochrome. 
The South African Chrome ore concentrate 
42 to 44% (CIF China) went from around 
US$100 in March 2016 (having been at these 
levels for a long time) to around US$190 for the 
period May to August, where after it shot up to 
around US$ 400 in November and remained 
there for all of December 2106 . Prices have 
subsequently came down from these all-time 
highs, especially after March 2017, but it is 
still much higher than the lows experienced 
since 2010. 

The rapid and substantial upwards price 
movement in Chrome ore products, resulted 
in a noticeable increase in Chrome mining and 
project acquisitions. The proposed Chrometco 
– Sail transaction, being a prime example. 

Post the announcement of the Sail transaction, 
Sail brought the Black Chrome mine into 
production and it is running smoothly. 

The strategic alliance with Sail has the potential 
to transform Chrometco into a world leading 
Chrome ore producer and exporter, and the 
timing for this expansion is ideal, due to the 
strong commodity prices.

This together with our ongoing effort to create 
value for our shareholders, makes Chrometco 
an exciting, emerging mining company.

PJ Cilliers
Managing Director

3 July 2017

Managing Director's review continued
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CHROMITE MINERAL 
RESOURCE ESTIMATE
A significant amount of exploration drilling has 
taken place some of which is not suitable for 
inclusion in a resource estimate but which 
has provided valuable information in regards 
to the mineralisation present, mineralisation 
continuity, the depths of reefs, the inter-reef 
distances and structural information. These 
datasets generally do not have sufficient assay 
and sampling or QA/QC controls for inclusion 
in a Mineral Resource estimate but have proved 
invaluable in understanding the geology. 

The datasets considered suitable for inclusion 
in the chromite Mineral Resource modelling 
exercise comprises the following information:

• The NRD1 to NRD23 data from the 
2003-2004 Nkwe PGE drilling programme 
with sufficient confidence in the location of 
the drillholes and sampling QA/QC to meet 
SAMREC requirements for inclusion in a 
Mineral Resource estimate (Section 19.1);

• the NRD1 to NRD23 programme 
sampled for chromitite and with sufficient 
confidence in the location of the drillholes 
and sampling QA/QC to meet SAMREC 
requirements for inclusion in a Mineral 
Resource estimate (Section 19.2);

• the RND1 to RND23 drilling programme 
by Chrometco/DMC with sufficient 
confidence in the location of the drillholes 
and sampling QA/QC to meet SAMREC 
requirements for inclusion in a Mineral 
Resource estimate;

The chromite dataset available has allowed 
for construction of reliable three dimensional 
geological and detailed structural models 
for chromite which were constructed using 
average true widths of reef intersections 
and relative densities on a per reef basis as 
provided in the drillhole datasets. All the grade, 
isopach and structural data was imported into 
Datamine™, and modelled in three dimensions. 
The Datamine™ geology model modelled 
the MG4, MG3, MG2, LG7, LG6 (and LG6a) 
and LG5 layers, in three dimensions, within 
the Rooderand Project licences. The model 
construction was time consuming and detailed 
as it required database validation, selection of 
suitable SAMREC compliant data, importation 
into Datamine™ and string construction 
to support the wireframing process which 

was done for each modelled reef within 
each structural block. The geological model 
constructed was a global model with no cut-off 
grades applied but a geological loss factor 
was used to reflect the degree of structural 
complexity anticipated.

Two chromitite grades were estimated for each 
reef in the resource area investigated by the 
Mineral Corporation, one of which refers to the 
pure chromitite layer and the other to the entire 
diluted reef package including disseminated 
chromite and internal pyroxenite. Mineral 
Resource tonnages and grades have, however, 
been reported using the accumulated massive 
chromitite components for each reef. 

Lack of discernible trends in reef thickness and 
grade, and the effects of fault displacement 
on relative positions of the reefs indicated that 
a global statistical method and intersection 
statistical analysis would prove the best 
methodology to provide classification criteria 
for the resources. 

The method applied was to assess the 
classification of the Mineral Resources through 
analysis of the 90% confidence limits error 
((upper – lower)/2/mean) expressed as a 
percentage. Those reefs having an error of less 
than 10% could be considered as a Measured 
Mineral Resource; those between 10% and 
25% could be considered as Indicated Mineral 
Resource, and those between 25% and 50% 
as Inferred Mineral Resource. 

Based on the above error allowances, no 
Measured Mineral Resources were defined 
for the Project and an area of Indicated 
Resources, approximately 25% of the total 
resource area, was defined in the central-north 
area of the Project. The extent of the Inferred 
Mineral Resources is shown on Figure 13 in 
Appendix A.

Confidence in the classification criteria was 
enhanced as application of the criteria resulted 
in Mineral Resource areas that accord with 
the general protocols for the classification for 
western Bushveld Complex projects created 
by BHP-Billiton Limited and Samancor 
Limited for opencast resources based on 
area-of-influence, namely that the drillhole 
spacing for Measured Resources are 150m 
times 150m, Indicated Resources 300m 
times 300m and Inferred at greater distances. 
The areas modelled as opencast Indicated 

and Inferred Mineral Resources for Rooderand 
Project match the drillhole spacing protocols 
for the western Bushveld Complex. 

IRES (The Competent Person) is satisfied 
that the classification criteria applied to the 
Rooderand Project Mineral Resources meet 
both SAMREC requirements and the general 
strategies applied in the western Bushveld 
Complex by experienced exploiters of the 
chromitite resources in that region.

A global Mineral Resource for the chromitite 
resource was estimated as presented overleaf 
and the estimate constraints and assumptions 
are provided in the footnotes. The economic 
viability of mining narrow reefs underground 
is dependent largely on the prevailing chrome 
price and mining costs. Currently, the 
underground Mineral Resources are potentially 
economic but in the interests of transparency, 
a modified Mineral Resource excluding narrow 
reefs (MG2, LG5 and LG7) is also provided.

In order to qualify classification as a Mineral 
Resource, a series of criteria require fulfilment 
from both technical and an economic 
perspectives that provide evidence for future 
extraction at economically viable rates. Several 
high level mine planning and economic viability 
studies have been undertaken for the chromite 
Mineral Resources on Rooderand 46JQ. 

A high level techno-economic study conducted 
by Mineral Corporation (Pty) Limited (“Mineral 
Corporation”) for its 2008 Mineral Resource 
estimate concluded that under economic 
conditions then prevailing, it was unlikely that 
an underground mining operation would be 
economically viable, even though technically 
such a plan could be considered. The study 
indicated that underground mining costs 
would be too high which, given the 2009 raw 
chromite price of ZAR500/t, rendered most 
underground mining unprofitable. The study 
did not take into the account the high degree 
of structural complexity on Rooderand 46JQ, 
which would increase underground mining 
costs further. The Mineral Resources that could 
be considered for open-pit mining would be the 
Indicated Mineral Resources for the LG5, LG6, 
LG7, MG2, MG3 and MG4 reefs until a 40m 
highwall is reached. 

Mineral resources and 
reserves statement
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Global Mineral Resource Estimate for the Rooderand Project (For RE and RE/Ptn2) – IRES May 2017

Source

Mineral 
resource 
category Reef

Average 
SG

Average true 
thickness 

(m)
Tonnage 

(Mt)

Grade 
Cr2O3 

(%)

Cr2O3 
content 

(t) Cr:Fe

Open pit to a depth of 40m Indicated MG4 4.06 1.55 0.81 34.00 0.28 1.33

MG3 3.94 0.67 0.36 32.21 0.11 1.27

LG7 4.31 0.18 0.05 43.68 0.02 1.56

LG6 4.28 0.72 0.62 41.97 0.26 1.60

LG5 4.26 0.27 0.17 42.34 0.07 1.68

Open pit   2.01 37.1 0.75

Underground – to a depth of 
300m below surface

Indicated LG6 4.28 0.72 4.53 41.97 1.90 1.60

MG4A 4.06 1.55 2.13 33.99 0.72 1.33

Underground   6.66 39.42 2.63

Total indicated mineral resources 8.67 38.88 3.37

Open pit to a depth of 40m Inferred MG4 4.04 0.97 1.88 35.13 0.66 1.33

MG3 3.90 0.64 1.29 36.7 0.47 1.27

MG2 4.01 0.29 1.02 33.54 0.34

LG7 4.31 0.16 0.49 35.07 0.17 1.56

LG6 4.28 0.60 1.24 39.93 0.49 1.60

LG5 4.26 0.36 0.65 37.07 0.24 1.68

Open pit  6.56 36.38 2.38  

Underground – to a depth of 
300m below surface

Inferred MG4 4.04 0.97 9.14 35.13 3.21 1.33

MG3 3.90 0.64 6.48 36.70 2.38 1.27

MG2 4.01 0.29 4.06 33.54 1.36

LG7 4.31 0.16 2.24 35.07 0.79 1.56

LG6 4.28 0.60 5.44 39.93 2.17 1.60

LG5 4.26 0.36 3.23 37.07 1.20 1.68

Underground  30.60 36.31 11.11  

Total inferred mineral resources  37.17 36.32 13.49  

Total         45.84 36.80 16.86  

Source: IRES 2016, Mineral Corporation 2008
Mineral Resources reported according to SAMREC 2016 
Mineral Resources that are not Mineral Reserves do not have ‘demonstrated’ (through feasibility studies) economic viability
Totals have been rounded down and may give rise to apparent computational errors
Mineral Resources reported inclusive of Mineral Reserves – although no Mineral Reserves have been estimated for the Project
Mineral Resources reported as RoM, unconcentrated and ready for sale or transportation
No cut-off grades applied
Geological loss between 20% to 30% applied on a block by block basis
Inferred Mineral Resources are based on sufficient geological evidence to show but not verify geological and grade continuity
It is reasonably expected that the majority of the Inferred Mineral Resource could be upgraded to Indicated with continued exploration 
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Mineral Resources for Rooderand Project Excluding Narrow Reefs (For Re and RE/Ptn2) – IRES May 2017

Source

Mineral 
resource 
category Reef

Average
SG

Average true 
thickness 

(m)
Tonnage 

(Mt)

Grade 
Cr2O3 

(%)

Cr2O3 
content 

(t) Cr:Fe

Open pit to a depth of 40m Indicated MG4 4.06 1.55 0.81 34.00 0.28 1.33

MG3 3.94 0.67 0.36 32.21 0.11 1.27

LG7 4.31 0.18 0.05 43.68 0.02 1.56

LG6 4.28 0.72 0.62 41.97 0.26 1.60

LG5 4.26 0.27 0.17 42.34 0.07 1.68

Open pit   2.01 37.1 0.75  

Underground – to a depth of 
300m below surface

Indicated LG6 4.28 0.72 4.53 41.97 1.90 1.60

MG4A 4.06 1.55 2.13 33.99 0.72 1.33

Underground   6.66 39.42 2.63  

Total indicated mineral resources 8.67 38.88 3.37  

Open pit to a depth of 40m Inferred MG4 4.04 0.97 1.88 35.13 0.66 1.33

MG3 3.90 0.64 1.29 36.7 0.47 1.27

MG2 4.01 0.29 1.02 33.54 0.34

LG7 4.31 0.16 0.49 35.07 0.17 1.56

LG6 4.28 0.60 1.24 39.93 0.49 1.60

LG5 4.26 0.36 0.65 37.07 0.24 1.68

Open pit  6.56 36.38 2.38  

Underground – to a depth of 
300m below surface

Inferred MG4 4.04 0.97 9.14 35.13 3.21 1.33

MG3 3.90 0.64 6.48 36.70 2.38 1.27

LG6 4.28 0.60 5.44 39.93 2.17 1.60

Underground  21.06 36.31 7.76  

Total inferred mineral resources  27.63 36.32 10.14  

Total  36.30 36.80 13.51  

Source: IRES 2016, Mineral Corporation 2008
Mineral Resources reported according to SAMREC 2016
Mineral Resources that are not Mineral Reserves do not have ‘demonstrated’ (through feasibility studies) economic viability
Totals have been rounded down and may give rise to apparent computational errors
Mineral Resources reported inclusive of Mineral Reserves – although no Mineral Reserves have been estimated for the Project
Mineral Resources reported as RoM, unconcentrated and ready for sale or transportation
No cut-off grades applied
Geological loss between 20% to 30% applied on a block by block basis
Inferred Mineral Resources are based on sufficient geological evidence to show but not verify geological and grade continuity
It is reasonably expected that the majority of the Inferred Mineral Resource could be upgraded to Indicated with continued exploration 

Mineral resources and reserves statements continued
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The Mine Works Programme (“MWP”) prepared 
for Chrometco in 2013 by independent Sound 
Mining (Pty) Limited (“Sound Mining”) at the 
prevailing 2013 economic and technical 
parameters was based on both open pit and 
underground resources to a depth of 200m 
over a strike of 4 800m dipping at between 
14° and 21°. The reefs included in the MWP 
were the Merensky, Pseudo, UG2 PGE bearing 
reefs and the LG1 to LG7; MG1 to MG4A 
chromitite reefs. The combined resource was 
modelled through Datamine™ NPV scheduler 
and the economic portions of the resource. 
Granted, the study included the small quantity 
of PGEs in Rooderand 46JQ RE, but the study 
showed that mining the resources to 200m 
was economically possible at chrome income/t 
rates of ZAR750/t.

Sound Mining is currently undertaking an 
updated open pit techno-economic study 
based on 2017 economic parameters. 
The preliminary results of the study show that 
at the current chrome prices the open-pit 
resources have demonstrable prospects for 
economic extraction and can be classified as 
Mineral Resources including LG5, LG6, LG7, 
MG3 and MG4 reefs.

In determining prospects for economic 
extraction of the underground resources 
a high level mining study was completed 
by IRES. The chrome prices in the first 
quarter of 2017 were significantly higher 
than those used by Mineral Corporation in 
2009 in its assessment of the potential of the 
underground resources. IRES conducted 

a techno-economic study using current 
benchmarked underground mining costs at 
the current raw chrome price of ZAR1 500/t. 
IRES concurs with Sound Mining 2017 that an 
open pit operation is currently economically 
viable and it is likely that an underground 
mining operation can be considered if the 
benchmarked underground mining costs are 
applied. Using an underground room-and-pillar 
mining method at a mining cost of ZAR500/t 
and the current raw chrome price, an 
underground operation is possible and should 
be considered. The IRES techno-economic 
study supports the prospects for economic 
extraction underground chromite resources 
and the classification of the resources as 
Indicated and Inferred Mineral Resources.



Chrometco Limited integrated report 2017

12

PGE MINERAL 
RESOURCE ESTIMATE
In November 2012, Chrometco, Nkwe 
Platinum and Realm Resources entered 
into an agreement to vend the Rooderand 
46JQ RE PGE assets into Chrometco in 
exchange for shares in Chrometco. Under 
the terms of the agreement, Nkwe agreed to 
transfer its geological data and the drill core 
to Chrometco and conditionally abandon its 
prospecting right subject to the granting of the 
section 102 Consent in favour of Chrometco. 

The original drillhole data for RE was included 
in a JORC compliant Mineral Resource 
estimate published on ASX. The drilling 
programme and sampling was verified in 
2016 and the resultant PGE database for 
these aspects is considered SAMREC 
compliant. More rigorous requirements in the 
2016 SAMREC code in terms of the extent of 
grade information has indicated that there may 
be insufficient grade information for inclusion 
into a SAMREC compliant Mineral Resource.

A considerable database of drilling and 
assay information exists for the adjacent 
RE/Ptn2 right which includes diamond 
drillhole and RC drillhole and assay data for 
131 diamond drillholes from Anglo Platinum. 
This data provided a valuable reference 
for grade continuity and reef depths and 
thicknesses for the Rooderand 46JQ RE 
PGE estimate.

IRES, in association with Sound Mining in 
2017, has created a 3D geological model 
from the dataset which was referenced to 
information for the adjacent RE/Ptn2 compiled 
by Snowden (Pty) Limited and Anglo Platinum. 
The principles applied to the construction of 
the geological and structural models are similar 
to those described for the chromitite resource. 
The PGE Mineral Resource area is structurally 
complex with resultant reef displacement as a 
consequence. 

The overall conclusion by IRES is that the 
analytical data available for the Nkwe Platinum 
PGE campaign is reliable, in accordance with 
SAMREC disclosure requirements, as is the 
drillhole campaign and information for the 
geological and structural models. However, 
the dataset for the grade model is considered 
by IRES to be insufficient for a declaration of a 
Mineral Resource estimate at this point. 

Consequently, an Exploration Target is 
declared, which can easily be upgraded to an 
Inferred or Indicated Mineral Resource once 
additional in-drilling has confirmed the PGE 
grades. According to SAMREC 2016, it is 
important to note that the potential volumes 
and tonnages are supported by a drilling 

In respect of the PGE potential for the 
Rooderand Project it is important to note that 
upside value exists in that:
• the PGE Exploration Target can be quickly 

and simply upgraded to a Mineral Resource 
through a small exploration program;

• that the economic potential for the PGE 
Exploration Target, if mined in conjunction 

programme but that the grade estimates must 
be considered conceptual in nature. 

The Exploration Target for the PGEs is 
considered to be 29.0Mt to 34.6Mt for 3.00Moz 
to 3.70Moz contained 4E, with a 4E grade 
range of 3.3g/t to 4.0g/t.

with Lexshell Trading, has already been 
established through independent mining 
studies; and 

• that the PGE bearing potential for the LG5, 
LG6 and MG4 reefs has proved upside 
potential for other chromitite operations such 
as Tharisa Minerals Limited and could prove 
the same for the Rooderand Project.

Exploration target on Rooderand 46JQ RE only 

Reef
Approximate 
tonnages (mt)

Approximate 
grade 4e(g/t)

Approximate 
4e contents (oz)

Merensky 12.00 16.99 3.00 4.10 1.12 1.59
UG2 17.10 17.75 3.60 4.00 1.91 2.21

Total 29.00 34.60 3.30 4.00 3.00 3.70

Source: Bleeker 2005, IRES 2017
The Exploration Target is not a Mineral Resource but is conceptual in nature and there has been insufficient 
exploration to define a Mineral Resource and it is uncertain if further exploration could result in the determination of a 
Mineral Resource
* Rounded down to express uncertainty of the estimate
Prill split Pt:Pd:Rh:Au for Merensky Reef 65:27:4:4
Prill split for the UG2 59:30:11:0.5

Mineral resources and reserves statements continued

Refer to Apendix A to the Integrated Annual Report for the complete, signed report of 
the Competent Person
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Accountability, 
compliance and 
transparency

Section 2
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Corporate governance 
statement

Both the Board and the individual Directors 
support embedding best governance 
principles and practices throughout the Group.

The Board of Directors continue to subscribe 
to the values of good corporate governance 
as set out in King III and are committed to the 
ongoing application of corporate governance 
best practices in the conduct of the Group’s 
business. There is commitment, going forward, 
to apply the relevant voluntary provisions of 
King III. While the Board is of the opinion that 
the Group complies in all material respects 
with the principles embodied in King III and 
the additional requirements for corporate 
governance stipulated by the JSE, where 
specific principles have not been applied, 
explanations for these are contained within the 
Integrated Annual Report.

Disclosure in this Integrated Annual Report 
demonstrates the Group’s commitment to 
apply the principles of King III, as well as the 
actual compliance achieved. The Board is 
equally committed to apply the principles of 
King III, where applicable, which came into 
effect on 1 March 2010. 

BOARD ACCOUNTABILITY 
AND AUTHORITY
The general powers of the Directors of 
Chrometco are conferred either by the 
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation 
(MOI) or by the Companies Act of South Africa, 
as amended, or in terms of the JSE Listings 
Requirements. The Board has adopted a 
charter through which it controls and monitors 
the Group’s business.

As a Company listed on the JSE Alternative Exchange (AltX), the 
minimum standards against which Chrometco is managed are those 
prescribed by the JSE Listings Requirements, being Chapter 2 of 
the King Report on Governance for South Africa 2009 (King III). The 
responsibility for managing the Group’s affairs rests with the Board and 
all Directors are required to maintain the highest standards of integrity 
to ensure that Chrometco’s business affairs are conducted responsibly 
and in the interests of both the Group and its stakeholders. The Board 
and individual Directors accept their duty and responsibility to ensure 
that the principles set out in King III are observed over and above those 
minimum requirements of the JSE, and are committed to the highest level 
of corporate governance and the implementation of effective structures, 
policies and practices that improve corporate governance and create 
sustainable value for our shareholders and other stakeholders.

The charter outlines the following 
major responsibilities:

• determining the strategic direction of 
the Group;

• retaining full and effective control 
of the Group and monitoring the 
management’s implementation of Board 
plans and strategies;

• identification and monitoring of 
key  risk areas to ensure the integrity of 
managing risk and internal control;

• appointing Directors in terms of the 
Group’s policy and procedures;

• appointing a Managing Director 
and Financial Director;

• establishing a framework for delegation 
of authority and responsibilities 
to the Executive Directors;

• managing conflicts of interest;

• cultivating an ethical corporate culture;

• maintaining succession plans 
at executive level; and

• any other matters that have a material 
impact on the Group’s affairs.

While retaining overall accountability and 
subject to matters reserved for the Board, 
the Board has delegated authority to run 
the day-to-day affairs of the Group to the 
Executive Directors.

Audit, Risk, Nomination, Social and Ethics, and 
Remuneration Committees assist the Board 
in discharging its duties and responsibilities. 
All Committees act under their respective 
terms of reference, through which certain 
functions of the Board are assigned with 

defined purposes, membership requirements, 
duties and reporting procedures. They are 
required to carry out self-evaluations at 
least annually. The Board believes that the 
evaluation of performance should currently be 
performed in-house. Board Committees are 
also required to be reviewed by the Board. 
Board Committees may take independent 
professional advice at the Group’s expense, 
when necessary. Chairmen of the Board 
Committees, or their representatives, are 
required to attend annual general meetings to 
answer shareholders’ questions.

BOARD COMPOSITION
The names and brief résumé of the Directors 
in office appear on page 3 of this Integrated 
Annual Report.

There are integrated procedures for 
appointments to the Board. All appointments 
are formal and transparent, and a matter 
for the Board as a whole, assisted by the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

At 28 February 2017, the Board had a unitary 
structure that comprised six members (2016: 
five members). The change in number of 
directors occurred with the appointment of 
Mr NL Waisberg as Financial Director, on 
9 September 2016.

The composition of the Board is as follows: 
three independent Non-Executive Directors 
(including the Chairman), one Non-Executive 
Director and two Executive Directors.

The majority of Directors (four) are 
Non-Executive Directors. The majority (three) 
are independent.

The independent Non-Executive Directors 
meet the test of independence as embodied in 
King III and in the JSE Listings Requirements. 
All Non-Executive Directors are individuals of 
high caliber and make a significant contribution 
to the Board’s deliberations.

The Executive Directors have overall 
responsibility for implementing the Group’s 
strategy; which is determined by the Board.

Directors are apprised, whenever relevant, 
of any new legislation and changing 
commercial risks that may affect the affairs of 
the Company.
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Non-Executive Directors do not hold service 
contracts with the Company. The Executive 
Directors do not have fixed-term service 
contracts with the Company. The Board 
meets at least four times a year to discuss and 
review issues of strategy, planning, operational 
and financial performance, stakeholder 
communications and other material matters 
reserved for its decision.

Further operational meetings are held as 
required. An agenda, the minutes of the 
previous meeting and supporting papers are 
distributed to all Directors prior to each Board 
meeting, giving them sufficient time to consider 
matters for discussion.

Where Directors are unable to attend Board 
meetings for any reason, every effort is made 
to obtain and communicate to the meeting 
their comments on agenda items, as well as 
general items. Explanations and motivations 
for items of business requiring decisions are 
given in the meeting, ensuring that all the 
relevant facts and circumstances are brought 
to the attention of Directors. Directors have 
unrestricted access to all Group property and 
records and are kept fully informed of progress 
on matters between formal meetings by way of 
ad hoc meetings and regular communications. 
Directors also have unrestricted access to the 
Group Secretary for advice and information.

ATTENDANCE AT 
BOARD MEETINGS
Non-Executive Directors are available to 
management at all times when required and 
did attend several non-Board meetings during 
the year. During the review period (1 March 
2016 to 28 February 2017), the Board formally 
met six times, with the Group’s designated 
advisor and Secretary present.

Director
Meetings 

held/attended

JG Scott** (Chairman) 6/6

PJ Cilliers (MD) 6/6

NL Waisberg (FD) 3/3

E Bramley* 6/6

R Rossiter** 6/6

IWS Collair** 6/6

* Denotes Non-Executive
** Denotes independent Non-Executive

BOARD CHANGES
The following changes to the Board took place 
during the year under review:

• Mr NL Waisberg – appointed as Financial 
Director on 9 September 2016.

CHAIRMAN AND 
MANAGING DIRECTOR
The role of the Chairman and Managing 
Director remain separate and distinct. 
The Chairman is responsible for running 
the Board, while the Managing Director is 
responsible for conducting the affairs of 
the Group. Consequently, no one individual 
at Board level has unfettered powers of 
decision-making. During the review period and 
at the date of this report, the Chairman can 
be considered an independent Non-Executive 
Director as embodied in the King Code and 
JSE Listings Requirements.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit, Risk, Nomination, Social and Ethics, 
and Remuneration Committees have been 
constituted to assist the Board in the 
discharge of its duties and responsibilities. 
All Committees act within their respective 
terms of reference, under which certain 
functions of the Board are assigned with 
defined purposes, membership requirements, 
duties and reporting procedures. They are 
required to carry out self-evaluations of their 
performance at least annually. Board 
Committees are also required to be reviewed 
by the Board. Board Committees may take 
independent professional advice at the 
Company’s expense when necessary.

Chairmen of the Board Committees, or their 
representatives, are required to attend all 
general meetings to answer questions raised 
by shareholders. The Board is satisfied that 
the Board Committees set out below have 
effectively discharged their responsibilities as 
contained in their respective terms of reference 
for the year under review. A description of each 
Board Committee, and details of attendance 
and membership of the Committees is set 
out below.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Director
Meetings 

held/attended

R Rossiter (Chairman) 5/5

Independent 
Non-Executive Director  

JG Scott 5/5

Independent 
Non-Executive Director  

E Bramley 5/5

Non-Executive Director  

IWS Collair 5/5

Independent 
Non-Executive Director

 

The primary role of the Audit Committee is 
to ensure the integrity of financial reporting 
and the audit process. A full report of the 
Committee is set out on page 32.

The Committee, which must have a minimum 
of three members, consists exclusively of 
Non-Executive Directors and has a majority of 
independent Non-Executive Directors.

The Committee meets at least twice each 
year with the quorum being two members. 
The Board has determined that the Chairman 
has the skills, qualifications and experience 
necessary to contribute meaningfully to the 
Committee’s deliberations. The Managing 
Director, Financial Director and the external 
auditors attend meetings by invitation.

Each member has one vote and the Chairman 
has no casting vote. The terms of the Audit 
Committee are reviewed annually. The King 
Code recommends that the Chairman of the 
Board should not be a member of the Audit 
Committee. Due to the fact that the Board only 
consisted of six members for a substantial 
portion of the year under review and that there 
were only four Non-Executives on the Board 
during that period, Mr JG Scott was historically 
required to become a member of the Audit 
Committee. Additionally, section 94 of the 
Companies Act of South Africa and the King 
Code recommends that the Audit Committee 
consists of at least three members. The Audit 
Committee obtains, at its discretion, the 
services of advisors, experts and specialists in 
order for it to appropriately consider all matters 
presented to it and to assist the Committee in 
executing its duties.
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The Audit Committee’s duties mainly include:

• assessing the Group’s relationship with the 
external auditors;

• approval of all non-audit services to be 
provided by the external auditors;

• presentation of financial statements 
and reports complying with all 
relevant corporate disclosure requirements 
and accounting standards;

• reviewing any other announcement 
on the Group’s results or other 
financial information;

• the identification of exposure to 
significant risks;

• all corporate governance issues;

• assessing the operation of adequate 
processes of internal control;

• approval of fees payable to external 
auditors for audit and non-audit 
services; and

• approving the appointment of the Financial 
Director and satisfying itself as to his/her 
competence on an annual basis.

In addition, the Committee considers 
any matters referred to it by the Board. 
The Chairman of the Committee reports to the 
Board on its recommendations.

Members complete a self-evaluation analysis 
of the Committee’s performance during 
the year. The Board will determine at its 
next meeting whether the Audit Committee 
has satisfied its responsibilities for the 
review period in compliance with its terms 
of reference.

The Board is of the opinion that the external 
auditors observe the highest level of business 
and professional ethics and that their 
independence is not in any way impaired.

The Audit Committee has satisfied itself 
as to the expertise and experience of the 
Financial Director during the current financial 
year. The Chairman of the Committee or his 
representative attends the AGM annually to 
address any questions that may be raised by 
shareholders and other stakeholders.

REMUNERATION AND 
NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE

Director
Meetings 

held/attended

JG Scott (Chairman) 1/1
Independent 
Non-Executive Director  

E Bramley 1/1
Non-Executive Director  

R Rossiter 1/1
Independent 
Non-Executive Director  

IWS Collair 1/1
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

 

The Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee, must have a minimum of two 
members, comprised of Non-Executive 
Directors, with one being independent. 
The Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee endeavours to meet at least twice 
per year, subject to necessity/requirement. 
The Financial Director and Managing Director 
do not attend Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee meetings. Neither of them, nor 
any other senior executive, may be present at 
meetings of the Committee when remuneration 
issues applicable to them are discussed or 
considered. A quorum for a meeting is two 
members present in person. Each member 
has one vote and the Chairman has no 
casting vote. The terms of reference of the 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
are reviewed annually.

The areas of responsibility of the Committee 
are an annual review of:

• the salary package payable to 
any Executive Director and the 
Company Secretary;

• the remuneration payable to Directors 
and Board Committee members of 
the Company;

• the remuneration payable to 
Non-Executive Directors for services 
provided other than as a Director;

• the Company’s compliance with 
employment equity requirements;

• the Company’s share incentive 
scheme; and

• the Group’s commitment to gender 
diversity on the board.

An additional responsibility of the Committee 
is the identifying and nominating of fit and 
proper candidates for approval by the Board 
as additional Directors or to fill any Board 
vacancies as they arise. The Chairman of 
the Committee reports to the Board on 
recommendations made by the Committee. 
The Committee also advises the Board on 
succession planning. The Chairman of the 
Committee attends the AGM annually to 
address any questions that may be raised by 
shareholders and other stakeholders. In terms 
of King III, the Chairman of the Board may 
not be the Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee. During the year under review, the 
Chairman of the Board also held the position of 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee for 
operational reasons.

The members of the Committee will complete 
a self-evaluation analysis of the Committee’s 
performance during the year. The Board will 
determine at a future meeting whether the 
Remuneration Committee has satisfied its 
responsibilities for the year under review in 
compliance with its terms of reference.

RISK COMMITTEE

Director
Meetings 

held/attended

J Scott (Chairman) 0/0
Independent 
Non-Executive Director  

IWS Collair 0/0
Independent 
Non-Executive Director  

R Rossiter 0/0
Independent 
Non-Executive Director  

E Bramley 0/0
Non-Executive Director  

PJ Cilliers 0/0
Executive Director  

The Risk Committee comprises the 
independent Non-Executive Chairman, 
the independent Non-Executive Directors, 
the Non-Executive Director and both of 
the Executive Directors. The Risk Committee 
handles any matter referred to it by the Board.

Corporate governance statement continued
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During the period under review, no matters 
were referred to the Risk Committee, by the 
Board. This is mainly due to Chrometco not 
being operational during the period ended 
28 February 2017.

SOCIAL AND 
ETHICS COMMITTEE

Director
Meetings 

held/attended

E Bramley (Chairman) 1/1
Non-Executive Director  

JG Scott (Chairman) 1/1
Independent 
Non-Executive Director  

IWS Collair 1/1
Independent 
Non-Executive Director  

R Rossiter 1/1
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

 

The Social and Ethics Committee reviews and 
manages the Company’s commitment to:

• social and economic development, 
including the principles of the UN Global 
Compact, Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment, Employment Equity 
and the OECD’s recommendations 
on corruption;

• good corporate citizenship, including 
the promotion of equality, prevention of 
unfair discrimination, corporate social 
responsibility, ethical behaviour and 
managing environmental impacts;

• consumer relations;

• labour and employment, including skills 
development; and

• transformation by, at the very least, 
ensuring compliance with the Employment 
Equity Act, the Mining Charter and the 
BBBEE Codes of Good Practice.

• The Social and Ethics Committee meets 
once per annum in accordance with its 
terms of reference.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Composition of Executive 
Directors’ remuneration
Basic salary
Where the Remuneration Committee 
determines that the composition of Directors’ 
remuneration requires re-assessment, 
Executive Directors’ salaries are reviewed 
annually by the Remuneration Committee 
and benchmarked against external market 
data considering the size and complexity 
of the Group and its operations. Individual 
performance and overall responsibility are 
also considered. The Chairman reviews the 
performance of the executive Managing 
Director annually.

Since July 2013, the Executive Directors have 
undertaken to fix their executive monthly 
basic remuneration at R50 000 each in order 
to assist the Group in its cost-cutting efforts. 
This arrangement will be revisited by the 
Remuneration Committee from time-to-time 
over the forthcoming financial year and will 
be revised if appropriate and depending 
on prevailing economic circumstances. 
Despite the aforementioned remuneration 
arrangement, the Group remains committed 
to its philosophy of benchmarking basic 
executive remuneration against comparable 
market-related norms.

Long-term incentive plan
The Company has an approved plan in place. 
At year-end, awards which are not expected to 
vest, had been issued under the plan. The plan 
is a cash-settled incentive scheme.

Refer to note 21, Contingent Liabilities for 
more information.

Annual performance bonus
The Executive Directors did not participate in a 
formal annual performance bonus scheme.

NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Where the Remuneration Committee feels that 
it is necessary, the remuneration and fees of 
Non-Executive Directors are reviewed annually 
to ensure that they remain competitive and 
that they attract individuals of appropriate 
reputation and experience to the Board. 
Shareholders are required to approve the 
remuneration of Non-Executive Directors in 
advance at a general meeting of the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEE FEES
The remuneration of Board Committee 
members is determined by the Board, as 
provided in the Memorandum of Incorporation. 
For the 2016/2017 financial year, the following 
rates of fees were applicable:

Board meeting
Members: R8 000 per meeting

Audit Committee
Members: R4 000 per meeting

Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee
Members: R nil per meeting

Risk Committee
Members: R nil per meeting

Social and Ethics Committee
Members: R nil per meeting

Fees for services rendered other 
than as a Director
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, 
Non-Executive Directors who perform services 
outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a 
Director may be paid additional remuneration. 
Such duties have historically often been 
required to be rendered by the Non-Executive 
Directors. No payments have been made to 
Non-Executive Directors other than board 
attendance fees.

The rates above have been proposed 
to shareholders for approval for the 
2017/2018 financial year.

THE GROUP 
COMPANY SECRETARY
The appointment and removal of the Group 
Company Secretary is a matter for the Board 
as a whole. The Company Secretary is a 
central source of information and advice to the 
Board and within the Company on matters of 
ethics and good governance.

The Group Secretary’s functions include 
the following:

• providing the Directors, collectively and 
individually, with detailed guidance on their 
duties, responsibilities and powers;

• providing information on all laws, 
legislation, regulations and matters of 
ethics and good corporate governance 
relevant to or affecting the Group;
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• making certain that all statutory 
requirements are complied with;

• ensuring that the minutes of all 
shareholders’ meetings, Directors’ 
meetings, Board Committee meetings, 
as well as meetings of management, are 
properly recorded;

• administering closed periods for dealing in 
the Group’s shares; and

• managing the induction of new Directors.

The Board of Directors has considered and 
satisfied itself during the year under review 
and at the date of this report regarding the 
competence, qualifications and experience 
of the Company Secretary. In reaching this 
conclusion, the Board undertook an annual 
assessment of the Company Secretary’s 
performance for the past year, as well as her 
qualifications and experience. The Company 
Secretary maintains an arms-length 
relationship with the Board of Directors. While 
the Company Secretary is a juristic entity, 
the Board of Directors has considered the 
individual performing the Company Secretary 
role in its annual assessment of the Company 
Secretary, as well as the Directors and 
shareholders of the juristic entity appointed to 
the position of Group Company Secretary.

ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors are required by the South 
African Companies Act to maintain adequate 
accounting records and are responsible for the 
preparation of the annual financial statements 
and related financial information of the 
Company and Group at the end of the financial 
year, in conformity with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in terms of the 
JSE Listings Requirements. 

The external auditors, Mazars, are responsible 
for independently auditing and reporting on the 
annual financial statements in conformity with 
International Standards on Auditing and the 
Companies Act. Their auditors’ report appears 
on page 24.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the 
total process of risk management and its 
effectiveness within the Group. Management is 
accountable to the Board and has established 
internal controls to manage significant Group 
risk. This assists the Board in discharging 
its responsibility for ensuring that the range 
of risks associated with its operations are 
effectively managed in support of the creation 
and preservation of shareholder value.

In view of the limited extent of the nature of 
the Group’s business, the Board considers it 
currently unnecessary to operate an internal 
audit function. 

Regular management reports, which provide 
a balanced assessment of key risks, are an 
important component of Board assurance.

The Board is satisfied that there is an 
ongoing process for identifying, evaluating 
and managing the significant risks faced by 
the Group.

IT GOVERNANCE
Due to the size of the Company, and the nature 
of its operations, reliance and dependence 
on IT systems is insignificant. For this reason, 
the Board has no formal policy regarding 
IT governance. The Board will revise this 
assessment in the future in the event that 
there is a change in the circumstances 
described above.

DEALING IN SECURITIES
The Group has a policy in place to restrict 
the dealing in its securities by Directors, 
employees or other designated persons. 
No employee may deal, either directly or 
indirectly, in the Group’s ordinary shares 
on the basis of unpublished price-sensitive 
information regarding its business or affairs. 
No Director, Company Secretary, officer or 
other employee of the Group or designated 
person may trade in the Group’s shares 
during a closed period as determined by the 
Board in accordance with the JSE Listings 
Requirements. 

A list of persons who are restricted for this 
purpose has been approved by the Board 
and is revised from time-to-time. A register of 
Directors, Company Secretary and officers 
is available for inspection at the Company 
Secretary’s registered office at 71 Van Beek 
Avenue, Glenanda, Johannesburg.

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY 
AND SUSTAINABILITY
As a relatively small business, the Group 
has not yet established a corporate social 
responsibility and sustainability policy, but 
endeavours to be a responsible corporate 
citizen in all its dealings with stakeholders.

GROUP ETHICS
The Group is committed to the highest 
standards of professionalism and 
organisational integrity, as well as ethical 
and legal conduct in business dealings with 
stakeholders. A code of business conduct 
has been developed and implemented 
by the Group, which outlines the ethical 
and professional management that 
Chrometco upholds.

COMMUNICATION
Chrometco subscribes to a policy of full, 
accurate and consistent communication in 
respect of both its financial and operating 
affairs. The Group regularly communicates 
with major shareholders, institutional 
investors, analysts and the media. Chrometco 
encourages its shareholders to attend the 
Group’s general meetings, which provide 
opportunities for shareholders to ask questions 
of the Board, including the Chairmen of the 
two main standing Committees of the Board, 
or their representatives.

 

The Group’s website address 
is www.chrometco.co.za.

DESIGNATED ADVISOR
PSG Capital acts as Designated Advisor 
to the Group in compliance with the JSE 
Listings Requirements.

Corporate governance statement continued
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Principle Role and function of the board
Statement addressing the extent of 
application

Principle 2.1 The Board should ensure the integrity of the Company’s integrated report. The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.2 The Board should appreciate that strategy, risk, performance and sustainability are inseparable. The Board considers all four of these 
principals regularly.

Principle 2.3 The Board should provide effective leadership based on an ethical foundation. The Board subscribes to this principal.

Principle 2.4 The Board should ensure that the Company is and is seen to be a responsible corporate citizen. The Board subscribes to this principal.

Principle 2.5 The Board should ensure that the Company’s ethics are managed effectively. The Social and Ethics Committee implements this.

Principle 2.6 The Board should ensure that the Company has an effective and independent Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is chaired by an independent 
Non-Executive Director, and comprises four Non- 
Executive Directors of which three are independent.

Principle 2.7 The Board should be responsible for the governance of risk. The Risk Committee has been tasked with this function.

Principle 2.8 The Board should be responsible for information technology (IT) governance. The Board is cognisant of IT risks, but currently due 
to the nature of the business, IT risks are considered 
to below.

Principle 2.9 The Board should ensure that the Company complies with applicable laws and considers 
adherence to non-binding rules, codes and standards.

The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.10 The Board should ensure that there is an effective risk-based internal audit. This has not been applied due to the absence of 
significant economic activity currently.

Principle 2.11  The Board should appreciate that stakeholders’ perceptions affect the Company’s reputation. The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.12 The Board should ensure the integrity of the Company’s integrated report. The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.13 The Board should report on the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal controls. The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.14 The Board and its Directors should act in the best interests of the Company. The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.15 The Board should consider business rescue proceedings or other turnaround mechanisms as 
soon as the Company is financially distressed as defined in the Act.

The Board is cognisant of this principal.

Principle 2.16 The Board should elect a Chairman of the Board who is an independent Non-Executive Director. 
The CEO of the Company should not also fulfil the role of Chairman of the Board.

The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.17 The Board should appoint the Chief Executive Officer and establish a framework for the 
delegation of authority.

The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.18 The Board should compromise a balance of power, with a majority of Non-Executive Directors. 
The majority of Non-Executive Directors should be independent.

The Board consist of five members, four of whom 
are Non-Executive. Of the non-Executives, three 
are independent.

Principle 2.19 Directors must be appointed through a formal process. Directors are appointed via the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee.

Principle 2.20 The induction of and ongoing training and development of Directors should be conducted 
through formal processes.

The Board complies with this principal. New Directors 
attend the IOD (SA) Directors induction course.

Principle 2.21 The Board should be assisted by a competent, suitable qualified and experienced 
Company Secretary.

The Board complies with this principal.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (COMPLIANCE WITH KING CODE)



Chrometco Limited integrated report 2017

20

Principle Role and function of the board
Statement addressing the extent of 
application

Principle 2.22 The evaluation of the Board, its Committees and the individual Directors should be performed 
every year.

The Board complies with this principal.

Principle 2.23 The Board should delegate certain functions to well-structured Committees but without 
abdicating its own responsibilities.

The Board has set up relevant Committees, but accepts 
ultimate responsibility.

Principle 2.24 A governance framework should be agreed between the Group and its subsidiary Boards. This is not applicable as the Group currently does not 
have any trading subsidiaries.

Principle 2.25 Companies should remunerate Directors and Executives fairly and responsibly. The Group complies with this principal.

Principle 2.26 Companies should disclose the remuneration of each individual Director and certain 
senior Executives.

The Group discloses this information in its Integrated 
Annual Report.

Principle 2.27 Shareholders should approve the Company’s remuneration policy. This is complied with at the Annual General Meeting.

TRANSITION TO KING IV
The next iteration of the South African 
Corporate Governance Code, King IV™ 
was issued in November 2016. King IV™ 
involves the application of 17 core principles 
as opposed to the 75 principles in King III. 
Furthermore, its recommendations on 
corporate governance are more focused 
and practical with increased emphasis on 
the outputs and outcomes of governance 
structures. The Company welcomes the 
enhancements in the code and is fully 
committed to applying King IV™ in all 
respects for application in the relevant 
financial year, after guidance on its adoption 
is issued by the JSE. We have started work 
on understanding the new application and 
reporting requirements, and will implement 
the necessary internal processes and 
reporting systems to meet our 2018 King IV™ 
application and reporting commitments.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (COMPLIANCE WITH KING CODE)

Corporate governance statement continued
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The Committee reports that it has adopted 
appropriate formal terms of reference as 
its Charter, and has regulated its affairs 
in compliance with this Charter, and has 
discharged all of the responsibilities set out 
therein. 

The Committee was established in December 
2011 to assist the Board in ensuring that 
Chrometco is and remains a good and 
responsible corporate citizen, and to perform 
the statutory functions required of a Social and 
Ethics Committee in terms of the Companies 
Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended (“the 
Companies Act”).

The Committee monitors relevant legislation, 
other legal requirements and prevailing codes 
of best practice, specifically with regard 
to matters relating to social and economic 
development, good corporate citizenship, the 
environment, health and public safety, as well 
as labour and employment.

The Committee is satisfied of the Group’s 
performance in the categories noted above 
and will continue to review, assess and report 
on these areas in the future.

Edward Bramley
Social and Ethics Committee Chairman

3 July 2017 

Social and ethics 
committee report
for the year ended 28 February 2017



Chrometco Limited integrated report 2017

22

Financial information
Section 3
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Directors’ responsibilities for the 
Annual Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements of 
Chrometco, comprising the consolidated 
statement of financial position at 28 February 
2017, and consolidated income statement and 
consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows 
for the year then ended, and the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements, 
which include a summary of significant 
accounting policies, and other explanatory 
notes, in accordance with IFRS, as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB), the South African Institute of 
Chartered Accountants (SAICA) Financial 
Reporting Guides issued by the Accounting 
Practices Committee and Financial Reporting 
Pronouncements issued by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council, as well as the 
requirements of the South African Companies 
Act and the JSE Listings Requirements.

In addition, the directors are responsible for 
preparing the directors’ report.

The directors consider that, in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements, they 
have used the most appropriate accounting 
policies, consistently applied and supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates, and that all IFRS standards 
that they consider to be applicable have 
been complied with for the financial year 
ended 28 February 2017. The directors are 
satisfied that the information contained in 
the consolidated financial statements fairly 
presents the results of operations for the 
year and the financial position of the Group 
at year-end. The directors are responsible 
for the information included in the annual 
financial report, and are responsible for both 
its accuracy and its consistency with the 
consolidated financial statements.

The directors have responsibility for 
ensuring that accounting records are kept. 
The accounting records should disclose with 
reasonable accuracy the financial position of 
the Group to enable the directors to ensure 
that the consolidated financial statements 
comply with the relevant legislation.

Declaration by 
Company Secretary 
In my capacity as Company Secretary, I hereby 
certify that, to the best of my knowledge 
and belief, the Company has lodged with 
the Companies and Intellectual Property 
Commission all such returns as are required to 
be lodged by a public Company   in terms of 
section 88 (2)(e) of the Companies Act of South 
Africa, and that all such returns appear to be 
true, correct and up to  date.

3 July 2017  

V Marques
The Green Board Company Secretaries 

The Group operated in a well-established 
control environment, which is well documented 
and regularly reviewed. This incorporates risk 
management and internal control procedures, 
which are designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that assets are safeguarded and 
the material risks facing the business are 
being controlled.

The directors have made an assessment of the 
ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to 
continue as going concerns. Refer to Note 27.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on 
whether the Group annual financial statements 
are fairly presented in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework.

The annual financial statements for the 
year ended 28 February 2017 set out on 
pages 28 to 31 and 33 to 51 were approved by 
the Board of Directors on 3 July 2017 and are 
signed on its behalf by:

JG Scott PJ Cilliers
Chairman Managing Director
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of 
Chrometco Limited

REPORT ON THE AUDIT 
OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial 
statements of Chrometco Limited and 
its subsidiaries (the Group) set out on 
pages 33 to 51, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 28 February 2017, and the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and the consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at 28 February 2017, and 
its consolidated financial performance and 
consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, the SAICA 
Financial Reporting Guides as issued by 
the Accounting Practices Committee and 
the requirements of the Companies Act of 
South Africa. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the Independent Regulatory 
Board for Auditors Code of Professional 
Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA 
Code) and other independence requirements 
applicable to performing audits of financial 
statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the IRBA Code and in accordance with 
other ethical requirements applicable to 
performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA 
Code is consistent with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A 
and B). We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to 
Going Concern
We draw attention to the financial results which 
indicate that the Group incurred a net loss of 
R24.850 million. Although the Group is still 
solvent, the cessation of mining operations 
has resulted in recurring losses and cash 
outflows from operations.  Note 27 to the 
financial statements indicates that the Group 
has entered into conditional agreements with 
the aim of the recapitalisation of the company 
as well as the acquisition of a chrome mine 
and a chrome prospecting right.  As stated 
in note 27, these conditions, along with other 
matters set forth in note 27, indicate the 
existence of a material uncertainty which may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.  Our opinion is 
not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, 
in our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

In addition to the matter described in the 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
section, we have determined the matters 
described below to be the key audit matters 
to be communicated in our report. The key 
audit matters relate to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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Key audit matter How we addressed this matter during our audit

Significant subsequent event and the impact 
thereof on going concern – (Notes 26 and 27)

The financial statements of the company are prepared 
on the going concern basis. The company conducted 
no mining operations during the year and its cash 
resources consequently decreased rapidly to the point 
where a cash injection was required in order to fund the 
operational costs of the business.

Management have entered into a number of 
agreements, which would result in, amongst others, a 
cash injection and the inclusion of an operating mine 
into the Chrometco group subject to the meeting of 
certain conditions precedent. It is the aim of 
management to enable Chrometco to operate in the 
foreseeable future through this restructuring of the 
business.

The subsequent event relating to the approval of the 
transaction as per note 26, provides more information 
on the progress regarding the conditions precedent in 
the agreements. 

Due to uncertainty on whether these conditions 
precedent in agreements will be met and the potential 
significant impact on the annual financial statements 
and in particular the applicability of the going concern 
assumption, it is considered to be a key audit matter.

Our procedures related to going concern and subsequent events included, amongst 
others:

• obtaining and evaluating a detailed assessment of the applicability of the going 
concern assumption as prepared by management. This included:

– assessing the reasonableness of the cash flow projections for the company as 
used in the assessment;

– obtaining the budgets for 2017/8 and evaluating the accuracy of the modelling 
process by comparing past estimates to actual results and evaluating the 
assumptions based on our knowledge of the Group and its industry; 

– obtaining documentary evidence to substantiate that the conditions precedent in 
the signed agreements, have been met or are highly likely to be met;

– inspection of board meeting minutes; and

– inquiry of those charged with governance. 

We have also assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in respect of 
directors’ assessment of going concern and subsequent events.

Our procedures indicated to the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast 
significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern which we 
believe to have been adequately disclosed in the annual financial statements and has 
been addressed in the Material Uncertainty Related to going concern paragraph 
above.

Further to the above our procedures indicated that the subsequent events have been 
adequately disclosed in the financial statements.

Valuation of intangible assets (Note 4)

Intangible assets comprising mining rights amounts to 
97% of Group assets.

As required by the applicable accounting standards, 
management conducted an annual impairment test to 
assess the recoverability of the carrying value of the 
mining rights.

This is determined by obtaining an independent expert 
valuation of the intangible assets based on a report of 
the resources prepared by a Competent Person.

There are a number of key areas of judgement and 
estimation made in determining preparing the valuation 
which include:

• resource estimation; and

• relevant commodity prices.

The valuation of mining rights and related impairment 
tests performed on intangible assets is considered to be 
a key audit matter due to the extent of judgement and 
the estimation involved.

Our procedures included a critical assessment, utilising our valuation experts, as to 
whether the model used by management’s independent valuator to calculate the 
value in use of the intangible assets complies with the requirements of the SAMREC 
and SAMVAL codes, and whether it results in a reliable outcome that can be relied on 
to conclude on the need for impairment of the assets in question.

This included:

• assessing the valuation performed by management’s independent valuator; and

• assessing the credentials and experience of the independent expert utilised by 
management and testing the reasonableness of the assumptions and calculations 
used in determining the valuation.

Having performed our audit procedures and evaluated the outcomes we found that 
the possibility that any material adjustment due to impairment is low.
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Other Information 
The Directors are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises 
the Director’s Report, the Audit and Risk 
Committee Report, the Company Secretary’s 
Report as required by the Companies Act 
of South Africa and the Integrated Report, 
which we obtained prior to the date of this 
report. Other information does not include 
the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements does not cover the other 
information and we do not express an 
audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed on the other 
information obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the 
Directors for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act of South Africa, and for 
such internal control as the directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial 
statements, the directors are responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the Group 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, 
we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the overriding of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the 
directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the 
directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt 

on the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express 
an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance 
of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our 
audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be brought 
to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the 
directors, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in 
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
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Report on Other Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements 
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in 
Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 
4 December 2015, we report that Mazars has 
been the auditor of Chrometco Limited for 
three years. 

Mazars  
Partner: Brian Bank 54 Glenhove Road
Registered Auditor Melrose Estate
3 July 2017 Johannesburg
Johannesburg 2196
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Directors’ report 
The Board of Directors has 
pleasure in presenting their 
report for the year ended 
28 February 2017.

NATURE OF BUSINESS
Chrometco Limited (“Chrometco” 
or “the Group”) is primarily involved 
in the acquisition and exploration of 
mineral resources.

The Group has the right of use of new order 
mining rights for chrome on Portion 2 of 
the farm Rooderand as well as the rights 
for chrome, PGMs and base metals on the 
Remainder Portion of Rooderand.

The two new order mining rights are held by 
Rooderand Chrome Proprietary Ltd, a 74% 
subsidiary of Chrometco. The other 26% of 
Rooderand Chrome Proprietary Ltd is under 
BEE control.

Korpo Trust Proprietary Ltd, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary, holds 76% of the issued share 
capital of Pilanesberg Mining Company 
Proprietary Ltd which are both dormant entities 
after the transfer of the new order mining rights 
to Rooderand Chrome Proprietary Ltd during 
the period ended 29 February 2016.

Chrometco Mining Services Proprietary Ltd, 
a wholly-owned subsidiary, is responsible 
for undertaking various ad-hoc operations 
at Rooderand.

GENERAL REVIEW OF 
OPERATIONS
During the year under review, management 
focused its attention on the following issues:

• revisiting the Group’s mineral resources 
and reserves statement;

• management of the Group’s financial 
assets and contractual relationships;

• the acquisition of mineral rights, and 
business opportunities in the Republic and 
elsewhere in SADC (Southern African 
Development Community);

• optimisation of the allocation of 
capital resources;

• acquisition and consolidation of PGM 
prospecting rights on the Rooderand 
property; and

• corporate action to increase our BEE 
shareholding in subsidiaries.

SEGMENT REPORT
Chrometco is a minerals exploration Group 
with prospects in the North West Province of 
the Republic of South Africa. As the Group is 
currently involved in the exploration for various 
mineral resources only and all income and 
expenditure, assets and liabilities are held 
and incurred in this single activity, segmental 
information will not be presented until such 
time as the business has developed and 
segments of the business can be properly 
identified and a meaningful allocation 
can be made between such segments. 
All management information is presented in 
one segment due to the fact that the Company 
and Group only has one geographical and 
operating segment/activity.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The Group achieved a total comprehensive 
loss after tax for the year amounting to 
R24 850 191 (2016: R30 935 735) after a tax 
expense of R7 517 993 (2016: expense of 
R18 046 038). 

CORPORATE ACTIVITY
On 25 August 2016, the Company announced 
that it had entered into agreements to 
recapitalise the Company by way of a 
subscription agreement for R5 million and a 
loan facility of R10 million.

The Company also announced that it had 
entered into an agreement to acquire 51% of 
Palm Chrome Holdings Proprietary Limited 
(“Palm Chrome”) in exchange for 200 million 
Chrometco ordinary shares. 

Furthermore, the Company announced that it 
had entered into an agreement to acquire 51% 
of Black Chrome Holdings Proprietary Limited 
(“Black Chrome”) and 25% of the commodity 
trading company, Sail Minerals Proprietary 
Limited (“Sail”) in exchange for 2 205 million 
Chrometco ordinary shares.

 The transactions together are referred to as 
“the Sail Transaction”.

Progress update
In November 2016, the due diligence process 
undertaken by Chrometco on Black Chrome, 
Palm Chrome and Sail Minerals has been 
completed with a satisfactory outcome. 

Sail brought the Black Chrome mine into 
production over the September and October 
period, and production is being ramped up.

On 30 May 2017, Chrometco issued its Circular 
for the approval of the Sail Transaction. 
The shareholders will vote on the transaction 
on 18 July 2017.

The outstanding conditions precedent for 
the conclusion of the transaction includes 
the following:

• the approval by the Company’s 
shareholders of a waiver of the mandatory 
offer to minority shareholders;

• the approval of the transaction by 
Chrometco shareholders;

• all other regulatory approvals required; and

• section 11 approval by the DMR for 
change in ownership of the assets.

The successful completion of the Sail 
Transaction should reposition Chrometco as a 
significant chrome player.

Dividends
No dividends were declared during the period 
under review (2016: Rnil).
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SUBSIDIARIES

 
Issued share 

capital
Percentage 

holding
Shares at 

carrying value
Due to/(by) 

subsidiaries
Share of net 
profit/(loss)

Directly and indirectly held R % R R R

28 February 2017          

Korpo Trust Proprietary Ltd 104 100 nil 171 001 –

Rooderand Chrome (Proprietary) Ltd 900 74 522 000 272 302 (4 605 688)

Pilanesberg Mining Company Proprietary Ltd 1 000 76 nil (198 000)  (206)

Chrometco Mining Services Proprietary Ltd 100 100 nil (563 669) –

        (318 366) (4 605 894)

During the year, Chrometco advanced the amount of Rnil (2016: Rnil) by way of interest to the subsidiary companies, and received an amount of Rnil 
(2016: Rnil) from subsidiary companies.

STATED CAPITAL 
The Group does not have any unlisted securities in issue at the date of this report. The Group did not repurchase any of its shares during the year 
under review, as well as in the comparative prior period. The Group is also not party to any restrictive funding arrangements as contemplated in terms 
of Section 8.63 of the JSE Listings Requirements.

EXECUTIVE SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
The Group has a cash-settled long-term incentive plan in place. At year-end, no awards which were expected to vest had been made in terms of 
the plan.

At 28 February 2017 the Directors of Chrometco Limited held directly and indirectly the following shares:

  Number of shares Number 
of shares

2016
Percentage

2017
Percentage

2016Directors Direct Indirect 2017

E Bramley 2 675 200 32 877 532 35 552 732 37 602 732 12.93 13.68

PJ Cilliers 550 000 – 550 000 550 000 0.20 0.20

3 225 200 32 877 532 36 102 732 38 152 732 13.13 13.88

The Group has not been informed of any material changes in these holdings at the date of this report. The amounts reflected above include any 
interests held by a current Director of the Group in the past 18 months.

* All holdings are direct except for 32 877 532 held indirectly by E Bramley via Audax Resources (Proprietary) Ltd.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS OF THE GROUP
The interests reflected below relate to any shareholders that, directly or indirectly, are beneficially interested in 5% or more of any class of the issued 
share capital as of 26 May 2017.

 

Number of 
shares

Number of 
shares

Percentage 
holding

Percentage 
holding

2017 2016 2017 2016

Credit Suisse AG 52 000 000 52 000 000 18.91 18.91

Realm Resources Limited 45 000 000 45 000 000 16.37 16.37

NKWE Platinum SA (Proprietary) Ltd 45 000 000 45 000 000 16.37 16.37

Audax Resources (Proprietary) Ltd* 32 877 532 32 877 532 11.96 11.96

ARH(ARD)-SUKUK  INVESTMENTS 17 595 692 28 103 987 6.40 10.22

Total 192 473 224 202 981 519 70.01 73.83

* Audax Resources are included in the holdings of E Bramley, a Director.
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Directors’ report (continued)

The shareholding can be summarised as follows:

 

Number of 
shares

Number of 
shares

Percentage 
holding

Percentage 
holding

2017 2016 2017 2016

Non-public shareholders 206 205 466 206 205 466 75.0% 75.0%

Public shareholders 68 723 217 68 723 217 25.0% 25.0%

Total 274 928 683 274 928 683 100.0% 100.0%

BORROWINGS
On 30 September 2016, Sail Minerals 
Proprietary Limited (“Sail”) granted a standby 
loan facility to Chrometco to the amount of 
R10 000 000. In terms of the agreement, 
Chrometco drew R5 000 000 of the facility 
within one business day from opening 
the facility.

The carrying value of the facility was 
R5 220 623 as at 28 February 2017.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO 
YEAR-END
On 30 May 2017, Chrometco issued its Circular 
for the approval of the Sail Transaction. 
The shareholders are expected to vote on the 
transaction on 18 July 2017. 

BLACK ECONOMIC 
EMPOWERMENT
The Group is committed to the principles 
of black economic empowerment and 
accordingly the BEE shareholding in 
Rooderand Chrome, who currently holds 
all the mining and prospecting rights in the 
Group, is 26%.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Group during the 
accounting period and up to the date of this 
report were as follows:

PJ Cilliers Executive (MD)

NL Waisberg Executive (FD)

JG Scott Independent Non-Executive

IWS Collair Independent Non-Executive

R Rossiter Independent Non-Executive 

E Bramley Non-Executive
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 The following changes to the Board took place 
during the year under review, and up to the 
date of this report:

NL Waisberg Appointed 
9 September 2016 as 
Executive Director (FD)

DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS
Refer to Note 16.

SECRETARY
The Secretary at the date of this report is 
Ms Vanessa Marques of the Green Board 
Company Secretaries CC.

Business address
Sparrebosch Building  
The Greens Office Park
Charles De Gaulle Crescent 
Highveld Park, Ext 12
South Africa, 2000

Postal address 
PO Box 758
Mondeor
South Africa, 2110

Registered address 
71 Van Beek Avenue 
Glenanda 
Johannesburg 
South Africa
2001

AUDITORS
Mazars continue in office in terms of 
Section 90 of the Companies Act. 
The designated audit partner is Mr Brian Bank, 
who is a JSE accredited auditor.

GOING CONCERN
The financial statements have been prepared 
on the going concern basis, since the Directors 
have reason to believe that the Group has 
adequate resources in place and available to it 
from its shareholders to continue in operation 
for the foreseeable future. In reaching this 
conclusion, the Directors have considered 
the following:

• the Group’s cash requirements over the 
next 12 months;

• the Group’s current financial position; and

• the probability of non-recurring events and 
circumstances that may have an impact on 
the Group’s future cash flows and financial 
position over the next 12 months. 

Refer to Note 27.
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Report by the audit 
committee
for the year ended 28 February 2017

The Audit Committee reports that it has 
discharged all of its responsibilities for the 
current financial year, including, but not 
limited to:

• nominated the appointment of Mazars  as 
the registered independent auditors after 
satisfying itself through enquiry that 
Mazars is independent as defined in terms 
of the Companies Act of South Africa;

• determined the fees to be paid to Mazars 
and their terms of engagement;

• ensured that the appointment of Mazars 
complied with the Companies Act  
and any other legislation relating to the 
appointment of auditors;

• approved a non-audit services policy 
which determines the nature and extent 
of any non-audit services which Mazars 
may provide to the Company; and

• approved the appointment of the Financial 
Director and satisfied itself as to his 
experience and expertise.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that an 
adequate system of internal control is in 
place to reduce significant risks faced by the 
Group to an acceptable level, and that these 
controls have been effective throughout the 
period under review. The system is designed 
to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk 
of failure and to maximise opportunities to 
achieve business objectives. This can provide 
only reasonable, but not absolute assurance.

As required by the JSE Limited Listings 
Requirement 3.84(h), the Audit Committee has 
satisfied itself that Mr Namir Waisberg was 
appointed in September 2016 to fulfil the role 
of the Chief Financial Officer and the Audit 
Committee has satisfied itself that Mr Waisberg 
has the appropriate experience and expertise.

The Audit Committee has evaluated the Group 
annual financial statements of Chrometco 
Limited for the year ended 28 February 
2017 and based on the information provided 
to the Audit Committee, considers that 
it complies, in all material respects, with 
the statutory requirements of the various 
regulations governing disclosure and 
reporting of the consolidated annual financial 
statements and that the consolidated annual 
financial statements comply in all material 
respects with IFRS, as issued by the IASB, 
the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides issued 
by the Accounting Practices Committee, 
as well as the requirements of the South 
African Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements. The Audit Committee has 
evaluated the independence of the external 
auditors and the Audit Committee is satisfied 
that the external auditors have remained 
independent. The Audit Committee therefore 
recommends the adoption of the annual 
financial statements by the Board.

The Board has subsequently approved the 
financial statements which will be open 
for discussion at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting.

On behalf of the Audit Committee

R Rossiter
Audit Committee Chairman

3 July 2017
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Consolidated statement of 
financial position
at 28 February 2017

    2017 2016

  Notes R R

ASSETS    

Non-current assets   274 903 348 284 761 026

Tangible assets 3  2 859 327 1 999 234

Intangible assets 4  268 885 918 279 754 524

Environmental rehabilitation obligation funds 5  3 158 103 3 007 268

Current assets   2 624 082 2 477 102

Trade and other receivables 6  63 815 792 317

Cash and cash equivalents 7  2 560 267 1 684 785
       
Total assets   277 527 430 287 238 128

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES      

Capital and reserves   209 016 833 233 867 024

Stated capital 8  158 062 246 158 062 246

Retained earnings   29 715 525 49 960 028

Attributable to equity owners of the parent   187 777 771 208 022 274

Non-controlling interests 9 21 239 062 25 844 750

Non-current liabilities   62 106 253 53 041 376

Deferred taxation 18.3  56 527 690 49 009 698

Environmental rehabilitation provision 12  5 578 563 4 031 678

Current liabilities   6 404 344  329 728

Trade and other payables 10  1 173 720 319 728

Borrowings 11 5 220 624 –

Environmental rehabilitation provision 12  10 000 10 000
       
Total equity and liabilities   277 527 430 287 238 128
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Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income
for the year ended 28 February 2017 

    2017 2016

  Notes R R

Revenue 13 – 1 401 146

Gross profit   – 1 401 146

Other income 14 294 257 2 810 452

Depreciation of tangible assets 3 (85 080) (88 093)

Amortisation of intangible assets 4  (10 868 606) (7 872 211)

Operating expenses 15  (5 907 208) (9 045 630)

Loss before interest and taxation    (16 566 637) (12 794 336)

Finance income 17  53 767  245 785

Finance cost 17  (819 328) (341 146)

Loss before taxation    (17 332 198) (12 889 697)

Taxation 18  (7 517 993) (18 046 038)

Loss for the year    (24 850 191) (30 935 735)

Other comprehensive income   – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year   (24 850 191) (30 935 735)

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year      

Attributable to owners of the parent    (20 244 503) (24 579 162)

Attributable to non-controlling interest    (4 605 688) (6 356 573)

Basic loss per share (cents) 19.1 (7.36) (10.77)

Diluted loss per share (cents) 19.2 (7.36) (8.94)
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Consolidated statement of 
changes in equity
for the year ended 28 February 2017 

      Ordinary Non-  

  Stated Retained Shareholders’ controlling  

  capital earnings interest interest Total

  R R R R R

Balance at 28 February 2015 54 187 246 74 539 190 128 726 436 32 201 323 160 927 759

Effects of share-based payment 103 875 000 – 103 875 000 – 103 875 000

Total comprehensive loss for the year – (24 579 162) (24 579 162) (6 356 573) (30 935 735)

Balance at 29 February 2016 158 062 246 49 960 028 208 022 274 25 844 750 233 867 024

Total comprehensive loss for the year – (20 244 503) (20 244 503) (4 605 688) (24 850 191)

Balance at 28 February 2017  158 062 246 29 715 525 187 777 771 21 239 062 209 016 833

Please refer to Notes 8 and 9 for more information relating to the share capital and non-controlling interest respectively.
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Consolidated statement of 
cash flows
for the year ended 28 February 2017

  2017 2016

  Notes  R R

Cash utilised by operations and exploration activities   (4 001 664) (4 466 948)

Operating loss before working capital changes 25.1 (5 587 166) (3 865 117)

Working capital changes 25.2 1 585 502 (601 831)

Finance income received 17 53 767 245 785

Taxation paid 25.3 – –

Net cash outflow from operating and exploration activities   (3 947 897) (4 221 163)

Cash flows from investing activities      

Increase in environmental rehabilitation obligation funds 5 (176 621) (1 427 796)

Net cash outflow from investing activities   (176 621) (1 427 796)

Cash flows from financing activities      

Loans raised 11 5 000 000 –

Net cash inflow from financing activities   5 000 000 –

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   875 482 (5 648 959)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    1 684 785 7 333 744

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7 2 560 267 1 684 785
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Notes to the financial 
statements
for the year ended 28 February 2017

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Chrometco Limited (“the Company”) is a public Company which is listed on the AltX of the JSE Limited and is incorporated and domiciled in 
the Republic of South Africa. Chrometco is the holding Company of the Chrometco Group. These consolidated financial statements comprise 
the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”). The Group is involved in the acquisition and exploration of mineral 
resources. The financial statements are presented in South African Rand (“R”).

1.1 Statement of compliance
The financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2017 have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, the South African 
Institute of Chartered Accountants Financial Reporting Guides issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, as well as the 
requirements of the South African Companies Act and JSE Listings Requirements.

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 3 July 2017. 

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period. During the current year, the Company applied the amendments to 
IAS 1, which impacts presentation through the application of materiality to the notes and policies.

1.2 Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain assets and liabilities that are stated at their fair 
values as described in the accounting policies below.

1.3 Critical judgements and key estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable about the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may vary from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of revision and future periods, if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

Significant judgements and critical estimates include:

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-in-use 
calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible 
that the assumptions may change, which may then impact our estimations and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying 
value of goodwill and tangible assets.

Amortisation and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight line over management’s best estimate of their useful lives. Amortisation of 
intangible assets is amortised over the life of the underlying mining rights. 
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1.4 New standards and interpretations
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements of Chrometco Limited for the year ended 28 February 2017, the following 
standards and interpretations that are relevant to the Group were in issue, but not yet effective:

Standard Details of Standard or amendment
Annual periods beginning 

on or after

IFRS 9
Financial  
Instruments

New standard that replaces IAS 39. The standard incorporates classification 
and measurement requirements that are driven by cash flow characteristics and 
the Group business model. Financial instruments are classified into one of three 
classes: amortised cost, fair value through profit or loss and fair value through other 
comprehensive income. The standard also incorporates a forward-looking “expected 
loss” impairment. Hedge accounting has been substantially modified and is more 
aligned with risk management activities.

 1 January 2018

  The new standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group. None of 
the classifications of the current financial instruments will change due to the limited 
exposure to the standard. 

 

IFRS 15
Revenue from 
contracts 
with customers

New standard that replaces IAS 11 construction contracts, IAS 18, IFRIC 13 customer 
loyalty programmes, IFRIC 15 agreements for the construction of real estate, IFRIC 
18 transfers of assets from customers and SIC-31 revenue-barter transactions 
involving advertising services. IFRS 15 specifies how and when an IFRS reporter 
will recognise revenue as well as requiring such entities to provide users of financial 
statements with more informative, relevant disclosures. The standard provides a 
single, principles-based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers.

1 January 2018

As there were no revenue during the year under review, the new standard would not 
have had an impact. We would re-assess the impact on the group as soon as this 
position changes.

 

None of these standards and interpretations have been early adopted by the Group. 

1.5 Basis of consolidation
Subsidiary companies and other controlled entities

Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the 
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Intra-Group transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses are eliminated on consolidation. Intra-Group balances and 
transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-Group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there 
is no evidence of impairment.

1.6 Tangible assets
Tangible assets are initially stated at cost. Cost is the fair value of the consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition 
and includes the direct cost of bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for operation and the estimated future cost of 
closure and rehabilitation of the facility.

Subsequent measurement is at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is provided 
on the straight-line basis, over the estimated useful lives of assets to the residual value.

Surpluses/(deficits) on the disposal of tangible assets are credited to income. The surplus or deficit is the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset.

The depreciation method, residual values and useful lives are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

1.7 Intangible assets
Mining rights and geological information acquired through share-based payment transactions are recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. All other acquisitions of mineral properties are initially recognised at cost. Cost is the fair value of the consideration 
given to acquire the asset. Mineral properties are amortised over the life of the related mining right.

Subsequent measurement is at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is provided 
on the straight-line basis, over the estimated useful lives of assets.

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

for the year ended 28 February 2017
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1.8 Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each statement of financial position date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, its recoverable amount is estimated. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of its net selling price and its value-in-use.

In assessing value-in-use, the expected future cash flows from the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is 
recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

1.9 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as:

• loans and receivables;

• financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; and

• financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred and takes place at initial recognition.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs.

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables, which include trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated impairment losses.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which consists of an investment in Guard Risk (Note 5), are subsequently measured at 
fair value with adjustment recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities, which consist of trade and other payables and borrowings at amortised cost, are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are impaired using an allowance account. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans 
and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets are derecognised when all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets have been transferred. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired.

1.10 Revenue
Revenue recognised in 2016 consisted of royalties received in terms of a contractual agreement with a contractor. Revenue was 
calculated as a percentage of the value of chrome extracted by the contractor.

1.11 Investment income
Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the effective rate over the period to 
maturity, when it is probable that such income will accrue to the Group.
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1.12 Taxation
Current taxation

Current taxation is recognised as income or an expense and included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. The current taxation payable 
is based on taxable profit. Taxable profit differs from profit reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
where there are items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it also excludes items that are not taxable 
or deductible under existing tax legislation.

Current taxation liabilities and current taxation assets are measured at the amount expected to be paid to/(recovered from) the tax 
authorities, using the tax rates and tax legislation that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences. Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax base. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement 
of financial position date. Deferred tax is charged to the statement of comprehensive income. The effect on deferred tax of any changes 
in tax rates is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the associated 
unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

1.13 Provisions
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost in profit or loss.

Environmental rehabilitation provision

The provision for decommissioning represents the cost that will arise from rectifying damage caused before production commenced. 
Accordingly, an asset is recognised and included within tangible assets.

Estimated future costs of decommissioning obligations are reviewed regularly and adjusted as appropriate for new circumstances or 
changes in law or technology. Changes in estimates are capitalised or reversed against the relevant asset.

1.14 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related service.

The provisions for employee entitlements represent the amount, which the Group has a present obligation to pay as a result of 
employees’ services provided to the statement of financial position date. The provisions have been calculated at undiscounted amounts 
based on current wage and salary rates.

1.15 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits held on call with banks, and investments in 
money market instruments, all of which are available for use by the Group unless otherwise stated.

1.16 Stated capital
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a 
deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

for the year ended 28 February 2017
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2. CONSOLIDATION

 
Percentage 

holding

Relationship 
with the 

Company

  %  

28 February 2017    

Rooderand Chrome (Proprietary) Ltd 74 Subsidiary

Korpo Trust (Proprietary) Ltd 100 Subsidiary

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Proprietary) Ltd 76 Subsidiary

Chrometco Mining Services (Proprietary) Ltd 100 Subsidiary

29 February 2016    

Rooderand Chrome (Proprietary) Ltd 74 Subsidiary

Korpo Trust (Proprietary) Ltd 100 Subsidiary

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Proprietary) Ltd 76 Subsidiary

Chrometco Mining Services (Proprietary) Ltd 100 Subsidiary

The Company’s voting power is in direct proportion to their percentage shareholding. The abovementioned subsidiaries are incorporated and 
operate in South Africa.

3. TANGIBLE ASSETS

 
 
 

 
Rehabilitation

asset

 
Computer

equipment

Furniture
and

fittings

 
 

Total

  R R R R

Useful life 30 years 3 years 10 years  

Carrying amount 1 March 2015 2 255 469 12 033 – 2 267 502

Cost 2 298 026 18 049 35 000 2 351 075

Accumulated depreciation (42 557) (6 016) (35 000) (83 573)

Depreciation (82 076) (6 017) – (88 093)

Changes in estimates (180 175) – – (180 175)

Carrying amount 29 February 2016 1 993 218 6 016 – 1 999 234

Cost 2 117 851 18 049 35 000 2 170 900

Accumulated depreciation (124 633) (12 033) (35 000) (171 666)

Depreciation (82 072) (3 008) – (85 080)

Disposals – (3 008) – (3 008)

Changes in estimates1 948 181 – –   948 181

Carrying amount 28 February 2017 2 859 327 – – 2 859 327 

Cost 3 066 032  – 35 000 3 101 032 

Accumulated depreciation (206 705) – (35 000) (241 705)

1 The amount relates to the change in estimate in the environmental rehabilitation provision (refer to note 12).
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4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 

New order 
mining right 
Rooderand 

Chrome 
(Proprietary) 

Ltd

Geological 
information 
Rooderand 

Chrome 
(Proprietary) 

Ltd Total

  R R R

Useful life 30 years 29 years  

Carrying amount 1 March 2015 165 876 750 17 874 985 183 751 735

Cost 186 030 000 19 499 994 205 529 994

Accumulated amortisation (20 153 250) (1 625 009) (21 778 259)

Additions 103 875 000 – 103 875 000

Amortisation (7 199 798) (672 413) (7 872 211)

Carrying amount 29 February 2016 262 551 952 17 202 572 279 754 524

Cost 289 905 000 19 499 994 309 404 994

Accumulated amortisation (27 353 048) (2 297 422) (29 650 470)

Amortisation (10 196 192) (672 414) (10 868 606)

Carrying amount 28 February 2017 252 355 760 16 530 158 268 885 918

Cost 289 905 000 19 499 994 309 404 994

Accumulated amortisation (37 549 240) (2 969 836) (40 519 076)

In 2016, the Group obtained a mining right from NKWE Platinum SA (Proprietary) Limited and Realm Resources Limited was recognised as an 
intangible asset.

The remaining amortisation period of the geological information and the mining right at 28 February 2017 was 24.75 years (2016: 25.75).

5. ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION OBLIGATION FUNDS

  2017 2016

  R R

Funds deposited in Guard Risk Insurance Company Limited (“Guard Risk”)    

Balance at beginning of the year 3 007 268 1 579 473

Funds invested during the year 176 621 1 483 200

Net management fee (25 786) (55 405)

Balance at end of year 3 158 103 3 007 268

The Group’s environmental rehabilitation obligation funds consists of contributions to investment funds held by Guard Risk, which are in turn 
used to provide guarantees to the Department of Mineral Resources (DMR) in terms of rehabilitation and restoration commitments. The Group 
earns investment income on funds deposited with Guard Risk at rates linked to short-term money market yields. All investment income arising 
from this asset is re-invested in the Guard Risk fund. 

The management fee relates to the management fees charged as per agreement with Guard Risk.

6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

  2017 2016

  R R

VAT and other receivables 63 815 792 317

Total 63 815 792 317
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7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

  2017 2016

  R R

Current account 2 540 460 1 665 827

Restricted cash 19 807 18 958

Total 2 560 267 1 684 785

The Group only deposits cash with major banks with high-quality credit ratings. The credit quality therefore is assessed as good.

Restricted cash

Cash had been encumbered as a result of guarantees issued to the DMR.

8. STATED CAPITAL 

  2017 2016

  R R

Authorised    

1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value – –

Reconciliation of number of shares issued    

Number of shares at beginning of the period 274 928 683 204 928 683

Ordinary shares of no par value    

Allotment    

Shares of no par value issued on 6 November 2015 – 70 000 000

Number of shares at end of the year 274 928 683 274 928 683

Stated capital    

274 928 683 ordinary no par value shares (2016: 274 928 683) 158 062 246 158 062 246

The unissued shares are under the control of the Directors until the next annual general meeting.

9. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The Group’s non-controlling interest relates to the following subsidiaries:

  2017 2016

  R R

Subsidiaries    

Rooderand Chrome Proprietary Limited 21 239 062 25 844 750 

Non-controlling interests arise on the consolidation of Pilanesburg Mining Company (Proprietary) Limited (24%) and Rooderand Chrome 
(Proprietary) Limited (26%).

Movements in this balance reflect minority share of losses in the subsidiary.

Summarised financial information of Rooderand Chrome Proprietary Limited:

2017 

R

2016 

R

Total comprehensive loss for the year (4 605 688) (6 356 573)

Non-current assets 252 355 761 263 271 953

Current assets 995  1 936

Non-current liabilities (56 527 690) (49 009 698)

Current liabilities (180 000) (452 302)

Net assets 195 649 066 213 811 889
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10. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

  2017 2016

  R R

Trade payables  1 173 720 319 728

   1 173 720 319 728

11. BORROWINGS

On 30 September 2016, Sail Minerals Proprietary Limited (“Sail”) granted a standby loan facility to Chrometco to the amount of R10 000 000. 
In terms of the agreement, Chrometco drew R5 000 000 of the facility within one business day from opening the facility.

The facility carries the following payment terms:

Interest rate: Bears interest at the Prime Rate, calculated on a nominal annual compounded monthly in arrears basis
Repayment terms: The facility will be repaid from:

  (a) Amounts received by Chrometco in terms of any share subscription agreements concluded between Sail and 
Chrometco; and

  (b) Income and/or distributions that Chrometco receives or becomes entitled to.

  Additionally, the entire outstanding facility becomes repayable by Chrometco if:

  (a) Any of the following agreements is cancelled by Sail and/or Grand Slam Enterprise Proprietary Limited
    (GSE) as a direct result of a breach of any provision therein by Chrometco:
    – the Share Subscription Agreement;
    – the Black Chrome Agreement; and
    – the Palm Chrome Agreement.

  (b) Any of the following agreements are not in force or effect of each respective agreement outlined below, other than to 
the extent that they are not within the control of Chrometco:

    – the Share Subscription Agreement;
    – the Black Chrome Agreement; and
    – the Palm Chrome Agreement.

Security provided: Chrometco provided all the shares, including any preference shares, owned or held by Chrometco in the share capital of 
Rooderand as security on the facility.

  2017 2016

  R R

Loan raised 5 000 000 –

Interest expense 220 624 –

  5 220 624 –

For the 2017 financial year, the loan carried interest at the prime lending rate. As the balance is linked to the Prime Lending Rate, the carrying 
value approximates its fair value.

12. ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION PROVISION

  2017 2016

  R R

Provision for rehabilitation of land disturbed by mining

Balance at beginning of the year 4 041 678 2 911 792

Increase in provision during year 1 546 885 1 129 886

Balance at end of year 5 588 563 4 041 678

Short-term portion – old order mining licence 10 000 10 000

Long-term portion – new order mining rights 5 578 563 4 031 678

The present value of the environmental rehabilitation provision is calculated by applying a growth rate of 6.0% and a discount rate of 9.64%. 
It was assumed that the rehabilitation liability will be settled upon the end-of-life of the mine of 24.75 years. The unwinding of the rehabilitation 
provision is recognised through profit or loss. The change in estimate capitalised to tangible assets represents an increase in the environmental 
rehabilitation provision of R1 546 885 (2016: represented a decrease of R180 175).
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13. REVENUE

  2017 2016

  R R

Sale of chrome ore – 1 401 146

  – 1 401 146

The Group did not sell any chrome ore in the period ended 28 February 2017 after the arrangement, in terms of which a third party extracted 
chrome ore from the Rooderand Mine, came to an end during the period ended 29 February 2016. 

14. OTHER INCOME

  2017 2016

  R R

Bad debts recovered – DCM Chrome (Proprietary) Limited 292 757 317 403

Recovery of rehabilitation expenses – IFM Limited – 2 493 049

Other 1 500 –

Total 294 257 2 810 452

15. OPERATING EXPENSES

  2017 2016

  R R

Operating expenses include:      

Auditor’s remuneration   1 079 154 685 275

Consulting fees   1 323 589 140 630

Secretarial fees   570 700 284 980

Directors’ remuneration 16 792 000 1 272 000

Provision for doubtful debts   – 2 493 049

Legal fees   1 067 376 1 202 728

16. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

 

For 
services as 

Directors Remuneration Total

  R R R

2017      

Executives      

PJ Cilliers – 600 000 600 000

NL Waisberg – – –

Subtotal – 600 000 600 000

Non-Executives      

JG Scott 48 000 – 48 000

E Bramley 48 000 – 48 000

IWS Collair 48 000 – 48 000

R Rossiter 48 000 – 48 000

Subtotal 192 000 – 192 000

Total 192 000 600 000 792 000
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For 
services as 

Directors Remuneration Total

  R R R

2016      

Executives      

PJ Cilliers – 600 000 600 000

TW Scott – 230 000 230 000

M Scott – 250 000 250 000

Subtotal – 1 080 000 1 080 000

Non-Exec utives      

JG Scott 48 000 – 48 000

E Bramley 48 000 – 48 000

IWS Collair 48 000 – 48 000

R Rossiter 48 000 – 48 000

Subtotal 192 000 – 192 000

Total 192 000 1 080 000 1 272 000

All emoluments are short-term in nature.

17. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COST

  2017 2016

  R R

Interest received from finance institutions 53 766 245 785

Finance cost arising on the unwinding of the environmental rehabilitation provision (598 705) (341 146)

Finance cost arising on borrowings (220 624) –

18. TAXATION

  2017 2016

  R R

South African normal tax:    

Current tax – –

Deferred tax (7 517 993) (18 046 038)

Subtotal (7 517 993) (18 046 038)

18.1 Reconciliation of tax rate

South African normal tax rate 28.00 28.00

Adjusted for:    

Non-deductible/taxable expenditure/income  (0.02) (0.01)

Prior-year overprovision for deferred tax – (0.46)

Capital gains tax (CGT) effect on amortisation of intangible assets (6.58) (160.86)

Change in CGT rate (54.19) –

Deferred tax asset not recognised (8.87) (4.06)

Expenditure of a capital nature (1.72) (2.61)

Effective tax rate (43.38) (140.00)
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18.2 Estimated tax losses

At beginning of year 35 892 011 32 725 945

Adjustment based on 2014 assessment – 1 376 181

Incurred during the year 4 569 004 1 789 885

Available for set-off against future taxable income 40 461 015 35 892 011

Unutilised tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 40 461 015 35 892 011

Deferred tax asset is not recognised as it is not probable at year-end that taxable profit will be available in the foreseeable future against 
which the temporary difference can be utilised.

18.3 Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liability    

At beginning of year (49 009 698) (30 963 660)

Charge for the year 1 903 290 (18 046 038)

Change in CGT rate (9 421 282) –

At end of year (56 527 690) (49 009 698)

Comprising:    

Temporary differences on intangible asset at capital gains tax rates (56 527 690) (49 009 698)

  (56 527 690) (49 009 698)

19. LOSS PER SHARE

19.1 Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share at 28 February 2017 is based on a loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of R20 244 503  
(2016: R24 579 162) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 28 February 2017 of 
274 928 683 (2016: 228 262 016), calculated as follows:

 

Number of shares issued
Weighted average number 

of shares

2017 2016 2017 2016

Weighted average number of ordinary shares        

Issued shares at beginning of year 274 928 683 204 928 683 274 928 683 204 928 683

Movement for the year – 70 000 000 – 23 333 333

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at end of year 274 928 683 274 928 683 274 928 683 228 262 016

Loss per share (cents)     (7.36) (10.77)

19.2 Diluted loss per share

The calculation of diluted loss per share at 28 February 2017 is based on a loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
R20 244 503 (2016: R24 579 162) and a diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 
28 February 2017 of 274 928 683 (2016: 274 928 683), calculated as follows:

 

Number of shares issued
Weighted average number 

of shares

2017 2016 2017 2016

Weighted average number of ordinary shares        

Issued shares at beginning of year 274 928 683 204 928 683 274 928 683 204 928 683

Movement for the year – 70 000 000 – 70 000 000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at end of year 274 928 683 274 928 683 274 928 683 274 928 683

Loss per share (cents)     (7.36) (8.94)
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19.3 Headline loss per share and diluted headline loss per share

The calculation of headline loss per share at 28 February 2017 is based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of R20 244 503 (2016: R24 579 162) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 28 February 
2017 of 274 928 683 (2016: 228 262 016), and diluted headline loss per share is based on a weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding at that date of 274 928 683 (2016: 274 928 683) calculated as in Notes 19.1 and 19.2.

  2017 2017 2016 2016

 Headline earnings reconciliation Gross Net Gross Net

Loss after taxation attributable to equity holders of the Group (20 244 503) (20 244 503) (24 579 162) (24 579 162)

Headline earnings (20 244 503) (20 244 503) (24 579 162) (24 579 162)

Weighted average number shares in issue   274 928 683   228 262 016

Diluted weighted average number shares in issue   274 928 683   274 928 683

Headline loss per share (cents)   (7.36)   (10.77)

Diluted headline loss per share (cents)   (7.36)   (8.94)

20. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

No capital commitments existed at 28 February 2017 (2016: nil).

21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

21.1 Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

The Group has identified that in terms of the LTIP, a potential liability exist in case of a take-over of Chrometco. In terms of the scheme, 
if a similar scheme which contains materially similar terms and conditions of the current LTIP is not offered by the acquirer, the Board 
may, in its absolute discretion, determine, in respect of all of the LTIP Awards, that the restrictions imposed become unconditional at the 
date of take-over.

A contingent liability exist as the following conditions have not been met:

• Resolution by the Board to lift the restrictions imposed by the LTIP, making the awards unconditional.

• Occurrence of a take-over (refer to the Note 27 for more details regarding the transaction with Sail).

If the above to conditions are met, it will lead to liability of R816 500 based on share price of Chrometco as at 28 February 2017.

22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. This note presents information 
about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and 
the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout the financial statements. (Refer to Note 23 for 
further details).

22.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a counter-party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and 
arises principally from the Group’s receivables arising from non-trade-related transactions as the Group is currently still in the exploration 
phase of its business activities.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by the individual characteristics of each counter-party. In addition, receivable balances 
are monitored on an ongoing basis. The credit risk currently only arises from non-trade-related financial assets. The exposure to credit 
risk arises from default of the counter-party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

22.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities when due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts, 
inter-company loans, trade payables and trade receivables.
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22.3 Market risk

The Group is currently only exposed to interest rate risk through its cash and cash equivalents. This exposure is equal to the value 
disclosed in Note 7.

22.4 Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s holdings of cash and cash equivalents and the loan 
from Sail.

22.5 Capital management

The Group’s capital consists of the share capital, share premium and retained earnings as presented in the statement of changes 
in equity.

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management, once operations have commenced, is to ensure that it maintains a strong 
credit rating and healthy capital ratios (e.g. return on capital) in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed capital 
requirements from the previous year.

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Due to activities being downscaled this exposure is currently limited and consequently no formal measures are adopted to reduce the risks 
associated with the financial instruments below. No security/collateral is in place for all classes of financial instruments presented below.

It is envisaged that once the Group’s activities reach a level where these risks become material, appropriate measures will be put in place to 
reduce these risks.

23.1 Credit risk

  2017 2016

  R R

Exposure to credit risk:    

The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date was:    

Environmental rehabilitation obligation funds 3 158 103 3 007 268

Cash and cash equivalents 2 560 267 1 684 785

Total maximum exposure to credit risk 5 718 370 4 692 053

Concentration of credit risk by geographic location:    

The maximum exposure of financial assets to credit risk by geographical region at reporting date is 
as follows:    

Domestic 5 718 370 4 692 053

Total maximum exposure to credit risk 5 718 370 4 692 053

For all of the above classes of financial asset, no collateral is held as security and there are no credit 
enhancements in place.    

Concentrations of credit risk by receivable category:    

The maximum exposure of financial assets to credit risk by receivable type at reporting date is 
as follows:    

Environmental rehabilitation obligation funds 3 158 103 3 007 268

Cash and cash equivalents 2 560 267 1 684 785

Total maximum exposure to credit risk 5 718 370 4 692 053
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23.2 Liquidity risk

The only financial liability at the reporting date is a loan from Sail (see Note 11). The liability does not have fixed contractual repayments.

23.3 Interest rate risk
Profile
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group and the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments were:

  2017 2016

  R R

Variable rate instruments – carrying amounts    

Financial assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents 2 560 267 1 684 785

Financial liabilities:    

Borrowings 5 220 623 –

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate financial instruments

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss by the amounts 
shown below. The sensitivity analysis was calculated by multiplying the year-end balances by the increase or decrease in the interest 
rate. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

  Increase/ 2017 2016

   Decrease R R

Financial assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents +100 25 601 16 848

Cash and cash equivalents (100) (25 601) (16 848)

Financial liabilities:      

Borrowings +100 (52 206) –

Borrowings (100) 52 206 –

23.4 Fair value disclosure

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument:

• Trade receivables/payables, and cash and cash equivalents

The carrying amounts approximate fair values due to the short maturity of these instruments.

• Investments and environmental rehabilitation obligation funds

The environmental trust fund is stated at fair value based on the nature of the fund’s investments.

• Borrowings 

The fair value of borrowings approximates its carrying amounts as the impact of credit risk is included in the measurement of 
carrying amounts.

  Note

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss
Loans and 

receivables
Other financial 

liabilities

2017        

Environmental rehabilitation obligation funds1 5 3 158 103    

Cash and cash equivalents 7   2 560 267  

Borrowings 11     5 220 623

Trade payables 10     1 173 720

2016        

Environmental rehabilitation obligation funds1 5 3 007 268    

Cash and cash equivalents 7   1 684 785  

Trade payables 10     319 728

1The environmental rehabilitation obligation funds is a level 1 fair value measurement, due to being a money market investment.
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24. RELATED PARTIES

Refer to Note 16 for disclosure of directors’ emoluments. No other related party transactions occurred during the period ended 28 February 
2017, except for the loan from Sail. Refer to Note 11.

25. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

25.1 Operating loss before working capital changes

  2017 2016

  R R

Net profit before taxation (17 332 198) (12 889 697)

Adjusted for:    

Depreciation of tangible assets  85 080 88 093

Amortisation of intangible assets 10 868 606 7 872 211

Investment income  (53 767) (245 785)

Finance costs 819 328 341 146

Movement in provision for rehabilitation expenses – 968 915

Movement in rehabilitation trust funds (25 786) –

  (5 587 166) (3 865 117)

25.2 Working capital changes

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other receivables 731 510 246 982

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 853 992 (848 813)

  1 585 502 (601 831)

26. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no events that could have a material impact on the financial results of the Group after 28 February 2017, except for the following:

• The Group issued the Circular for the approval of the Sail transaction on 30 May 2017.

27. GOING CONCERN

The directors have reviewed the Group’s financial budgets with their underlying business plans. In light of the current financial position and 
existing borrowing facilities, they consider it appropriate that the Group annual financial statements be prepared on the going concern basis. 
However, sufficient short-term liquidity to sustain operations until the transaction discussed below is concluded is dependent on the drawing 
of further funds from the facility discussed in Note 11 above. Furthermore, as discussed below the conclusion of the pending transaction is 
dependent on a number of outstanding conditions. These factors represent a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Notwithstanding the fact that Chrometco did not trade during the 2017 financial year the transaction with Sail Minerals and Grand Slam 
Enterprise Propriety Ltd has a very high probability of being concluded. The transaction includes the acquisition of a fully functional chrome 
mine (Black Chrome), a chrome prospecting right (Palm Chrome) and a minerals trading company (Sail Minerals). The transaction will result in 
the recapitalisation of Chrometco and reposition the Group in the market as a resource holding and active minerals trading company. 

The outstanding conditions precedent for the conclusion of the transaction includes the following:

• The approval by the Company’s shareholders of a waiver of the mandatory offer to minority shareholders;

• The approval of the transaction by Chrometco shareholders;

• All other regulatory approvals required; and

• Section 11 approval by the DMR for change in ownership of the assets.

The Board is of the opinion that the transaction has a very high probability of being concluded. Chrometco has appointed a corporate advisor 
(PSG) who has assisted in the submission of the Circular and the Competent Persons Reports.

In light of the high probability of conclusion of the above transaction the Company is well placed to have the beneficial use of Black Chrome 
in the 2018 financial year and the directors are of the opinion that Chrometco is and will remain a going concern from both a cash flow and 
operational perspective. 
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Shareholder analysis 
Shareholder spread

Number of 
shareholders %

Number 
of shares %

1 – 1 000 shares 164 19.5 74 252 0.0

1 001 – 10 000 shares 311 37.2  1 521 405 0.5

10 001 – 100 000 shares 268 31.9  10 077 193 3.7

100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 75 8.9  21 050 905 7.7

1 000 001 shares and over 21 2.5 242 204 928 88.1

Total 839 100.0 274 928 683 100.0

Public/non-public shareholders
Number of 

shareholders %
Number 

of shares %

Directors’ holdings 3 0.4 36 102 732 13.1
Strategic holdings – more than 10% 3 0.4  142 000 000 51.7
Public shareholders  833 99.2  96 825 951 35.2

Total  839 100.0  274 928 683 100.0
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1 Introduction 
1.1 Nature of the Transaction 

Independent Resource Estimations (“IRES”) was commissioned by Chrometco Limited 
(“Chrometco”) to prepare a Competent Persons’ Report (“CPR”) on its Rooderand Project 
(“Rooderand Project, Rooderand or the Project”) in the North West Province of South Africa. 
The Rooderand Project is both a previously mined chromitite property and a currently active 
exploration property and is therefore, according to the definitions provided by the 2016 “South 
African Code for Reporting of Mineral Asset Valuations” (“SAMVAL”), a hybrid between a 
Dormant Property, and an Exploration Property. The Project is located on the western limb of 
the Bushveld Complex, a large layered igneous complex globally renowned for its chrome, 
platinum, vanadium and other metal deposits. The Rooderand Project has been owned and 
operated by Chrometco since 2004.  

Chrometco is a South African based chrome, platinum and base metals mining development 
and exploration company that listed on the Alt-X section of the Johannesburg Stock 
Exchange (JSE Limited (“JSE”)) in 2005. The CPR on the Rooderand Project is required in 
support of a proposed acquisition of the company’s ordinary share capital by Sail Group Ltd 
(“Sail”), as announced in September 2016. 

Sail is a South African mining and international trader in chrome ore, currently supplying one 
million tonnes (“Mt”) per annum of chrome ore to China. Sail's projects are located in both the 
western and eastern limbs of the Bushveld Complex and include two mineral assets acquired 
in 2016, namely the Black Chrome Mine, a development stage underground chrome mine 
situated on the eastern limb of the Bushveld Complex and the Palm Chrome exploration 
project, with the potential to develop an open pit mine on the Bushveld Complex western limb. 

Chrometco and Sail entered into conditional agreements, as announced on SENS September 
2016, to recapitalize Chrometco by way of a subscription agreement for ZAR5 million (m) 
million and a loan facility of ZAR10m. The agreements will result in Sail acquiring 
approximately 90% of Chrometco in return for the cash consideration, controlling stake in two 
of Sail’s fully financed chrome projects and a stake in Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd (“Sail Minerals”). 
Sail Minerals is a South African based subsidiary of Sail which was established in 2013 and 
engages in marketing and distribution of chrome and other iron-alloy related products. The 
publicly declared strategic business plan is to incorporate the Sail projects as majority owned 
subsidiaries under the Chrometco listed entity, with Sail assuming majority ownership of 
Chrometco; and with 25% of Sail's trading arm being owned by Chrometco 
(www.sailgroup.com). Chrometco has entered into an agreement to acquire 51% of Palm 
Chrome Holdings Proprietary Limited (“Palm Chrome”) in exchange for 200 million Chrometco 
ordinary shares (“Palm Chrome Acquisition”). Furthermore, Chrometco has entered into an 
agreement to acquire 51% of Black Chrome Holdings Proprietary Limited (“Black Chrome”) 
and 25% of Sail Minerals Proprietary Limited (“Sail”) in exchange for 2,205 million Chrometco 
ordinary shares (“Black Chrome Acquisition”). The Palm Chrome Acquisition and the Black 
Chrome Acquisition constitute a category 1 acquisition and a reverse takeover in terms of the 
JSE Listings Requirements and require Chrometco Shareholder approval by way of an 
ordinary resolution.  

Sail will continue to provide the funding required for the development of the chrome projects 
and according to Sail’s press releases (www.sailgroup.com) it considers that the new entity 
will be well placed to become a significant contributor to the global chrome market and the 
combined Rooderand, Black Chrome Mine and Palm Chrome Projects have been estimated 
by Sail to have a joint capability to produce ±1.0Mt of high grade chrome ore per annum at 
competitive cost.  
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1.2 Purpose of the CPR 

As noted in Section 1.1, Chrometco is listed on the JSE and the proposed acquisition by Sail 
would constitute a Category 1 transaction for which a CPR is required in terms of Chapter 12 
of the JSE Listing Requirements. IRES was commissioned to prepare the CPR in an 
Engagement Letter and IRES understands that this CPR will be submitted to the JSE as part 
of a circular to shareholders. 

The CPR has been compiled in order to incorporate all the available and material information 
that potential future finance providers and their advisors would reasonably require in order to 
make balanced and reasoned judgments regarding the techno-economic merits of the mineral 
asset. IRES’s primary obligation in preparing mineral asset reports for the public domain is to 
describe mineral projects in compliance with the reporting codes applicable under the 
jurisdiction in which the company operates. In this case, the CPR has been prepared in 
compliance with and to the extent required by the 2016 “South African Code for Reporting of 
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves” (“SAMREC” Code, 2016), 
published under the joint auspices of the Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy 
(“SAIMM”) and the Geological Society of South Africa (“GSSA”) as well as the new Chapter 
12 of the JSE Listing Requirements. The CPR describes the Rooderand Project in terms of its 
historical and recent exploration data, which would have a bearing on the techno-economic 
value of the assets.  

The disclosure in terms of the environmental and social aspects of the Rooderand Project has 
been made according to the “South African Guideline for the Reporting of Environmental, 
Social and Governance Parameters within the mining and Oil and Gas Industries” (the 
“SAMESG Guideline or SAMESG”) published by the South African Environmental, Social and 
Governance Committee.  

The mineral asset valuation included in the CPR has been prepared in compliance with, and 
to the extent required by, the South African Code for the Reporting of Mineral Asset 
Valuation” (“SAMVAL” 2016), published under the joint auspices of the SAIMM and the 
GSSA. 

IRES consents to the publication of this CPR in the circular and to the referencing of any part 
of this CPR, provided that no portion is used out of context or in such a manner as to convey 
a meaning which differs from that set out in the whole report 

The effective date of this CPR is 3 May 2017. 

1.3 Scope of the Report and Scope of Work  

The scope of work involved the following aspects and was a full evaluation at the current point 
of project development: 

 an independent technical review of the exploration data base with a view to 
assessing the quality and reliability of the data base, with checks and 
verifications as required by SAMREC, in order to determine the suitability for 
incorporation into a Mineral Resource estimate; 

 the creation of detailed geological models for the chrome resources and high 
level models for the platinum resources, determination of the prospects for 
eventual economic extraction, and declaration of Mineral Resource 
estimates; 

 assessment of possible mining and processing options in relation to the 
further development of the Project; 

 assessment of the environmental and social compliance status and the 
identification of any fatal flaws to eventual extraction; 

 Mineral Asset Valuation according to SAMVAL; and 
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 compilation of a CPR with an effective data of 3 May 2017 compliant with 
SAMREC, SAMVAL and Section 12 requirements of the JSE. The 
compliance codes are presented in green text beneath each heading with 
SR, SV, SG and JSE 12 representing SAMREC, SAMVAL, SAMESG and the 
JSE Chapter 12 requirements, respectively. 

As stated in SAMREC Section 3 “The estimation of Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves 
is inherently subject to some level of uncertainty and inaccuracy. The estimates are based on 
analytical results of samples that commonly represent only a small portion of a mineral 
deposit”. The uncertainty of the estimates, where material, are explained in this CPR and are 
reflected in the appropriate choice of Exploration Target, Mineral Resource and Mineral 
Reserve categories. 

IRES has undertaken an independent technical review of the Rooderand Project in order to 
identify all the factors of a technical and strategic nature that would influence the future 
viability of the Project and the review accords with the principles of open and transparent 
disclosure that are embodied in internationally accepted Codes for Corporate Governance. 
The CPR has been based upon technical information which has been supplied by Chrometco 
and its appointed consultants, and which has been independently due diligenced, where 
possible. 

IRES confirms that, to the best of its knowledge and having taken all reasonable care to 
ensure that such is the case, the information contained in the CPR is in accordance with the 
facts, contains no omission likely to affect its import, and no material change has occurred 
from the effective date hereof that would require any amendment to the CPR. 

The author of this report is not qualified to provide extensive commentary on the legal aspects 
of the Project or Chrometco’s right to the mineral asset, the status of any claims against the 
property or Chrometco, the legality of agreements or other pertinent conditions. IRES has 
reviewed copies of the relevant mining right authorizations, and these have been reviewed to 
the satisfaction of IRES. No warranty or guarantee, be it express or implied, is made by the 
authors with respect to the completeness or accuracy of the legal aspects of this document. 

IRES reserves the right to, but will not be obliged to, revise this report or sections therein, and 
conclusions thereto, if additional information becomes known to IRES subsequent to the date 
of this report. It must be noted that this review does not form an assurance report in 
accordance with the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (“IAASB”) 
standards. 

1.4 Terms of Reference 

Chrometco did not provide any specific Terms of Reference for the engagement neither in the 
preparation of the CPR nor the valuation. 

The contractual agreement with Chrometco for the preparation of the CPR was with IRES and 
not the Competent Person (“CP”) as an individual. In terms of this contract, the CP acts as a 
representative of IRES. In the light of the requirements of SAMREC and SAMVAL, the CP 
must provide opinions and conclusions, therefore throughout this CPR, the terms IRES and 
CP are used synonymously but this usage does not impact on the underlying legal and 
contractual arrangements. 

IRES has used the term platinum group elements (“PGE”) throughout the CPR as opposed to 
platinum group metals (“PGMs”) as a means of avoiding confusion since published reports 
can use PGM to refer to platinum group minerals (Cawthorn 2002) which behave 
geochemically differently to PGEs in the Bushveld Complex. 

Convention in the mining industry is to loosely use the terms “chrome” or “Cr2O3
” resources in 

their Mineral Resource statements. The more accurate terminology would be chromium 
resources referring to the element, as is the convention for gold and base metals etc. 
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However this is not a norm and therefore IRES has chosen to term the chromium bearing 
resources in this CPR “chromite” Mineral Resources which are hosted in a chromitite rock 
comprised largely of the spinel mineral chromite - FeCr2O3. 

Chromitite layers or horizons are called “reefs” in this document but this terminology does not 
imply any intrinsic economic viability.  

Unless explicitly stated, all units presented in this report are in the Système Internationale (i.e. 
metric tonnes (t), kilometers (km), meters (m), and centimeters (cm). 

1.4.1 Property name nomenclature 

The Project comprises two adjacent mining rights on two portions of the farm Rooderand 
46JQ (Figure 3 and Figure 6). The historical changes to the portion sizes and names has 
caused considerable confusion in previous technical documentation and the following context 
must be remembered when dealing with historical technical documents. The original farm 
Rooderand 46JQ was sub-divided into four portions (“Ptn”), namely Ptn 1, 2, 3 and the 
original mining rights granted in 1997 were awarded for two portions of those portions, namely 
Ptn2 and the remainder extent (“RE”) as shown on the tenure diagrams (Figure 6). 
Subsequently, additional portions were subdivided to accommodate changes to the 
Pilanesberg National Park boundary with accompanying nomenclature and property size 
changes as follows: 

 Ptn7 was subdivided from Rooderand 46JQ Ptn 3 with the original Ptn 3 now 
called RE/Ptn3; 

 Ptn5 was subdivided from Rooderand 46JQ RE but no name change was 
applied to the portion;  

 Ptn6 was removed from Rooderand Ptn2 with the original Ptn2 now called 
RE/Ptn2; and  

 Ptn4 was removed from Rooderand 46JQ Ptn1 with the original Ptn1 now 
called RE/Ptn1. 

The Rooderand Project comprises current mining rights over Rooderand 46JQ RE and 
RE/Ptn2 as shown on Figure 6. The actual tenure is discussed in Section 15. 

It is important to note that at no point did Chrometco or the previous owners of the rights over 
original Rooderand 46 JQ RE, conduct any exploration over the area which was to become 
Ptn5 and now forms part of the Pilanesberg National Park. 

1.4.2 Units of currency 

The valuations in this CPR have all been carried out in South African Rands (ZAR). No 
exchange rates have been used as prices are also quoted in ZAR. All other units used in this 
CPR are defined in the text. 

2 Statement of Independence 

This CPR has been authored by Mr. D Ferreira in the employ of IRES. Neither IRES nor its 
staff have, or have had, any interest in the Project capable of affecting their ability to give an 
unbiased opinion and, have not received, and will not receive, any pecuniary or other benefits 
in connection with this assignment, other than normal consulting fees. Neither IRES nor any 
of its personnel involved in the preparation of this CPR have any material interest in either the 
Rooderand Project, Chrometco or Sail. IRES was remunerated on a fixed fee basis for the 
preparation of this report, with no part of the fee contingent on the conclusions reached or the 
content of this report. Except for these fees, IRES, has not received and will not receive any 
pecuniary or other benefit whether direct or indirect for or in connection with the preparation of 
this report. 
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3 Competent Persons’ Declaration and Qualifications 

IRES is an independent advisory company. The Competent Person, in terms of the SAMREC 
Code, responsible for this report is Mr. Dexter S. Ferreira, Senior Geostatistician and Mining 
Engineer at IRES. The valuation was completed by the Competent Valuator (“CV”) Mr. Iaan 
Myburgh at Mineral Valuation Group (Pty) Ltd. 

Mr. Ferreira is a senior geostatistician with over 25 years’ experience in project evaluation 
internationally, including extensive involvement with mineral projects throughout Canada, 
South America and Africa. Mr. Ferreira is a member of the South African Council for Natural 
Scientific Professions, and qualifies as an ‘Expert’, ‘Competent Person’ and ‘Qualified Person’ 
as defined in the Australasian Joint Ore Reserve Committee (“JORC”) Code and the 
Canadian National Instrument 43-101. The signatories to this report are qualified to express 
their professional opinions on the technical aspects and value of the mineral asset described.  

The technical and economic information provided in the CPR is correct to the best of the 
Competent Persons’ and Competent Valuator’s knowledge, having followed best endeavors. 
The analyses and conclusions of the valuation are limited only by the reported forecasts and 
conditions as well as the inherent risks discussed. 

4 Reliance on Experts 

The information and conclusions within this report are based on information made available to 
IRES by Chrometco and its external consultants at the time of the preparation of this report. 
IRES has reviewed the information provided as best as is possible given the diverse 
exploration studies undertaken and the historical changes of ownership. Chrometco has 
reviewed draft copies of this report for factual errors. Any changes made as a result of this 
review did not involve any alteration to the conclusions made.  

IRES has reviewed the Environmental Management Plan (“EMP”) and Social and Labor Plan 
(“SLP”) that were prepared for prospecting and mining right applications. These studies were 
undertaken by Sound Mining Solutions (Pty) Ltd and DCM Mining (Pty) Ltd and IRES has 
relied on the findings of these studies. 

IRES has relied on the surveying expertise and maps provided by Mr. P Greyling. 

IRES has not independently conducted any title or litigation searches but has relied upon 
Chrometco for information on the property title, agreements and other pertinent conditions. In 
compiling this CPR, IRES, made use of and relied upon the independent opinion of the 
experts specified in the Table 1. In the process of reviewing and verifying, where possible, the 
information provided, IRES has used the following technical documents with permission from 
the authors and has consulted with the various experts listed in Table 1. 
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Table 1: Sources of Information and Reliance on Other Experts 

Consultant Company 
Type Of 

Document 
Date Study 

N A Bleeker 

N.A. Bleeker 
Geological 
Services cc. 
(Bleeker 
Geological 
Services) 

CPR Mar-05 
CPR on the mineral assets 
of Chrometco Limited for the 
purpose of listing on the JSE 

CPs which 
compiled the CPR 
were not disclosed 

The Mineral 
Corporation (Pty) 
Limited (Mineral 
Corporation) 

CPR Jun-09 

CPR - "Exploration Results 
and Mineral Resource 
Estimates for Chrome 
Deposits on the Farm 
Rooderand 46JQ" - C-DCM-
ROO-773-536. 

N A Bleeker 

N.A. Bleeker 
Geological 
Services cc. 
(Bleeker 
Geological 
Services) 

Memorandum Nov-10 

Recalculation of Potential 
Mineral Resources of 
Portion 2 and Remainder 
Extent of the Farm 
Rooderand 46JQ. 

Z Dube 
NKWE Platinum 
Ltd (Nkwe) 

Internal report Apr-14 
Summary of exploration 
work completed for NKWE 
Platinum 

Various 
International Ferro 
Metals Ltd (IFM) 

Field Reports 
July – 
August 
2014 

Additional Drillhole 
Exploration 

R Hanley 
Shango Solutions 
(Pty) Ltd 

Memorandum Mar-17 
Drilling program, Mineral 
Resource estimate 

Various including 
D Gray, G 
Greenway, D H 
Kullmann, F 
Grobler 

Snowden Ltd 
(Snowden) 

Mineral Resource 
estimate and 
conceptual 

financial model 
and valuation 

Resource 

Feb and 
March 
2006 

PGE estimation within the 
Rooderand concessions. 

Dr Andrew Mitchel 
Independent 
consultant  

Supervision of the 
relogging, 

sampling and 
QA/QC protocols 

2016 
Verification of the original 
Nkwe Platinum exploration 
program 

5 Sources of Information 

IRES have based its review of Chrometco’s Rooderand Project on information provided by 
Chrometco together with technical reports supplied by its consultants and associates and 
other relevant published data. A full list of all sources of information is provided in Section 27. 
The historic drillhole sites and Project boundaries have been independently surveyed by P 
Greyling, who provided the certified maps for the mining and prospecting right applications 
and which were used as the basis for the maps and diagrams provided in this CPR. 
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6 Personal Inspection 

Mr. D Ferreira visited the Rooderand Project several times since January 2011 and lastly in 
late 2016. During his visits, Mr. Ferreira observed the historical mining activities, and 
examined the outcrop of various chromitite reefs within the open pits. During the site visits, all 
infrastructure, historical workings, a selection of historical drillhole sites and the boundary 
fence with the Pilanesberg National Park were inspected.  

The Rooderand Project is an exploration project according to SAMREC definitions and 
consequently there is minimal infrastructure developed. However the drillhole sites and 
Project boundaries have been independently surveyed by P Greyling, who provided the 
certified maps for the new order mining and prospecting right applications. 

Numerous site visits have been undertaken by previous consultancies since 2004 including 
Bleeker Geological Services (Pty) Ltd (“Bleeker Geological Services”), The Mineral 
Corporation (Pty) Ltd (“Mineral Corporation”), Shango Solutions (Pty) Ltd (“Shango”), The 
Snowden Group (Pty) Ltd (“Snowden”) and Independent Resource Estimations (Pty) Ltd 
(“IRES”). 

7 Chrometco Corporate Structure 

The current Chrometco corporate structure is provided in Figure 1 which shows the 26% BEE 
shareholding through two separate entities. The proposed post transaction corporate 
structure is also provided in Figure 1 . 

8 Project Outline – Property Description  

The Rooderand Project is a hybrid between a Dormant Property (see Glossary Table 32) 
according to the SAMVAL definitions, namely a historically mined property with remaining 
resources, and an Exploration Property (SAMVAL definition, see Glossary Table 32) which is 
actively being explored. The Project is located within the western limb of the Bushveld 
Complex on the northern boundary of the Pilanesberg Nature Reserve, 60km northwest of 
Rustenburg and 30km southwest of the town of Northam. The Project is focused on 
assessing the potential of the platinum and chromite mineral resources known to exist in this 
portion of the Bushveld Complex (Figure 2).  

The Project comprises two adjacent mining rights on two portions of the farm Rooderand 
46JQ (Figure 5). The historical references to the farm portion names has caused considerable 
confusion in technical documentation and the following context must be remembered when 
dealing with historical technical documents (see Section 1.4.1). The Rooderand Project 
comprises Rooderand 46JQ RE and RE/Ptn2 as shown on the legal tenure diagram  
(Figure 6).  

It is important to note that at no point did Chrometco or the previous owners of the rights over 
original Rooderand 46 JQ RE, conduct any exploration over the area which was to become 
Ptn5 and now forms part of the Pilanesberg National Park. 

The Project is located directly south of the currently operational, platinum producing 
Tuschenkomst open pit mine operated by Pilanesberg Platinum Mines Ltd, a subsidiary of 
Sedibelo Platinum Mines (Pty) held via Platmin South Africa (previously Boynton).  

The historical exploration on the Project area has been undertaken by several different 
owners over a period of at least 13 years and a considerable exploration database exists. The 
Project has been assessed for both its PGE and chromite potential and numerous studies 
have been completed to an advanced level. The farm Rooderand 46JQ is underlain by three 
potentially viable chrome-bearing horizons, the LG6, the LG5 and the MG4 chromitite reefs.  
However, some of this historical data is confidential and unavailable to Chrometco and 
although feasibility studies and mine designs have been undertaken for portions of the Project 
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resources, these have not been verified and have not yet been translated into scoping or 
feasibility studies by Chrometco.  

In addition, some historical mining has taken place both on surface and underground, as 
shown in Figure 15. 

Figure 1: Chrometco Corporate Structure 
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9 Project Outline – Property Location, Access and Infrastructure 

The Rooderand Project is located 60km northwest of Rustenburg and 30km southwest of the 
town of Northam, within the Pilanesberg area of North West Province of South Africa as 
shown in Figure 2. Rustenburg serves the surrounding mining industry and provides a full 
range of urban amenities, including medical, educational, financial, retail and commercial 
services and tarred roads link the Project area to Rustenburg, Johannesburg and Pretoria 
(the capital of South Africa), approximately 150km to the southeast. 

The southern boundary of the properties adjoin the northern boundary of the Pilanesberg 
National Park and the Bakgatla-Ba-Kgafela (“Bakgatla”) tribal community is the most 
prominent local community in this region.  

The Rooderand Project will be located in the southern extremity of a proposed conservation 
corridor to link the adjacent Pilanesberg National Park in the south with the Madikwe Game 
Reserve in the northwest, to form a single enlarged conservation area of some 250,000ha to 
be known as the Heritage Park (Figure 4). The proposed Heritage Park has the support of the 
local and provincial authorities, various non-government organizations and the private sector 
including landowners in the area.  

The Project location in close proximity to a National Park and within the planned zone of a 
Heritage Park has implications for the Project and infrastructure development strategy which 
will have to take cognizance of the region as an environmental sanctuary and tourist 
destination, but poses no threat to the establishment of a mining operation on the Rooderand 
Project area as this likelihood has been considered in the granting of the mining rights to both 
Sedibelo and Chrometco, and the development of the adjacent Tuschenkomst Mine was 
unhindered. 

The Rooderand Project is located in a region of extensive historical and current mining 
activities, dominated by chrome and platinum mines and development projects within a 30km 
radius of the Project area. The region is served with well-established infrastructure which 
includes access to the national tarred road system, access to the national power grid 
(supplied by Eskom), access to a rail link 30km to the east of the Project area and access to 
telecommunications networks. The region has a water resource availability shortage which 
can be considered a potential risk for the future development of mining operations in the 
region but current operations are not hampered by insufficient water supply. Water to the 
neighbouring Tuschenkomst Mine is supplied from two sources, namely groundwater from 12 
boreholes, currently supplying 0.8Ml/day, and the majority from the regional water supplier, 
the Magalies Water Board (“MWB”) via Saulspoort (Moruleng) to the east.  

Chrometco has drilled a number of drillholes for the provision of drinking water at various 
community sites and current water supply is underground water via boreholes. Electricity for 
the Rooderand Project may be sourced from a nearby 88kV power line on the farm 
Wilgespruit 2JQ (Figure 5) which forms part of the Eskom national grid directly west of 
Rooderand. 

The property is accessed by a system of all-weather surface national roads, local gravel 
roads and intra-property access routes. The Project can be accessed via route R565 from 
Rustenburg through Boshoek as well as the main road between Mabeskraal and Moruleng 
(historically known as Saulspoort). 
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Figure 2: Regional Locality and Infrastructure of the Western Limb of the Bushveld 
Complex 
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Figure 3: Satellite Image of the Rooderand Project Area 
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Figure 4: Proposed Heritage Park 
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The area is rural and densely settled in places with the main land uses including residential 
areas, subsistence dry land agriculture, small-scale commercial agriculture and livestock 
grazing. The Project and neighboring Tuschenkomst operation area is surrounded by 
communities, mining operations, conservation and eco-tourism activities, associated with 
private land and the Pilanesberg Game Reserve.  

The boundaries of the Rooderand Project area have been independently surveyed by Mr. P 
Greyling and the resultant certified map was used as the basis for the mining right 
applications by Chrometco. The Rooderand Project area is mainly rural with sufficient land 
available for any future infrastructure, process plant and a tailings storage facility (“TSF”), the 
location of which is not restricted or confined to a single option. 

10 Project Outline - Physiography 

The Rooderand Project is located within the internal plateau of South Africa and experiences 
a typical South African highveld climate with maximum temperatures in summer between 
28°C to 32°C and minimum temperatures during winters rarely reaching below −4°C. 
Precipitation is usually in the form of thunderstorms during summer and these sudden 
downpours pose some risk of flooding in low-lying areas. However, most South African mines 
are exposed to this weather and precautionary measures are routine on most operations. The 
average annual rainfall varies from 380mm to 700mm, with the peak of the rainy season 
occurring in January. Winters are dry and sunny. The moderate climate means that 
exploration and mining operations can be undertaken throughout the year, with no 
extraordinary measures required. 

The topography of the Rooderand Project and environs is characteristically flat-lying with low 
ground slope angles, slightly undulating topography with only one prominent topographical 
high, namely the Pilanesberg Complex mountain range which borders the property toward the 
south of the Project (Figure 5 and Figure 6). The properties occur at elevations of between 
1,085 meters above mean sea level (mamsl) to 1,140mamsl, and are mostly covered in a 
montmorillonite rich, black cotton soil.  

An intermittent stream flows north-westwards along the western farm boundary from the 
Pilanesberg into the Motlhabe River, with the intermittent Bierspruit, Wilgespruit and Lesele 
non-perennial streams draining north-eastwards across the eastern part of the farm. Most of 
the area is covered by surficial deposits (red clays, black turf etc.) derived from the 
weathering of the underlying Bushveld Complex and adjacent Pilanesberg Complex rocks. 

Vegetation is typically savannah grasslands mixed with thorn trees. 

11 Project Outline – Country Profile 
11.1 Political and economic climate 

South Africa gained independence from Britain on the 31 May 1910, and was declared a 
republic in 1961. From 1948 until 1990, the South African political and legal systems were 
based upon the concept of apartheid, a philosophy of separate racial development, enforced 
by a white minority government. The first multiracial elections in 1994 brought an end to 
apartheid and ushered in black majority rule under the African National Congress (ANC), with 
a number of different political parties participating in the elections. The country continues to 
hold democratic, peaceful, free and fair elections, the last of which was won by the ANC in 
2014, under the leadership of President Jacob Zuma. 

South Africa is the most advanced economy in Africa and provides the gateway to Sub-
Saharan Africa. It is classified as a middle-income emerging market, with well-developed 
financial, legal and judicial systems and modern infrastructure. 
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Between 2004 and 2008 South Africa grew economically as a result of macroeconomic 
stability and a global commodities boom, but growth slowed in the second half of 2008 and 
2009 due to poor global economic conditions, which influenced commodity prices and 
demand. Gross Domestic Product (GDP) fell almost 2% in 2009, worsening the country’s 
already high unemployment levels. However, in 2010, 2011,2012 and 2013, the country again 
reflected a positive economic growth rate, with 2.8%, 3.4%, 2.2% and 2.2% real GDP growth 
rates, respectively (CIA, 2016). The country experienced a drop in GDP in 2014, with real 
GDP dropping to 1.5% (CIA 2016). Stats SA (2015) reports that the South African economy 
slowed in 2015, with a 1.3% contraction in the second quarter. However, economy expanded 
0.7% year-on-year in the last three months of 2016, above market expectations of 0.6%. A 
recovery in agriculture and stronger growth in trade, finance, real estate, business and 
government services drove the expansion, offsetting contraction in mining, manufacturing and 
utilities. GDP Annual Growth Rate in South Africa averaged 2.89% percent from 1994 until 
2016, reaching an all-time high of 7.10% in the fourth quarter of 2006 and a record low of -
2.60% in the second quarter of 2009. 

South African economic policy is fiscally conservative but pragmatic. The country attempts to 
control inflation by keeping it within an acceptable range (3% to 6%), maintains a budget 
surplus, uses State-owned enterprises to deliver basic services to low-income areas and 
provides social grants to a quarter of the population.  

Currency and inflation volatility, poverty, income disparities, and poor availability of public 
services continue to characterize the country, however, and inflation levels rose to 6.3% in 
February 2017. 

11.2 Minerals industry 

The minerals industry has contributed approximately 8% of South Africa’s 2016 GDP, but this 
contribution was less significant than previous year’s contributions as the industry 
experienced an overall decline in growth of 4.7% (StatsSA, 2016a). 

South Africa has a mature minerals industry developed from gold and diamond discoveries in 
the late 1800s. The country is the world’s largest producer of platinum, chrome and vanadium 
and ranks highly in the production of diamonds, coal, iron ore and base metals. South Africa 
hosts a number of large orebodies such as the Bushveld Complex and the Witwatersrand 
Basin, as well as rich diamond fields and extensive coalfields.  

One of the greatest challenges associated with the minerals and mining industry in South 
Africa is the rising costs of labor, electricity, diesel and steel, among other costs. Labor and 
community unrest caused by low wages, particularly among contract workers and under-
resourced communities has proved problematic in recent years and exacerbated 
municipalities’ inability to provide adequate infrastructure to communities. The Q3 2016 South 
African Mining Industry Report by BMI indicated that South Africa has the highest cost of 
labor as a percentage of total costs among the major producers, averaging approximately 
60%, whereas peers such as the United States and Australia average between 30% to 40%.  
The high proportion of labor cost in South Africa is as a result of labor-intensive deep-level 
conventional mining prevalent in South Africa.  

Other important concerns for the mining industry are the effect of HIV/Aids on the workforce 
and the recent downgrading of the country’s credit risk rating to sub-investment grade. 
Although the South African political system has credibility, the political risk index, as reflected 
in BMI’s Q4 2016 South African Country Risk Report, indicates that factors such as the 
country’s high degree of unionization, the threat of industrial action and disruption to 
economic activity are a constant concern to investors. 

11.3 Minerals policy and legislative framework 

The South African Government has an extensive legal framework within which mining, 
environmental and social aspects are managed. Inclusive within the framework are 
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international treaties and protocols, and national acts, regulations, standards, and guidelines 
which address international, national, provincial and local management areas.  

The role of the South African Government and the associated respective ministries can be 
summarized as follows: 

 the guardian of environmental legislative requirements (as enforced by the 
Constitution); 

 acting as responsible mechanism to serve the public and taxpayers’ interest 
and to ensure a safe and healthy environment; 

 promoter of sustainable development; 
 final inheritor of remaining problems and mine legacies; and 
 the regulator of the activities within industry. 

The Government of South Africa has been undertaking significant reform in terms of 
environmental legislation. The driving force behind this is the need to support the overall 
national objective of sustainable development.  

Most recently, in 2015, the government of South Africa published the National Environmental 
Management Laws Amendment Bill for public comment and in November 2015 promulgated 
the Financial Provision Regulations which apply to prospecting, exploration and mining or 
production operations. 

The on-going amendments are part of the One Environmental System, which aims to bring 
the mining industry within the scope of the environmental management system that has 
applied to other industries for many years, as well as to streamline the overall environmental 
permitting process. 

South African statutory legislation and requirements include the following and are 
summarized in Table 39: 

 the Constitution of South Africa (Act No.108 of 1996); 
 Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act (Act No.28 of 2002) 

(“MPRDA”); 
 Mineral and Petroleum Resources Royalty Act (Act 28 of 2008) (“MPRRA”); 
 Broad-Based Socio-Economic Charter (and associated amendments, 2010), 

also known as the Mining Charter; 
 National Environmental Management Act (Act No.107 of 1998) (“NEMA”); 
 National Environmental Management: Air Quality Act (Act No.39 of 2004) 

(“NEM:AQA”); 
 National Environmental Management: Waste Act (Act No.59 of 2008) 

(“NEM:WA”); 
 National Water Act (Act No.36 of 1998) (“NWA”; 
 National Heritage Resources Act (Act No.25 of 1999) (“NHRA”); 
 National Environmental Management: Protected Areas Act (Act No.57 of 

2003) (“NEM:PAA”); 
 National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act (Act No.10 of 2004) 

(“NEM:BA”); 
 National Forests Act (Act No.30 of 1998) (“NFA”); 
 Hazardous Substances Act (Act No.15 of 1973) (“HAS”); 
 Explosives Act (Act No.25 of 1956) (“NEA”); 
 Mine Health and Safety Act (Act No.29 of 1996) (“MHSA”) and amendments;  
 National Road Traffic Act, 1993, (Act No.93 of 1996) (“NRTA”); and 
 New Broad-Based Black-Economic Empowerment Charter for the South 

African Mining Industry (also known as the New Mining Charter), scheduled 
to be enacted in March 2017, but reportedly delayed on 7 April 2017. 
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12 Project Outline – Regional and Adjacent Properties 
12.1 Regional Neighbors 

The discussion of the regional and adjacent mining properties should be read in the context of 
the regional geology (Section 16, Figure 7). The intrusion of the Pilanesberg Alkaline 
Complex into the Bushveld Complex resulted in structurally complex geology in the vicinity of 
the alkaline complex and the disturbed nature of the Bushveld Complex units in this area is 
well known and documented. The region has been explored for both chromitite and PGEs, 
with operations exploiting both commodities in the immediate environs of the Rooderand 
Project.  

West of the Pilanesberg Alkaline Complex, the Lower Critical Zone units of the Rustenburg 
Layered Suite (see Section 16.1) outcrop on surface and the Lower Group chromitite reef No 
6 (LG6) has been mined at several localities, including Horizon Mine owned by the 
GlencorXstrata-Merafe Resources Joint Venture on the farm Ruighoek (see Figure 5) and 
several defunct operations such as Samancor’s Bathlako Chrome Mine. Various small 
historical open pit operations and some underground mines, have exploited the chromitites in 
the region and the northward projection of the reef outcrops on and to the north of the 
Rooderand Project is clear from aerial distribution of these old surface workings.  

The numerous platinum mines and development projects on the western limb of the Bushveld 
Complex are shown in Figure 2. The Union Section Mine, approximately 20km north of the 
Rooderand Project is one of the older mines of Anglo Platinum’s Rustenburg Platinum Mines 
Propriety Limited (“RPM”). 

The Western Bushveld Joint Venture (“WBJV”) is divided into three distinct project areas 
along the western limb of the Bushveld Complex, next to Anglo Platinum’s Bafokeng 
Rasimone Platinum Mine (“BRPM”) (Figure 2).  

12.2 Adjacent properties 

In the 1950s, Anglo American explored for chromitite on various farms to the north and 
northeast of Rooderand, but no potential for PGEs was noted. Shallow opencast and 
underground mining by Anglo American of the LG6 chromite reef in the north of the 
Rooderand Project area was carried out in the late 1950s and into the 1960s. Surface 
extraction of the LG5 to a depth of a few meters and along 100m of strike was also carried out 
adjacent to the LG6 operations.  

Sedibleo Platinum Mines Limited (“Sedibelo”, previously Platmin Limited), owns exploration 
projects surrounding Rooderand on the farms Tuschenkomst 135JP, Witkleifontein 136JP, 
Wilgespruit 2JQ and Rooderand 46JQ Ptn 1 and Ptn3 (Figure 5). The southernmost 
exploration project in the Sedibelo portfolio is Ruighoek 169JP which is separated from the 
northern projects by the farm Zandspruit 168JP, approximately 4km in length, which is held by 
Rustenburg Platinum Mines, a subsidiary of Anglo Platinum Limited (“Anglo Platinum”).   

Sedibelo’s Tuschenkomst open pit operation is operated by Pilanesberg Platinum Mines 
Limited (“PPM”) and comprises the operational west pit bordering Rooderand (Figure 3) and 
the planned east pit located on Wilgespruit 2JQ. The Upper Group 2 Chromitite Layer (“UG2”) 
concentrator plant was commissioned in March 2009 and produced the first concentrate in 
April 2009. A separate concentrator plant to process the Merensky Reef (“MR”) ore was 
commissioned in July 2009 and a dense medium separator (“DMS”) plant was commissioned 
in August 2009. The PPM concentrator complex is located approximately 2km from 
Rooderand and comprises two parallel processing plants for UG2 and Merensky respectively. 
The design processing and milling capacities of the concentrator are 417 kilo tonnes per 
month (“ktpm”) and 285ktpm respectively. The 132ktpm difference is a dense medium 
separator for upgrading reefs. The two milling streams have design capacities of 220ktpm 
silicates (pseudo reef package) and 65ktpm for UG2 reef. A chrome recovery plant is under 
construction in the UG2 processing stream. Discussions to process Rooderand material 
through the PPM facility have been ongoing for some time, since it is the most likely 
processing route for the Rooderand UG2 run-of-mine (“RoM”). After PPM’s completion of its 
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chromium extraction section from the Merensky reef, the Rooderand Merensky reef RoM 
could also be processed. 

Anglo Platinum holds the rights to the farms Wachteenbietjieslaagte 4JQ, Vogelstruiskraal 
400KQ and Cyferkuil 1JQ located north of Rooderand, although no mineral resources have 
been reported for these properties (Figure 5). 

13 Project Outline – History of Ownership and Exploration Activities 

The exploration history and ownership of the properties that constitute the Rooderand Project 
are summarized in Table 2. It is important to note that the two properties have been the target 
of exploration and mining activities for both chromitite and PGEs by various companies during 
the same period in time. 

In 1998, Xpectrade11 (Pty) Ltd, later renamed Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd, a 
subsidiary of Canadian Chromex Development Ltd was granted an old order mining right over 
RE and RE/Ptn2 of the farm Rooderand 46JQ. Thereafter the rights were owned as 
summarized below: 

Table 2: History of the Rooderand Project - Ownership and Exploration 
Owner Period Right Property Activity Commodity Reefs 

Anglo American 
Limited 

1950  

Rooderand and 
properties 
northeast of 
Rooderand 

Exploration chromitite  

Anglo American 
Limited 

Late 1950s 
to 1960s 

 
Northern portions 
of RE and 
RE/Ptn2 

Underground mining below 
surface rock dumps. 
Underground workings 
limited Chrometco's ability 
to mine on surface 

chromitite LG6 

TLC 
Late 1950s 
to 1960s 

Unknown 
Anecdotal 
evidence - RE  

Percussion drilling of 23 
drillholes and mining to 20m 
depth. 

chromitite 

LG6 

Surface extraction to depth 
of a few meters adjacent to 
LG6 operations for 100m 

LG5 

Xpectrade11 (Pty) 
Ltd (later renamed 
Pilanesberg Mining 
Company (Pty) Ltd a 
subsidiary of 
Canadian Chromex 
Development Ltd  

28-Jul-97 

Old order 
mining right - 

valid 
indefinitely 

RE and original 
Ptn2 

Joint Venture between 
Chrometco and Pilanesberg 
Mining Company (Pty) Ltd. 
License renewed in the 
name of Chrometco 

chromitite  

Nkwe Platinum Ltd 2003 to 2004 
Prospecting 

right 
RE 

Diamond drillhole program 
and declaration of a JORC 
Mineral Resource estimate 

PGE 
Merensky 
and UG2 

Chrometco Limited 2004 -  2005 
Old order 

mining rights 
granted 

RE (ML 4/97)          
original Ptn2           
(ML 5/97) 

Listed on the JSE 2005 chromitite 
MG4 and 

LG6 

Further subdivision 
of the original 
Rooderand 46JQ RE 
and Ptn1, 2 ,3 by the 
National Parks 
Board for the 
Pilanesberg National 
Park boundary 

Unknown but 
before 2005 

NA Rooderand 46JQ  

Rooderand 46JQ  RE, Ptns 
1, 2, 3 further subdivided 
into Ptns 4, 5, 6, 7 and with 
RE/Ptn1, RE/Ptn2 and 
RE/Ptn3 remaining 
Boundary survey by Mr. 
Hunter of the National 
Parks Board 

NA NA 

DCM Chrome (Pty) 
Ltd 

2007 to 2008 
Chrometco 
ownership 

RE and RE/Ptn2 - 
northern part 

Conditional mining 
management and 
acquisition deal between 
DCM Mining (Pty) Ltd and 
Chrometco. Application for 
a Section 11 transfer of 
ownership. DCM Chrome 
bankrupt and deal 
terminated. DCM mined 
small scale open pit 
250,000t in 3 years 

chromitite 

LG5, 
LG6,LG7, 

MG2, 
MG3, 
MG4 

Chrometco Limited 
through Pilanesberg 

2009 
Application 
for a new 

RE 
(NW30/5/1/1/2/40   

PGE (no 
chromitite 
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Owner Period Right Property Activity Commodity Reefs 
Mining 
Company(Pty) Ltd 

order mining 
right 

5MR    RE/Ptn2 
(NW30/1/1/2/404
MR) 

data) 

Anglo American 
Platinum Corporation 
Ltd 

2006 
Prospecting 

right 
RE/Ptn2  

  
PGE  

Platmin Australia Ltd 
PLA JV with Atla 
Mining Resources 
(representative of 
Bakgatla Ba) 

2009 to 2011 

Application 
for a new 

order mining 
right. 

Financial 
difficulties 

over Smokey 
Hills 

RE/Ptn2 
PFS and additional drilling + 
inferred resource 

 UG2 

Nkwe Platinum Ltd 
and Realm 
Resources Ltd  

2013 
Prospecting 

right 
RE 

JV between the ASX listed 
companies 

PGE 
Merensky 
and UG2 

Anglo American 
Platinum Corporation 
Ltd 

2013 
Prospecting 

right 
RE/Ptn2 

Awarded after Platmin Aus 
and Atla got into financial 
difficulties. Checking for 
continuation of Platmin 
Sedibelo operations  
Inferred Mineral Resource 

PGE (no 
chromitite 

data) 

Merensky 
and UG3 

Chrometco  2012 to 2013 

Prospecting 
right 

converted to 
a mining 

right 

RE 

Acquired prospecting right 
from Nkwe and 
incorporated it into the 
mining right 

PGE  

Chrometco and 
International Ferrous 
Metals Ltd JV 

2014  RE and RE/Ptn2 

Mining royalty and 
acquisition agreement. 
Mined 28,000t open pit in 
the south of RE  

Chromitite LG6 

13.1 Chromite summary 

References in the “Competent Persons’ Report on the Mineral Assets of Chrometco Limited 
for the Purpose of Listing on the JSE” (Bleeker 2005) indicate that TLC undertook in the late 
1950s, a small-scale open pit and underground mining operation as well as a drilling program 
on the northern portion of Rooderand 46JQ RE extending northwards onto the farm 
Witkleifontein 136JP (see Figure 5, Table 2). The operation exploited the LG6 and to some 
extent the LG5 chromitite reefs.  
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Figure 5: Adjacent Properties to the Rooderand Project 
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The strike extent of the abandoned workings is 2km in a northeast direction with the 
chromitite reefs dipping approximately 10° to 30° to the southeast. Bleeker reports that 
analyses were undertaken in-house as well at independent laboratory Rock Labs Inc.  

The QA/QC of the drilling and sampling program is unavailable but the data indicates a 
consistency in Cr2O3 grade down dip to 200m depth, with the LG6 reef containing a grade of 
44.3% Cr2O3, a Cr:Fe ratio of 1.57 , a SiO2 content of 2.71% over an average thickness of 
90cm. This data is not suitable for incorporation into a Mineral Resource estimate but 
provides an independent sense check for later exploration programs in the same area. 

Chrometco acquired the chromite mining rights for both Rooderand 46JQ RE and RE/Ptn2 in 
early 2004 and when it listed in August 2005 the intention was to undertake further 
exploration, with the ultimate aim of estimating a chromite Mineral Resource and to 
commence mining. Chrometco drilled 2 diamond and 24 percussion drillholes on RE/Ptn2, 
and in doing this identified the outcrop of the MG4 reef over a strike length of 1.2km. 
Chrometco opened a bulk sample pit and undertook limited laboratory evaluation of the MG4 
chrome reef material.  

Previous mining took place on the adjacent property, which is up-dip of Chrometco's 
Rooderand 46JQ RE/Ptn2. Chrometco declared a SAMREC compliant global in situ Inferred 
Mineral Resource of 65.12 million tonnes (Mt) for the LG5, LG6 and MG4 reefs. 

In 2007 DCM Chrome (Pty) Ltd (“DCM”) entered into conditional sale of shares and mining 
agreements with Chrometco, which enabled it to mine the chromitite whilst fulfilling the 
conditions of the acquisition agreement for ZAR60m in cash, payable in annual installments 
over 5 years. During this period DCM tasked the Mineral Corporation (Pty) Ltd (“Mineral 
Corporation”) to conduct extensive exploration in a northern portion of the mining right area. 
The conditional disposal was not completed and Chrometco subsequently acquired the DCM 
drillhole data and Mineral Corporation reports, which now form part of the resource statement.  

In 2013 Chrometco entered into an agreement with Nkwe Platinum Ltd and Realm Resources 
Ltd to acquire and convert the prospecting right they had for PGEs and all other minerals on 
the RE portion of Rooderand 46JQ. As a first step in the acquisition, Chrometco acquired all 
the historical drillhole information. This transaction was completed in Dec 2014 and the 
mining right M504 was amended through a section 102 application to include PGE and base 
metals  

In 2015 Chrometco entered into a mining and management agreement with International 
Ferro Metals Ltd (IFM”) whereby IFM mined through an appointed contractor and bought ore 
mined from the south western area of the RE property. IFM subsequently went into business 
rescue.   

Several of the attempted historical chromite mining operations failed to sustain economic 
operations. The reasons for this are the poor understanding of the geology and the volatile 
and unfavorable chromite price. The geology and structure of the mineralization is better 
informed and at current prices can be shown to be economic. 

13.2 PGE summary 

Prior to the acquisition of the Rooderand 46JQ RE right by Chrometco, the RE PGE 
prospecting rights were held by Nkwe Platinum, which was listed on the ASX. Nkwe Platinum 
declared a PGE Mineral Resource according to the guidelines of the “Australasian Code for 
Reporting Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves” (“JORC Code”). The 
Mineral Resource was as follows: 

 Indicated Mineral Resource: 11.9Mt at a grade of 3.80g/t (platinum 
(“Pt”)+palladium (“Pl”)+rhodium (“Rh”)+gold (“Au”) (4E) for a PGE content of 
1.5Moz; 
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 Inferred Mineral resources: 24.8Mt at a grade of 3.8g/t 4E for a PGE content 
of 3.0Moz. 

The RE/Ptn2 right was held by Anglo Platinum, however the latter lost the prospecting right to 
a consortium of Platinum Australia Ltd (“Platmin Australia”) and Atla Mining Resources Ltd 
(“Atla”). 

Platmin Australia and Atla Resources undertook a PGE resource definition drilling program in 
2010 over RE/Ptn2 and published data indicates intersection of Merensky, UG2, Lower and 
Upper Pseudo reefs over a strike length of 1,500m and at depths between 10m and 225m 
below surface. In 2011 Platinum Australia and Atla completed a preliminary feasibility study 
(“PFS”) of the PGEs over RE/Ptn2.  

Platmin Australia announced publicly on May 2011 that the underlying exploration program 
comprised a drilling program of 238 diamond drillholes, a high resolution ground magnetic 
survey and geological mapping.  

The drillhole data is not available to Chrometco at this time but the published Mineral 
Resource estimate was reported according to JORC guidelines for the Merensky, UG2, Upper 
Pseudo and Lower Pseudo reefs and serves as an important benchmark for the same reefs 
on the Rooderand 46JQ RE as follows: 

 total PGE Mineral Resources – 28.83Mt at a grade of 4.55 4Eg/t for 4.22Moz 
contained PGEs; 

 total Merensky Reef  - 2.81Mt at grade of 10.93 4Eg/t for 0.99Moz contained 
PGEs; 

 total Upper Pseudo reef – 3.85Mt at a grade of 3.11 4Eg/t for 0.38Mo 
contained PGEs; 

 total Lower Pseudo Reef – 8.64Mt at a grade of 1.87 4Eg/t for 0.52Moz 
contained PGEs; and  

 total UG2 Reef – 13.52Mt at a grade of 5.35 4Eg/t for 2.33Moz contained 
PGEs. 

The joint venture spent approximately ZAR100 million on a closely spaced drilling campaign, 
and went on later to produce a definitive feasibility study (“DFS”). The joint venture 
subsequently lost the prospecting right to a company held by the Bakgatla ba Kgafela and 
Anglo American Platinum Corporation Ltd, namely Lexshell General Trading 49 (Pty) Ltd 
(“Lexshell Trading”). Platinum Australia still owns the drillhole data for its feasibility studies. 

Two ASX listed companies, namely Nkwe Platinum Limited (“Nkwe Platinum”) and Realm 
Resources Limited (“Realm”) created a joint venture to investigate the PGE potential of the 
Rooderand 46JQ RE for which they owned a prospecting right. In November 2012, 
Chrometco and Nkwe Platinum entered into an agreement to vend the Rooderand 46JQ RE 
PGE assets into Chrometco in exchange for shares in Chrometco.  

Under the terms of the agreement, Nkwe Platinum agreed to transfer its geological data and 
the drillhole core to Chrometco and conditionally abandon its prospecting right subject to the 
granting of the MPRDA Section 102 Consent. 

14 History – Historical Mineral Resource Estimates 

Several previous Mineral Resource estimates have been undertaken for the Rooderand 
Project as summarized below: 

14.1 2004 – RE PGE Mineral Resource 

As discussed in Section 13.2, prior to the acquisition of the Rooderand 46JQ RE right by 
Chrometco, the RE PGE prospecting rights were held by Nkwe Platinum. Nkwe Platinum 
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declared a PGE Mineral Resource according to the guidelines of the JORC code. The Mineral 
Resource was as follows: 

 Indicated Mineral Resource: 11.9Mt at a grade of 3.80g/t (platinum 
(“Pt”)+palladium (“Pl”)+rhodium (“Rh”)+gold (“Au”) (4E) for a PGE content of 
1.5Moz; 

 Inferred Mineral Resources: 24.8Mt at a grade of 3.8g/t 4E for a PGE content 
of 3.0Moz. 

14.2 2005 – RE/Ptn2  

In 2005, Chrometco instructed Mr. N.A. Bleeker, an independent consultant to complete an 
estimate of the chromite Mineral Resources based on a 24 drillhole percussion drilling 
program to delineate the strike direction of the MG4 chromitite reef and to identify any further 
chromitite reefs within the property. The results were incorporated into an Inferred Mineral 
Resource and asset valuation published in 2005 in a Competent Person’s Report for the JSE 
listing. The Inferred Mineral Resource was published as compliant with the SAMREC code of 
that time but the insufficiency of grade and specific gravity determinations would, in IRES’s 
opinion, render this estimate insufficient for current SAMREC requirements. Using an average 
Cr2O3 grade of 45.50% from regional estimates (Council for Geoscience Handbook 16), 
“Mineral Resource” estimates were calculated within the Rooderand 46JQ RE/Ptn2 only.  

The estimate is better termed an Exploration Target according to SAMREC 2016 and it is 
important to note that the potential volumes and tonnages are supported by a drilling program 
but that the grade estimates must be considered conceptual in nature.  

Table 3: Exploration Target chromite 2005 RE/Ptn2 

Unit Dip SG 
Width 
(Cm) 

Volume 
(M3) 

Tonnes 
(With 15% 
Losses) 

Cr2O3 

Content 
(Tonnes) 

LG6 14° 4.25 77.00 5,290,000 19,100,000 8,690,500 
LG5 14° 4.05 94.00 6,210,000 21,390,000 9,732,450 

MG4A 14° 3.75 97.00 4,660,000 14,890,000 6,774,950 
Total 16,160,000* 55,380,000* 25,190,000* 

Source: Bleeker 2005 
The Exploration Target is not a Mineral Resource but is conceptual in nature and there has been insufficient 
exploration to define a Mineral Resource and it is uncertain if further exploration could result in the determination of a 
Mineral Resource 
Apparent computational errors are the result of rounding 
*rounded down to express uncertainty of the estimate 

15 Legal Tenure and Permitting 
15.1 Legal Aspects and tenure  

The properties Rooderand 46JQ RE and RE/Ptn2 are situated within the Ruighoek Section of 
the north-western Bushveld Complex. The properties are located in the Northam District of 
the North West Province on the north-western side of the Pilanesberg Intrusion, 
approximately 25km southwest of the town Northam, approximately 7km northeast of the farm 
Ruighoek, approximately 12km northwest of Maroleng, approximately 9km southeast of 
Mothabe and approximately 60km north-northwest of Rustenburg. Rooderand 46JQ occurs 
immediately east and south of the farms Zandspruit 168JP, Witkleifontein 136JP and 
Tuschenkomst 135JP; farms being mined by Sedibelo (Figure 5).  

In 2004, Chrometco held old order mining rights for chrome over Rooderand 46JQ RE (ML 
4/97, 534.5ha) and RE/Ptn2 (ML5/97, 534.6ha) through a joint venture with Pilanesberg 
Mining Company (Pty) Ltd (Pilanesberg Mining Company) (Table 2, Figure 6).The joint 
venture gave Chrometco 100% control of the mining licenses for its exclusive use until the 
licenses were renewed in the name of a Chrometco subsidiary. The conversions to new order 
rights were applied for by Pilanesberg Mining Company on 18 March 2009. 
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In December 2011, the old order rights were successfully converted into new order mining 
rights under the MPRDA (Act No. 28 of 2002) (Table 4) (Figure 6). The new order mining 
rights reflected changes in the farm boundaries, some of which were instigated to 
accommodate changes to the Pilanesberg National Park boundaries. In 2009, Ptn5, as shown 
on Figure 6 was subdivided from Rooderand JQ RE with a concomitant reduction in area from 
the original 534.5ha to 349.103ha. Similarly for Rooderand 46JQ Ptn2, a small section 
adjoining the park boundary was removed and designated Ptn6, with the remaining original 
Ptn2 now called RE/Ptn2 with a change in area from 534.6ha to 514.37ha. 

The mining rights were granted for the mining of chrome and PGEs on the Rooderand 46JQ 
RE and for the mining of chrome only on RE/Ptn2 (Table 4 and Figure 3 and Figure 6). The 
property and right boundaries shown in Figure 6 are the official surveyed maps used in the 
mining right applications and are the official boundaries of the new order mining rights MR405 
and MR405 granted in 2011. 

Subsequently, Section 11 transfers were approved by the Department of Mineral Resources 
(“DMR”), for a change of majority ownership; converting from Pilanesberg Mining Company to 
Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd (Rooderand Chrome) as shown in Table 4. In addition, Section 
102 modifications to the mining rights were granted for PGE and gold inclusion in the 
Rooderand 46JQ RE right (MR405) and inclusion of PGEs in the Lower Group and Middle 
Group chromitite reefs on RE/Ptn2 (MR404)  

Rustenburg Platinum Mines Limited (RPM, a subsidiary of Anglo Platinum, Table 2) and the 
Bakgatla community holds the prospecting right for PGEs, chrome, gold, silver, copper, nickel 
and cobalt in the UG2 and Merensky reefs over RE/Ptn2 in a company called Lexshell 
General Trading 49 (Pty) Ltd. This prospecting right is valid for a period of five years and 
expires on 10 February 2019. Chrometco has been actively pursuing further consolidation of 
the overlapping mineral rights on RE/Ptn2. 
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Figure 6: Topocadastral Map and Legal Tenure of the Rooderand Project 
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Table 4: Mineral tenure for Rooderand 46JQ Re and RE/Ptn2 

Farm/Ptn 
Area 
(Ha) 

Type Of 
Right 

Reference 
No. 

Holder Of 
Right 

Grant 
Date 

Expiry 
Date 

Mineral Comments 

Rooderand 
46 JQ RE 

349.103 

Converted 
Old Order 

Mining 
Right 

NW30/5/1/1/2/
405 MR 

Pilanesberg 
Mining Co 
(Pty) Ltd 

20-Dec-
11 

19 
December 
2041 (30 

years) 

Cr 

An old order Mining Right was 
converted to a new order mining 
right for Pilanesberg Mining in 
December 2011. It is important 
to note that this Mining Right 
was granted for the mining of 
chrome only. 

Section 11 
granted 

Rooderand 
Chrome 

(Pty) Ltd1 

Cr 
This Mining Right was 
subsequently ceded to 
Rooderand on 23 October 2015. 

Amendment 
of Mining 

Right 
Section 102 

Cr & 
PGEs 

On 6 November 2015, the 
Mining Right was amended to 
include PGEs, gold ore, silver 
ore, nickel ore, copper ore and 
cobalt ore. 

Rooderand 
46 JQ 

RE/Ptn2 
514.372 

Converted 
Old Order 

Mining 
Right 

NW30/5/1/1/2/
404 MR 

Pilanesberg 
Mining Co 
(Pty) Ltd 

20-Dec-
11 

19 
December 
2041 (30 

years) 

Cr 

An old order Mining Right was 
converted to a new order mining 
right for Pilanesberg Mining in 
December 2011 for the mining 
of chrome. 

Section 11 
granted 

Rooderand 
Chrome 

(Pty) Ltd1 

On 23 October 2015, the Mining 
Right was ceded to Rooderand. 

Amendment 
of Mining 

Right 
Section 102 

Cr & 
PGEs in 
the LGs 

and MGs 

Modification of the mining right 
in May 2014 to include PGEs in 
the LG and MG chromitite reefs 
but not in the UG2 or the 
Merensky Reef 

Source: Chrometco 2016/17 

The surface rights over both Rooderand 46JQ RE and RE/Ptn2 are owned by the state and 
as such there are no impediments to Chrometco’s right to access and exploit as per the 
granted mining rights. 

The company attorneys for Chrometco, Hogan and Lovell confirmed that no outstanding legal 
disputes are applicable to the Rooderand Project properties or rights. To the best of IRES’ 
and Chrometco’s knowledge no land claims exist over the properties and no outstanding legal 
disputes exist that could affect Chrometco’s right to further develop the properties. To the best 
of the Competent Peron’s knowledge, all government permits have been approved and there 
are no applications pending. 

The security of tenure can be demonstrated in the long term mining rights granted to 
approximately 2041. The only tenure risk to the mining rights could be failure to meet mining 
right conditions on Chrometco’s part and possible political upheaval within South Africa. The 
PGE prospecting right owned by Lexshell Trading expires in the foreseeable future and 
Chrometco is endeavoring to consolidate its rights in this regard. No guarantees in respect of 
the success of this endeavor can be made. 

15.2 Material agreements 

Chrometco, through its subsidiary Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd (“Rooderand Chrome”), is 
currently 26% owned by Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) entities which is in compliance 
with the requirements of the MPRDA and exemplified by the granting of the converted mining 
rights. The BEE shareholders are shown in Figure 1 and structured as follows: 

 Moepi Mining SPV (Pty) Ltd (“Moepi Mining”) which owns 1.5% of the total 
shares in Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd (“Rooderand Chrome”); and 

 Onica Star (Pty) Ltd (Onica Star) which owns 24.5% of Rooderand Chrome. 

The share subscription agreements between Moepi Mining, Onica Star and Rooderand 
Chrome exist and enable Chrometco to manage the Project. 
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15.3 Permitting 

The applications for conversion of the old order mining rights to converted mining rights in 
2009 were inclusive of Mine Works Programs (“MWP”) and Environmental Management 
Programs (“EMPs”) which are required for a mining operation by South African law and which 
were approved by the DMR. These MWPs and EMPs were updated and submitted with the 
Section 102 amendments and Section 11 change of ownerships as described in Table 4. 

The 2013 MWP for Rooderand 46JQ RE/Ptn2 and RE was developed by independent Sound 
Mining Solutions (Pty) Ltd (“Sound Mining”) and is based on Mineral Resources to a depth of 
200m over a strike of 4,800m dipping at between 14° and 21°. The reefs included in the MWP 
are the Merensky, Pseudo, UG2 PGE bearing reefs and the LG1 to LG7; MG1 to MG4A 
chromitite reefs. The combined resource was modeled through Datamine™ NPV scheduler 
and the economic portions of the resource defined using the following parameters: 

Table 5: Summary of the 2013 Mine Works Program 
PARAMETER UNITS METRIC 2013 

Exchange rate ZAR:USD 8.00 
Platinum price USD/oz 1,600 
Palladium price USD/oz 690 
Gold price USD/oz 1,500 
Rhodium price USD/oz 1,000 
Ruthenium price USD/oz 90 
Iridium price USD/oz 1,000 
Processing costs PGE ZAR/tonne 117.16 
Processing costs Cr ZAR/tonne 16.97 
Plant recovery - fresh PGE % 80 to 82 
Plant recovery - oxide PGE % 0 to 60 
Plant recovery - fresh/oxide Cr % 75 
LoM PGE years 13 
LoM Cr years 4 
Mining rate (average at steady state) RoM Mtpa 6.7 
Mining recovery % 79 to 86 
Mining dilution % 5 
Pit slope angle ° 55 
Mining costs PGE ZAR/tonne 230.82 
Mining costs Cr ZAR/tonne 153.09 

            Source: SMS 2013 

The MWP was designed for a standard “blast-and-haul”, open pit operation, as well as an 
underground operation and both equipment and labor requirements were estimated. The 
MWP did not include processing on site but assumed processing costs bench marked for 
suitable PGE and chromite toll treatment plants with transportation costs included. 

The EMP is updated regularly as required by the DMR and the most recent is the 20 January 
2017 prepared by Index (Pty) Ltd. The EMP has confirmed that the current rehabilitation 
guarantees of ZAR14.83m are slightly in excess of the liabilities calculated for 2017. 

15.4 Royalties  

There are no royalties payable for this project – other than statutory taxes. 

15.5 Liabilities  

The rehabilitation liabilities are discussed in Section 15.3. 

16 Geological Setting, Deposit and Mineralization 
16.1 Regional Geology 

The Rooderand Project targets the mineralized reefs of the Bushveld Complex, which is the 
largest, layered mafic igneous complex in the world (67,000km2), some 45% of which is 
exposed on surface, and which hosts the world’s largest deposits of PGEs, chromium (“Cr”), 
vanadium (“V”), nickel (“Ni”) and copper (“Cu”). The Proterozoic aged (2.06Ga to 2.058Ga) 
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Bushveld Complex is situated on the Kaapvaal craton and intruded the sedimentary rocks of 
the Transvaal Supergroup (Figure 7).  

The complex comprises a series of interconnected intrusives, which crystallized to form a 
suite of coeval layered mafic to ultramafic rocks known as the Rustenburg Layered Suite 
(“RLS”), the Lebowa Granite Suite (“LGS”) and the felsic extrusive rocks of the Rashoop 
Granophyre Suite (“RGS”) (Figure 7). It is generally understood that the Bushveld Complex 
was formed by the repeated injection of magma into an enormous chamber. Due to the 
extensive volumes of magma involved, cooling and subsequent mineral crystallization out of 
the magma was a slow process. Different minerals formed as the magma cooled and 
accumulated into sub–horizontal layers, building from the base of the chambers. These 
processes were repeated by the intermittent replenishment and addition of existing and new 
magma as the case may be, thus producing a repetition of the mineral layering. 

The layered mafic-ultramafic RLS outcrops in three main arcuate limbs, namely the western, 
eastern and northern limbs of the Bushveld Complex (excluding the Bethal and Marico Limbs) 
which form an ellipse in plan, 200km by 370km in extent with granites and felsic volcanics in 
the central regions. The RLS, an accumulated succession of mafic to ultramafic igneous 
layers, developed over a vertical thickness in excess of 8,000m and displays remarkably 
consistent layering that can be correlated throughout the Bushveld Complex with some 
individual layers or groups of layers traced for hundreds of kilometers. The RLS is the host to 
the economic PGE mineralization, as well as the Cr, V, Cu and Ni mineralization mined 
throughout the Bushveld Complex. The RLS is subdivided into five units or five principal 
zones, the Marginal, Lower, Critical, Main and Upper Zones as described in Table 6: 
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Figure 7: Regional Geological Setting of the Rooderand Project 
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Table 6: Stratigraphic Zones of the Rustenburg Layered Suite 

Unit Thickness Dominant Lithology Description 

Upper Zone Varies 
Gabbros with banded 
anorthosite and magnetite 
layers 

No chilled contact with the hangingwall rocks, which 
consist of rhyolites and granophyres. 

Main Zone 3,900m 
Norite, gabbro-norite, 
mottled anorthosite and the 
pyroxenite marker 

Comprises half of the RLS. Banding and layering not well 
developed. 

Upper Critical 
Zone (“UCZ”) 

1,400m 

Cyclically layered 
pyroxenites, norites, 
anorthosites and 
chromitites 

The base of the UCZ marked by cumulus plagioclase. 
Norites dominate the UCZ, with subordinate pyroxenites 
and anorthosites present at intervals through the 
sequence. Contains the UG group of chromitite layers. 
Economic PGE mineralization is hosted in the UG2 
Chromitite Layers (“UG2”) and the Merensky Reef, a 
laterally continuous pyroxenite unit containing PGE and 
base metal sulphide mineralization 

Lower Critical 
Zone (“LCZ”) 

Pyroxenite inter-layered 
with harzburgite and 
chromitite 

Chromitite layers occur in distinct groupings. The Lower 
Group (“LG”) series of layers occur exclusively in the 
Lower Critical Zone, the Middle Group (“MG”) series of 
layers straddles the contact between the Lower and UCZ. 

Lower Zone 
Varies , reaches a 

maximum of 
1,700m 

Cyclically layered units of 
dunite-harzburgite 

Thickness varies and thins over basement highs. The 
most complete exposure is in the north-eastern part of the 
Eastern Limb of the RLS which occurs as a series of 
dunite-harzburgite cyclically layered units. 

Marginal 
Zone 

Several meters to 
hundreds of 

meters 

Unlayered, heterogeneous 
ultramafic rocks mostly 
norites 

Contamination of the basic magmas by the enclosing host 
rocks. Sedimentary rock fragments are contained as 
xenoliths in the lower portions. Exposures of this zone are 
poor. 

The Bushveld Complex stratigraphic units dip in general to the centre of the complex, and are 
largely divided into four compartments or limbs, the western, eastern, northern and southern 
limbs, in order of economic importance. The Bushveld Complex is unique both in its size, and 
in the economic importance of its minerals. Contained within the well–layered ultramafic to 
mafic succession are two horizons in the Critical Zone which host economically exploitable 
quantities of precious metals, namely the Merensky Reef and the underlying UG2 Reef. 

These two economic horizons can be traced for hundreds of kilometers around the complex. 

A significant geological feature in this area is the Pilanesberg alkaline Intrusion (Figure 7). 
This circular volcanic complex is 27km in diameter, and intruded the Bushveld Complex 1.3 
billion years ago. It is characterized by rugged topography at elevations of 1,150m to over 
1,500m, compared with the surrounding flat-lying areas at 1,050 to 1,150m. Bushveld 
Complex mafic and ultramafic rocks form 20km wide belt around the western and northern 
side of this intrusion and are mainly from the Marginal, Lower, Critical and Main zones, and 
have a north to northeast strike with regional dips of between 8° to 25° to the east and 
southeast. Dips appear to increase from 8°

 
to 12° on the farm Ruighoek to 8° to 25° in the 

farm Rooderand 46JQ. 

16.2 Project Geology 

The continuity of the Critical Zone between the town of Northam and the Ruighoek Section to 
the west of Rooderand 46JQ is interrupted by geological structures associated with intrusion 
of the Pilanesberg volcanic complex (Figure 8). The Rooderand Project lies within the 
southern portion of this structurally disturbed zone and is known to be underlain by the Upper 
and Lower Critical Zones of the RLS. The Upper Critical Zone underlies the southern parts of 
the farm Rooderand 46JQ and parts of the farm Zandspruit 168 and the farm Ruighoek 169JP 
as shown on Figure 5 and Figure 8. 

The geology of the Rooderand area has historically been poorly understood due to lack of 
sustained exploration focus with the 1:250 000 scale geological map of the area one of the 
primary sources of public domain information. Historical mining of the outcropping LG6 reef 
and limited exposure of the underlying LG5 reef has provided a stratigraphic and structural 
information base. The extensive soil cover on Rooderand 46JQ restricts outcrop of the 
underlying rocks to less than 10% of the total area, but the considerable amount of float 
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material which is present across the property has been used as guides to the underlying 
lithologies. The later PGE and chromite drilling programs have collectively provided a suitable 
composite of the underlying geology.  

The LG, MG, UG and Merensky reefs are all developed in the Project area and the sub-crop 
positions as determined from historical mining, drilling programs and geological modeling are 
shown on Figure 12. In terms of PGE mineralization, the stratigraphic sequence present at 
the Rooderand Project is thought to be very similar to that at Union Section Mine, 20km to the 
northeast, as well as the Amandelbult and Northam mines (approximately 50km northeast) 
(Figure 7). The potentially economic reefs present in the Project area are as follows with intra-
reef distances shown in Figure 10: 

 the stratigraphically uppermost potentially economic PGE reef in the Project 
area is the Merensky Reef comprised of a feldspathic pyroxenite overlying a 
thin basal chromitite stringer, followed by an anorthosite to norite footwall and 
with mineralization decreasing from the basal chromitite stringer into the 
hangingwall and footwall.; 

 the UG2 Reef is defined as a main chromitite layer, with most of the PGE 
bearing mineralization contained within this unit, followed by a poorly 
mineralised pegmatoidal pyroxenite footwall; 

 below the UG2 Reef are numerous other chromitite layers that are mined for 
chromium, as their PGE content is too low; 

 percussion drilling indicates that the MG4 sub-outcrops within the Rooderand 
Project area but does not outcrop on surface. The MG reefs (MG1 to MG4) 
are contained within a 120m thick stratigraphic interval of pyroxenite and 
norite, the basal unit of which (the poorly developed MG1 reef) lies 
approximately 90m above the LG6 reef. The upper MG reefs are generally 
hosted by leuconorite and norite while pyroxenite dominates the succession 
in the vicinity of the MG1 and MG2 reefs and below; and   

 the entire LG package is hosted by pyroxentites and the LG chromitite reefs 
sub-outcrop north of the Project area. The LG 5 chromitite reef consists of 
three chromitite layers with intercalated pyroxenite layers and the LG6 
comprises massive chromitite with occasional thin pyroxenite lenses.  

16.2.1 Regional structure 

Deep-seated crustal extension was necessary to allow the emplacement of the Bushveld 
Complex and fault-systems such as the Thabazimbi Murchison Lineament, the Vlakfontein 
Fault, the Rustenburg Fault, possibly the Steelpoort Fault were re-activated, and operable 
during the cooling Bushveld Complex. The structural deformation of the Bushveld Complex 
occurred at an early stage of its intrusion and cooling history. All prominent fault orientations 
are evident in the Bushveld Complex, but commonly exhibit smaller displacements than 
during their respective previous tectonic history.  

The fault orientations visible in the north-western Bushveld Complex region were re-activated 
during post-Bushveld Complex and pre- and post-Pilanesberg Alkaline Complex times. As a 
result of the proximity of the Rooderand Project to the Pilanesberg Complex, a considerable 
amount of radial faulting and dyke emplacement has changed the orientation of the chromitite 
reefs in the Project area.  
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Figure 8: Local Geology of the Rooderand Project 
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A number of faults were exposed during trenching and drilling activity in the region and show 
a curved nature southwards ending at the Pilanesberg Complex. Recent open pit 
observations at the Rooderand Project substantiate the presence of these faults which exhibit 
a fluctuating dip from 0° to 40° and a wide degree of variability in strike direction. 

Three north-northwest striking faults can be seen in the Pilanesberg area and were exposed 
during trenching and drilling on Ruighoek 169JP, Witkleifontein 136JP, Rooderand 46JQ and 
Tuschenkomst 135JP. The faults carry a sub-vertical dip towards the east or west with a 
strike slip motion, and normal and reverse movements are common. Some of the faults have 
a curved nature towards the south and are terminated against the Pilanesberg Complex. 
East-northeast down throw faults to the south are abundant on Ruighoek 169JP, 
Witkleifontein 136JP, Rooderand 46JQ and Tuschenkomst 135JP, the faults appear to post-
date the Pilanesberg Complex. 

Evidence from open pit observations on Rooderand 46JQ confirms the nature of these faults, 
with fault-bound blocks of chromitite displaying fluctuating dip from horizontal to 40° degrees, 
and a high degree of strike variability caused by structural rotation between faults.  

16.2.2 Local Structure 

Aeromagnetic imagery shows the presence of east-northeast to west-southwest striking faults 
in the form of magnetically positive dykes which exhibit a sinistral strike-slip displacement. 
Northwest-southeast striking faults, in the form of negative magnetic dykes, appear to be 
dextral in displacement and are parallel to the Rustenburg Fault and are inferred to be related 
to it (Figure 9). North-south striking faults are common, but are not generally filled by dykes 
and could be pure dip-slip dominated faults.  

The Landsat image overlain with structural features observed from aeromagnetic data is 
shown in Figure 9. In the central part of the Pilanesberg Complex, the east-northeast-west-
southwest striking Vlakfontein Fault appears to offset a north-south striking fault in a sinistral 
sense.   

There are three prominent north-northwest-striking faults within the Pilanesberg area which 
were exposed during exploration activities, namely the Witkleifontein, Rooderand and 
Tuschenkomst faults, the latter of which has been interpreted to have a 120m down-throw 
towards the west and has had the effect of displacing the outcropping chromitite reefs by up 
to 800m in an apparent right-lateral surface displacement.   

During Chrometco’s exploration activities, the structural interpretation did not fully encompass 
the significant lateral displacement on the Tuschenkomst Fault which juxtaposes the Lower 
Group reefs against the MG reefs along their expression on surface.  

16.3 Deposit Type 

The origin of the PGE and chromitite mineralization in the Bushveld Complex has been 
investigated for 75 years and remains a matter of debate. The theorized primary magma from 
which the ore bodies originate contains only trace amounts of chromium and PGEs and 
therefore processes that account for the concentration of the Cr and PGEs have to be 
invoked. In addition, the theory must account for the clear association of the PGEs with 
chromite and base metal sulphides. 
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Figure 9: Regional Structure and Aeromagnetic of the Rooderand Project Area 
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The Bushveld Complex intrusion comprises a series of units that crystallized as the original 
magma slowly cooled. Silicate minerals in fixed proportions crystallized and aggregated to 
form the final igneous rocks. The composition of the minerals changed with the slow drop in 
temperature in the magma. The first silicate minerals which crystallized and settled out were 
ferro-magnesian in chemistry and coagulated to form the mafic suite of cumulates. At the 
lower temperatures, calcium, aluminum and sodium silicates crystallized to form the more 
silicic facies. This regular change in composition is called fractionation and as more magma is 
intruded and cools, the cycle is repeated, and this can re-occur many times until several 
thousand meters of solid rock have been formed. 

The resultant layering also controls the distribution of the ore deposits. Chromite (chromium 
oxide), ilmenite (titanium-rich oxide) and PGEs group minerals normally occur in association 
with the more mafic parts, whereas magnetite (iron oxide), cassiterite (tin oxide) and zircon 
(zirconium silicate), are generally restricted to the more silicic parts. The formation of ore is 
generally ascribed to the concentration of a specific group of minerals by gravity settling, or is 
linked to the influx of a magma of a different composition. Reaction of the magma with 
surrounding rocks, or immiscibility of a melt may also play an important role in the 
concentration process. The early magma composition of the Bushveld Complex was such that 
it gave rise to frequent layers of chromitite and in some instances together with sulphides, 
arsenides, tellurides and alloys of the PGEs. 

The mineralized Merensky Reef and UG2 are magmatic segregation deposits in the UCZ of 
the RLS, containing economic quantities of the PGEs and base metals. The LG and MG reefs 
contain non-economic quantities of PGE and are exploited for their chromium contents 
Throughout the Bushveld Complex these reefs are tabular bodies extending laterally over 
hundreds of square kilometers, resulting in extensive mineral resources whose continuity has 
been established over years of exploration and mining. 

A possibility exists that the Cr and PGEs are concentrated in primary basaltic to komatiitic 
composition magma when a high degree of partial melting (30%) of the upper mantle occurs. 
Within this primary melt, some mechanism to induce sulphide saturation must be active to 
produce a sulphide liquid which segregates from the primary magma. Magma mixing, crustal 
contamination and fractional crystallization are the most important processes known to induce 
sulphide saturation in magma during intrusion. 

Once sulphide saturation of the magma is reached, a sulphide liquid segregates from the 
primary magma and strong partitioning of PGEs, Ni and Cu into this segregated liquid occurs. 
It is theorized that these sulphide droplets act as a scavenging medium for the PGEs and the 
droplets collect on the floor of the magma chamber where the ore-bearing layer forms (Eales, 
2001). 

The following hypotheses attempt to explain the mineralization characteristics of the 
chromites and PGEs in the Bushveld Complex and these are briefly summarized below, 
together with the shortfalls of the theories: 

 the PGEs are strongly partitioned into an immiscible sulphide liquid produced 
by magma mixing processes. This hypothesis may easily be applied to the 
Merensky Reef, however in the case of the UG2 where the amount of 
sulphide minerals is an order of magnitude less, excessively high partition 
coefficients need to be invoked; 

 enrichment of the PGEs in certain horizons through re-mobilisation (by fluid 
or residual liquid) of the elements from the accumulated crystal pile on the 
floor of the magma chamber. This model does not satisfactorily explain the 
Platreef deposits of the Northern Limb which occur at the base of the magma 
chamber. Here a model involving the local interaction with reactive (dolomitic) 
foot wall and perhaps residual concentration of PGEs through fractional 
crystallisation in a sub-chamber may be more appropriate; 
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 the grain size of PGE minerals is too small to suggest they physically settled 
from the magma and it is postulated that PGEs are associated with chromite 
through mechanical scavenging by chromite grains of small PGE-Fe (iron) 
alloys, sulphide droplets or metal clusters suspended in the magma 
(Cawthorn 2006); and 

 it has also been postulated that when the sulphide liquid segregated, a water 
rich fluid formed at the same time into which the PGEs concentrated as 
complex chlorides. The PGEs would subsequently be precipitated around the 
sulphide grains. Evidence for this theory is the high degree of alteration to the 
silicate minerals in the Merensky Reef. 

The Merensky Reef has historically been the most important PGE producing layer in the 
Bushveld Complex and although variable, can be broadly defined as a mineralized zone 
closely associated with the ultramafic cumulate at the base of the Merensky cyclic unit. 
Current mining of the Merensky Reef and UG2 along the western boundary of the Bushveld 
Complex occurs mainly at depths between 800m and 1,200m below surface.  

In addition to the PGE mineralization associated with the Merensky Reef, all chromitites in the 
Critical Zone contain concentrations of PGE. The UG2 is the only chromitite layer that is 
significantly exploited for PGE at present and represents one of the largest PGE resources on 
earth. The UG2 occurs generally between 15m and 400m below the Merensky Reef.  

The dip of the UG2, like that of the Merensky Reef, varies from 10º at Rustenburg to 26º in 
the north-western Limb with a segment in the north-eastern lobe having a dip of 65º. As is the 
case with the Merensky Reef, the UG2 can be traced for over 280km along strike. 

The chromitite reefs occur in three stratigraphically delineated groups each composed of 
several layers numbered from the base upwards. The chromium content decreases upwards 
from the LG6 to the UG2, as corroborated by a decrease in the Cr-Fe elemental ratio. 
Chromite grains vary in size from microscopic to 2mm and exceed 50% of the mineral 
assemblage in the chromitite, while the dominant groundmass minerals vary from mainly 
orthopyroxene in the LG units to plagioclase in the MG and UG units. Textures are generally 
poikilitic and oikocrysts of pyroxene and plagioclase often enclose the chromite grains. 
Accessory minerals include clinopyroxene, biotite, phlogopite, chlorite, talc, quartz, 
carbonates, minor sulphides and traces of platinum group minerals. A number of different 
models for the formation of the chromite reefs exist from gravity induced separation (Wager 
and Brown, 1968) to magma mixing (Irvine 1977) and immiscibility (Sampson 1932). 

‘Potholes’, which are subsidence or erosional structures, occur within both the Merensky Reef 
and UG2 and result in the degradation of the PGE content of the reef locally. Potholing 
causes ground control problems in mining, and on some mines, such as Atok and Northam, 
potholes may cause a geologic loss of ground of up to 25%. Large or regional potholes can 
be mined successfully when the variations of the ‘potholed reef’ are understood. 

Discordant intrusive pipes or irregular bodies occur throughout the Bushveld Complex and 
often destroy the structure of the mineralized reefs and render reef identification difficult. 

16.4 Mineralization 

The mineralization model for the Project is typical of the Bushveld Complex with cumulate 
chromitite and PGE bearing chromitite reefs that are generally laterally continuous, albeit 
structurally disturbed in this region. This mineralization model has been successfully applied 
in the exploration programs undertaken for the Rooderand Project and reliable geological 
models have been developed for the resource. The mineralization style present on 
Rooderand 46JQ is summarized as follows:  
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Figure 10: Nature of the PGE Mineralization and Stratigraphy on Rooderand 46JQ 
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16.4.1 The Merensky Reef 

The Merensky Reef is commonly bounded above and below by thin chromitite reefs.  
Significant stratigraphic variations occur within the Merensky sub-unit.  

The footwall lithologies vary between harzburgites and poikilitic pyroxene anorthosites and 
are clear indications of varying Merensky Reef Facies.  

In the Rooderand Project area, the Merensky Reef does not occur at its usual stratigraphic 
position above the UG2 Reef (approximately 36m). It occurs typically as a regional pothole 
and lies at an elevation of approximately 15m above the UG2 chromitite layer. A pothole 
occurs when the Merensky Reef transgresses downwards from its normal position, truncating 
the footwall stratigraphy. Typically, the reef displays wide variations in dip and strike. Dips 
range from 10° to 14°. The Merensky Reef ranges in thickness from 0.27m to 2.58m with an 
average thickness to 1.32m. 

The Merensky Reef facies in this area varies from ‘normal’ to ‘disturbed’, ‘contact’ and 
‘pothole’ facies as shown in Figure 10. Reef width and grade are, as a consequence, highly 
variable and for this reason, it is assumed that only a small portion of the reef is amenable to 
physical extraction by underground means. 

The Merensky Reef Footwall Mineralization tends to develop in anorthosite where potholing of 
the Merensky Reef has occurred and the mineralization is discordant and associated with 
sulphide development in the anorthosite. This style of mineralization is well developed in the 
adjacent Tuschenkomst Mine deposit. 

16.4.2 Pseudo Reef 

The Pseudo Reef as the name suggests is very similar to the Merensky Reef, but is relatively 
weakly mineralized and contains minor amounts of base metal sulphides. This reef exists with 
sporadic PGE grades within the western limb of the Bushveld Complex. Exploration on 
properties to the south has indicated this reef may carry a more consistent grade, creating the 
potential to investigate it further. 

The Pseudo Reef is a distinctive feldspathic harzburgite layer, bounded by thin chromitite 
layers as follows: 

 Lower Pseudo Reef a pegmatoidal olivine pyroxenite up to 1.5m thick; 
 Pseudo Reef Harzburgite (Tarentaal Harzburgite) a poikilitic feldspathic 

harzburgite up to 6m thick; and  
 the Upper Pseudo Reef, a pegmatoidal pyroxenite up to 50cm thick.  

The Pseudo Reef lies above the UG2 Reef hangingwall pyroxenite. 

16.4.3 UG2 Reef 

The UG2 reef in the Rooderand Project is typically a more consistent horizon and the value 
zone is centered on the chromitite reef, which averages 0.85m in true thickness and is 
comprised of 60% to 90% chromite.  

The grade distribution within the UG2 is not uniform throughout the Bushveld Complex, in the 
north-western Bushveld Complex the peak PGE grades occur at the bottom and near the 
middle of the UG2 compared to other parts of the Bushveld Complex. Above the UG2 reef is 
a very characteristic olivine pyroxenite up to 1.5m thick, which is in turn is overlain by the UG2 
hangingwall pyroxenite. 
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In ‘normal reef’ conditions the UG2 typically lies approximately 30m below the Merensky 
Reef, however, due to the presence of the regional Merensky pothole, the Merensky has 
descended to within 15m of the UG2. The UG2 Reef dips on average 10° to 14° to the 
southeast.  

The UG2 Reef is more stable than the Merensky Reef with a dominantly pyroxenitic hanging 
and footwall lithology. The UG2 Reef is typically not affected by the potholes located on the 
Merensky Reef, although thinning or pinching occurs. Both horizons are intruded by 
numerous dykes. 

17 Exploration – Geophysical Characterization 

A helicopter-borne aeromagnetic (Midas) survey, over the Rooderand area, was completed 
by Funderingstechniek en Grondmechanica (FUGRO) in February 2003 and Anglo Platinum 
complimented the results with Landsat imagery and, where possible, verified the conclusions 
in the field. The Rooderand Project area comprises the region between the Pilanesberg 
Complex and RPM Union Section, extending towards the western side of the Pilanesberg 
Complex as shown in Figure 7.   

The 50m flight line spacing assisted in delineating features with any orientation. However, 
structures striking parallel or at a high angle relative to the flight line orientation were mapped 
at a lower resolution than features trending perpendicular to the flight line orientation.  

The radiometric survey identified that the pyroxenite, norite and anorthosite associated with 
the UG2 and Merensky reefs are anomalously radiometric in the Rooderand area, a feature 
thought to result from contamination/alteration by anomalously radiometric fluids associated 
with the Pilanesberg Complex. The fluids are thought to have utilized the shears known to 
exist in the region as fluid pathways.  

The radiometrics data assisted in interpreting possible faults, with some dykes showing up on 
the radiometric images.  

17.1 Depth of Weathering Study 

A relative depth to magnetic basement/weathering was calculated from the aeromagnetic 
data for the entire survey area using an Euler algorithm. The low flying height (20m) and close 
line spacing, resulted in the calculated weathering depth being noisy but it was however 
possible to regionally interpret zones with various weathering depths within the survey area. 
The mean calculated weathering depth over the survey area was approximately 38m, with 
deeper weathering found locally on Rooderand Project in the northwest and southeast as 
shown on Figure 9. 

17.2 Lineament and Dyke Study 

The main visible structural trend in the aeromagnetic data is northwest, as indicated by the 
Pilanesberg age dykes shown in Figure 9. These dykes increase in number towards the east, 
forming a major dyke swarm. A number of positively magnetized dykes, located west of the 
Pilanesberg Alkaline Complex have an east-west trend.  

The negative magnetized Pilanesberg age dykes were modeled with Modelvision™ software 
which shows the position of the modeled dykes as well as the modeled profile lines, the 
details of which are summarized in Table 7. In general, the dykes display steep dips. The 
dyke widths could be overestimated due to the flight line orientation being semi-parallel to the 
dyke trend. 
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Table 7: Summary of the Modeled Remnant Magnetic Dykes 

Dyke 
Name 

Magnetic 
Susceptibility 

(Cgs) 

Thickness / 
Width 

(M) 

Depth 
(M) 

Dip (Measured 
From The Earth 

Surface / 
Horizontal) 

ND1 0.000403 – 0.003 29 - 105 11 - 90 Sub vertical 
ND2 0.001 25 - 34 83 - 104 Sub vertical 
ND3 0.000089 –  0.00012 26 - 60 31 - 62 Sub vertical 
ND4 0.000052 – 0.0002 80 - 107 7 - 41 Sub vertical 
ND5 0.00001 – 0.00006 58 - 95 19 - 38 Sub vertical 
ND6 0.000015 – 0.000024 33 - 105 21 - 58 Sub vertical 
ND7 0.000037 – 0.0001 59 - 92 19 - 58 Sub vertical 
ND8 0.00009 72 41 Sub vertical 
ND9 0.000064 – 0.00009 77 - 128 31 - 41 Sub vertical 
ND10 0.000032 – 0.000067 132 - 172 23 Sub vertical 

        Source: IRES 2015 

18 Exploration – Drilling 

The mineralization model for the Project is typical of the Bushveld Complex with cumulate 
chromitite and PGE bearing chromitite reefs that are typically laterally continuous, albeit 
structurally disturbed in this region. This mineralization model has been successfully applied 
in the exploration programs undertaken for the Rooderand Project and reliable geological 
models have been developed for the resource.  

Numerous drilling programs have been undertaken for both properties since the late 1990s. 
Each program is discussed and summarized below: 

18.1 Nkwe Platinum PGE Drilling Program On Rooderand 46JQ RE 

In 2003 to 2004, a PGE exploration program was undertaken by Nkwe Platinum which 
comprised a diamond drilling program located on Rooderand 46JQ RE as shown in Figure 11 
and Figure 14. The program aimed at intersecting the UG2 and Merensky Reefs in the south 
of the property which were potentially present from the geological understanding of the area. 
The exploration program was centered on the PGE resource area in the south of the mining 
right but was restricted entirely to the section of the mining right called RE on the tenure map 
(Figure 6, Figure 14) and did not cross over into the property that was subsequently 
subdivided and called Ptn5 (see tenure diagram).  

The details of the program are presented in Table 8 and Table 9 and the historical JORC 
compliant Mineral Resource discussed in Section 13.2 and Section 14.2. In 2013 Chrometco 
entered into an agreement with Nkwe Platinum to acquire and convert the prospecting right 
for PGEs and all other minerals on the RE portion of Rooderand 46JQ and Chrometco 
acquired all the historical drill core and data. 

The surveyed collar position and re-logging of the core provide confidence that the 
geographical positioning and lithological and structural data obtained from the program are 
suitable for inclusion into a Mineral Resource estimate. The drilling data confirms that both the 
Merensky and UG2 Reefs are present within the Chrometco PGE license area. The drilling 
program further provided physical evidence of the presence of MG4 within the exploration 
area. 
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Figure 11: Exploration Programs  
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Table 8: Nkwe Platinum PGE Drilling Program 2003 to 2004  
SAMREC 
Table 1 
Section 

3.2 

Drilling Techniques 
Rooderand 46JQ RE - Nkwe diamond drillholes NRD1 to 

NRD23 for PGE Mineral Resource Estimate - 

(i) 

Present the type of drilling undertaken and 
details (e.g. core diameter, triple or standard 
tube, depth of diamond tails, face-sampling bit 
or other type, whether core is oriented and if 
so, by what method, etc.). 

Nkwe Platinum conducted a diamond drillhole program of 25 
vertical drillholes and numerous deflections over the area shown in 
Figure 11. The drill bit size was NQ: 47.6mm and BQ: 36.4mm 
core diameter. The drillhole identity numbers were NRD01 to NRD 
23 

(ii) 

Describe whether core and chip samples have 
been geologically and geotechnically logged to 
a level of detail to support appropriate Mineral 
Resource estimation, Technical Studies, 
mining studies and metallurgical studies.  

The drillhole collars were surveyed after the program by 
independent surveyor P Greyling. No downhole surveys were 
undertaken. The core was relogged in 2016 to provide structural, 
lithological and weathering data for the Mineral Resource estimate. 

(iii) 

Describe whether logging is qualitative or 
quantitative in nature; indicate if core 
photography (or costean, channel, etc.) was 
undertaken. 

The second logging of the core was both qualitative and 
quantitative and photographic records were kept 

(iv) 
Present the total length and percentage of the 
relevant intersections logged. 

The total length of the drilling was 5,867m and the end-of-hole 
depths ranged between130m to 342m. All relevant intersections 
were logged 

(v) 
Discuss the results of any downhole surveys of 
the drill-holes. 

No downhole surveys were undertaken which was acceptable in 
2004 given that the drillholes were vertical 

Table 9: Nkwe Platinum PGE Drilling Program Drillhole Summary – 2003 to 2004 

BHID 
From 
(m) 

To 
(m) 

Unit 
True 

Thickness 
(m) 

Comments 

NRD1 51.46 52.86 Merensky 1.40 - 

NRD2 
140.29 141.43 Merensky 1.14 

- 
156.40 158.00 UG2 1.60 

NRD3 
99.96 101.76 Merensky 1.80 

- 
119.50 120.59 UG2 1.09 

NRD4 103.10 104.10 Merensky 1.00 - 

NRD5 
106.73 106.98 Merensky 0.25 Pothole 
120.29 121.04 UG2 0.75 - 

NRD6 364.18 365.18 Merensky 1.00 - 

NRD7 
65.60 66.50 Merensky 0.90 

- 
66.50 67.15 UG2 0.65 

NRD8 139.22 139.24 UG2 0.02 Pothole 

NRD9 
304.61 305.61 Merensky 1.00 

- 
335.84 336.61 UG2 0.77 

NRD10A 
60.52 62.60 Merensky 2.08 - 

133.33 133.83 UG2 0.50 Pothole 

NRD11 
77.62 78.02 Merensky 0.40 Pothole 
78.69 78.94 UG2 0.25 Pothole 

NRD12 
158.44 159.30 Merensky 0.86 Contact 
188.37 188.62 UG2 0.25 Pothole 

NRD13 
30.73 32.92 Merensky 2.19 

- 
87.37 88.46 UG2 1.09 

NRD14 
119.98 120.34 Merensky 0.36 - 
123.88 124.15 UG2 0.27 Pinched 

NRD16 107.00 108.10 Merensky 1.10 Contact 
NRD18 32.40 32.94 UG2 0.54 - 
NRD19 65.25 66.25 UG2 1.00 - 
NRD21 201.44 201.79 Merensky 0.35 Pothole 
NRD22 158.00 159.20 Merensky 1.00 Contact 

NRD23 
204.89 205.20 Merensky 0.31 Pothole 
219.67 221.19 UG2 1.52 - 

Source: Chrometco 2016 
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18.2 Chrometco Chromite Drilling Programs On Rooderand 46JQ RE And RE/Ptn2 

Chrometco acquired the Rooderand 46JQ RE and RE/Ptn2 mining rights for chromite in early 
2004 and when the company listed in August 2005 the intention was to undertake further 
exploration work on the Rooderand 46JQ portions RE and RE/Ptn2 with the ultimate aim of 
estimating a Mineral Resource for the chromitite reefs known to exist on the properties, 
namely the LG5, LG6 and MG4 Reefs. Previous open pit mining by TLC and small scale 
underground mining by Anglo American Limited had confirmed the presence of the chromitite 
reefs in the north of RE and RE/Ptn2. Chrometco drilled 2 diamond drillholes SDR1 and 
SDR2 located on RE/Ptn2 as shown on Figure 11. A 24 drillhole percussion drilling program 
was also undertaken as shown in Figure 11 to delineate the strike direction of the MG4 
chromitite reef and to identify any further chromitite reefs within the property. The drilling 
program was supervised by Bleeker Geological Services and the results incorporated into an 
Inferred Mineral Resource and asset valuation published in 2005 in a Competent Person’s 
Report for the JSE listing. The Inferred Mineral Resource was published as compliant with the 
SAMREC code of that time but the insufficiency of grade determinations would, in IRES’s 
opinion, render this estimate insufficient for current SAMREC requirements.  

The details of the drilling programs are provided in Table 10 and Table 11. The program 
identified the sub-crop position of the MG4 reef over a strike length of 1.2km and Chrometco 
opened a bulk sample pit and undertook limited laboratory evaluation of the MG 4 chrome 
reef material.   

Table 10: Chrometco Chromite Drilling Programs 2004 to 2005 
SAMREC 
Table 1 
Section 

3.2 

Drilling Techniques 
Rooderand 46JQ Re/Ptn2 - Chrometco Percussion 

Drillholes RR1 To RR20 

Rooderand 46JQ Re/Ptn2 - 
Chrometco Diamond Drillholes 

SDR1 To SDR2 

(i) 

Present the type of drilling 
undertaken and details (e.g. 
core diameter, triple or standard 
tube, depth of diamond tails, 
face-sampling bit or other type, 
whether core is oriented and if 
so, by what method, etc.). 

Chrometco undertook a 24 drillhole percussion drilling 
program (four drillholes were abandoned due to 
recovery issues) (Figure 11) which was supervised by 
independent Bleeker Geological Services. Drilling 
protocols are not available. The drillhole depths 
ranged between 2m to 44m below surface. The 
drillhole collar positions were surveyed by independent 
Mr. P Greyling and X,Y and Z co-ordinates are 
available in WGS84 datum 

The drilling program was supervised by 
independent Bleeker Geological 
Services. Two diamond drillholes 
located as shown on Figure 11 Collar 
positions were surveyed using a 
certified surveyor but no downhole 
surveys were undertaken. 

(ii) 

Describe whether core and chip 
samples have been geologically 
and geotechnically logged to a 
level of detail to support 
appropriate Mineral Resource 
estimation, Technical Studies, 
mining studies and 
metallurgical studies.  

No chip sampling was undertaken but the program 
identified the presence of MG4 reef, the depth of the 
reef and the reef thickness 

The diamond drillhole core logged by 
qualified geologist was sampled 
according to lithological boundaries 

(iii) 

Describe whether logging is 
qualitative or quantitative in 
nature; indicate if core 
photography (or costean, 
channel, etc.) was undertaken. 

The sample chips were qualitatively logged The logging was qualitative 

(iv) 
Present the total length and 
percentage of the relevant 
intersections logged. 

The total length of the drilling was 5,867m and the 
end-of-hole depths ranged between130m to 342m. All 
relevant intersections were logged 

The total length of percussion drilling 
was >410m and all relevant 
intersections were logged 

(v) 
Discuss the results of any 
downhole surveys of the drill-
holes. 

No downhole surveys were undertaken which was 
acceptable in 2004 given that the drillholes were 
vertical 

No downhole surveys were undertaken  

Source: Bleeker 2005, IRES 2011 to 2016 
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Table 11: Chrometco Chromite Drilling Program - Drillhole Summary – 2004 to 2005 

Drillhole 
Coordinates Chromitite 

Unit 
Intersected 

Hangingwall Elevation 

X Y Z 
Depth Below 

Collar (M) 
Elevation 

Above MSL 

SDR1 + 2779694 + 0417 1124.747 
LG6 34.30 1090.447 
LG5 70.47 1054.277 

SDR2 + 2780399 + 0060 1119.292 MG1/3  1119.292 
RR1 + 2780500 + 0000 1118.929 MG4 44.00 1074.929 
RR2 + 2780448 + 0450 1118.224 MG4 17.00 1101.224 
RR3 + 2780280 -0500 1118.027 MG4 34.00 1084.027 
RR4 + 2780105 -1108 1117.999 MG4 15.00 1102.999 
RR5 + 2780138 -1495 1118.152 MG4 35.00 1083.152 
RR6 + 2779915 -1525 1118.875 MG4 12.00 1106.875 
RR7 + 2779770 -0005 1119.733 - - - 
RR8 + 2779740 -0025 1119.742 MG1? 17.00 1102.742 
RR9 + 2779495 -0045 1121.445 - - - 

RR10 + 2779852 -2050 1119.121 MG4 34.00 1085.121 
RR11 + 2779691 -2675 1119.674 MG4 13.00 1106.674 
RR12 + 2779720 -0509 1119.398 MG4 29.00 1090.398 
RR13 + 2779530 -3020 1119.147 MG4 15.00 1104.147 
RR14 + 2779559 -3715 1119.293 MG4 35.00 1084.293 
RR15 + 2779514 -4100 1119.402 MG4 2.00 1117.402 
RR16 + 2779470 -3500 1119.811 MG1/3  1119.811 
RR17 + 2779450 -2730 1119.903 - - - 
RR18 + 2779482 -2295 1120.011 - - - 
RR19 + 2779667 -2285 1121.127 - - - 
RR20 + 2779725 -0017 1119.239 MG1?  1119.239 

   Source: Chrometco 2017 

18.3 Chrometco/DCM Chromitite Drilling Program Over RE And RE/Ptn2 

As discussed in Section 13 and summarized in Table 2, Chrometco entered a conditional 
mining and acquisition agreement with DCM and in 2008 DCM commissioned The Mineral 
Corporation (Pty) Ltd (Mineral Corp) to manage and supervise an exploration drilling 
campaign on Rooderand 46JQ RE and RE/Ptn2. The program was to focus on Cr2O3 
potential of the area and to generate SAMREC complaint Mineral Resource estimates. The 
details of the program are presented in Table 12 and Table 13. 

The drillhole spacing grid was denser that normal for the definition of an Indicated Mineral 
Resource but the structural complexity of the area was anticipated and hence a smaller 
spacing grid was applied to allow for improved definition of medium scale geological 
structures of the order of 30m. 

Table 12: Chrometco/DCM/Mineral Corporation Drilling Program 2008 
SAMREC 
Table 1 
Section 

3.2 

Drilling Techniques 
Rooderand 46JQ RE/Ptn2 - 

Chrometco/DCM/Mineral Corporation percussion 
drillholes RND1 to RND23 

(i) 

Present the type of drilling undertaken and details (e.g. 
core diameter, triple or standard tube, depth of diamond 
tails, face-sampling bit or other type, whether core is 
oriented and if so, by what method, etc.). 

DCM undertook a 26 vertical diamond drillhole drilling 
program (Table 11) which was supervised by Mineral 
Corporation on a grid of 250mx250m, to a depth of 
300m and at a drill bit size of NQ4 to 40m and 
thereafter with a BQ bit. All collar positions were sited 
and surveyed using hand-held Garmin Colorado 300 
or 76cs GPS units with an accuracy of ±5m - they were 
not surveyed using land survey methods and reported 
according to WGS84 datum. 

(ii) 

Describe whether core and chip samples have been 
geologically and geotechnically logged to a level of detail 
to support appropriate Mineral Resource estimation, 
Technical Studies, mining studies and metallurgical 
studies.  

Core recovery was poor for the first 40m of the 
drillhole. Core was logged both for lithology, structure 
and weathering by a qualified geologist from Mineral 
Corporation. No geotechnical logging was undertaken 
at this stage. 

(iii) 
Describe whether logging is qualitative or quantitative in 
nature; indicate if core photography (or costean, channel, 
etc.) was undertaken. 

The core was both qualitatively and quantitavely 
logged. The core recovery was an average of 93%. 
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SAMREC 
Table 1 
Section 

3.2 

Drilling Techniques 
Rooderand 46JQ RE/Ptn2 - 

Chrometco/DCM/Mineral Corporation percussion 
drillholes RND1 to RND23 

(iv) 
Present the total length and percentage of the relevant 
intersections logged. 

The total length of the drilling was 4,431m and the 
end-of-hole depths ranged between 22m to 349m. All 
relevant intersections were logged. Each drillhole core 
was collected at 3m to 6m intervals, stored in core 
trays, measured and recovery determined. The 
campaign protocols were that a minimum of 99% 
recovery for the chromitite reefs was required and 95% 
acceptable outside the chromitite reefs. In structurally 
complex areas any recovery <60% necessitated  a 
redrill of the entire drillhole 

(v) 
Discuss the results of any downhole surveys of the drill-
holes. 

Downhole surveys were undertaken on selected 
drillholes at the start of the campaign and minor 
deflections of 2°to 4° from vertical as depths 
proceeded past 200m were noted. The results of this 
exercise and based on the driller’s experience in the 
area no downhole deflections were considered a 
serious risk and the assumption that the drillholes 
were vertical can have no material impact on the 
outcome of the deposit size estimates  

  

Table 13: DCM – Rooderand 46JQ Remainder Portion 2 Drilling 
Drillhole 

ID 
Start Date End date 

End depth 
(m) 

Run Length 
(m) 

Core length 
(m) 

Core 
Recovery 

RND1 2008/10/09 2008/10/14 109.25 109.35 100.10 92% 
RND2 2008/10/09 2008/11/08 301.43 301.43 296.31 98% 
RND3 2008/10/14 2008/10/17 118.25 118.25 106.69 90% 
RND4 2008/10/17 2008/11/06 349.25 350.32 339.92 97% 
RND5 2008/11/07 2008/11/08 15.00 15.00 7.00 47% 

RND5A 2008/11/08 2008/11/17 180.25 179.97 168.84 94% 
RND6 2008/11/08 2008/11/20 310.25 310.20 295.72 94% 

RND7A 2008/11/21 2008/11/22 21.98 21.98 5.02 23% 
RND7B 2008/11/22 2008/12/04 298.25 292.55 286.00 98% 
RND8 2008/11/18 2008/12/04 301.95 301.95 291.44 97% 
RND9 2008/12/04 2008/12/12 180.85 180.85 167.46 93% 

RND10 2008/12/04 2008/12/16 160.25 162.03 153.00 94% 
RND11 2008/12/12 2008/12/19 250.25 250.20 204.53 82% 
RND12 2008/12/16 2008/12/22 118.43 118.43 111.30 94% 
RND13 2008/12/20 2009/01/10 170.45 170.50 143.34 84% 
RND14 2009/01/05 2009/01/13 145.25 145.17 138.41 95% 
RND15 2009/01/11 2009/01/16 160.35 161.08 155.12 96% 
RND16 2009/01/14 2009/01/21 160.25 160.25 145.99 91% 
RND17 2009/01/16 2009/01/23 162.65 162.65 150.99 93% 
RND18 2009/01/22 2009/02/04 178.25 178.10 171.70 96% 
RND19 2009/01/24 2009/02/04 130.25 130.10 119.39 92% 
RND20 2009/02/05 2009/03/02 147.34 147.34 136.79 93% 
RND21 2009/02/05 2009/03/02 169.25 169.25 153.30 91% 
RND22 2009/03/03 2009/03/07 130.25 130.25 123.69 95% 
RND23 2009/03/03 2009/03/07 161.25 161.25 159.03 99% 
Total   4431.18 4428.45 4131.08 93% 

  Source: IRES 2017 

18.3.1 Anglo Platinum PGE Drilling Program over Rooderand 46JQ RE/Ptn2 

The Anglo Platinum drilling program was designed to investigate the continuity of the Platmin 
mineralization on the farm Tuschenkomst 135JP to the north. The program consisted of the 
drilling of 13 drillholes to a maximum of 250m on RE/Ptn2 as shown in Figure 14. The drilling 
was managed by Anglo Platinum and all drillholes were collar surveyed and drilled vertically; 
except for a few deflections. Anglo Platinum was exploring for PGEs so none of the drillholes 
were assayed for chrome.  
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18.3.2 International Ferrous Metals Program 

In mid 2014 Chrometco entered an agreement allowing IFM to explore for chrome and a 
diamond drilling program of 36 diamond drillholes, 218 percussion drillholes on the licenses, 
together with 36 trenches (Figure 14). The assay data from this program is not included in the 
Mineral Resource estimate but the drilling program contributed to the structural and 
geological models. 

Table 14: Anglo Platinum Drillholes 

BHID 
Collar Coordinates 

FROM 
(m) 

TO 
(m) 

3PGE+AU 
(g/t) 

True 
Thickness 

(m) 

Reef 
Intersected X Y Z 

RD1D0 1261.2 -2778693 1214.69 46.02 47.01 3.10 0.99 UG2 
RD2D0 1386.2 -2779356 1044.33 63.23 64.11 2.49 0.88 UG2 
RD2D1 1386.2 -2779357 1044.00 63.27 64.73 2.56 1.46 UG2 
RD2D2 1386.2 -2779355 1043.85 62.95 65.35 - 2.40 UG2 
RD2D3 1387.2 -2779356 1044.62 62.97 63.80 3.43 0.83 UG2 
RD5D0 782.5 -2781089 906.25 217.22 218.28 0.92 1.06 UG2 
RD5D1 782.5 -2781090 906.04 217.37 218.56 2.05 1.19 UG2 
RD5D2 782.5 -2781088 907.60 215.49 217.31 - 1.82 UG2 
RD5D3 783.5 -2781089 908.40 215.19 216.02 2.67 0.83 UG2 
RD6D0 1305.8 -2780509 875.95 244.45 245.86 5.70 1.41 UG2 
RD8D0 933.9 -2780119 949.46 163.77 164.71 6.73 0.94 UG2 

RD11D0 1143.6 -2779403 921.85 181.02 181.69 4.53 0.67 UG2 
RD12D0 569.3 -2781217 1056.45 66.09 67.01 5.37 0.92 UG2 
RD13D0 962.4 -2781764 898.15 229.47 230.63 2.96 1.16 UG2 

Source: Chrometco 2016 

19 Exploration – Sampling  
19.1 PGE Exploration Program – Nkwe Platinum 2004 and 2016 – Rooderand 46JQ RE 

The PGE exploration program undertaken by Nkwe Platinum/Realm Resources comprised an 
original diamond drilling program in 2004 located on Rooderand 46JQ RE as shown in Figure 
11 and Figure 14 and as discussed in Section 18.1 comprised 25 drillholes aimed at 
intersecting the UG2 and Merensky Reefs. The original sampling and QA/QC data for the 
campaign is not available but the drillholes were re-examined in late 2016 with the intent of 
re-sampling them for PGEs. A total of 21 drillholes were re-logged and re-sampled by an 
independent Competent Person Dr A Mitchell. The sampling methodology, governance, 
QA/QC and analysis methodology disclosure for the “SAMREC Table 1 Section 3” is provided 
in Table 15. 

Table 15: Sampling, Preparation, QA/QC, SG for Nkwe Platinum 2003 and 2016 PGE Program – 
Rooderand 46JQ RE 

SAMREC 
Table 1 

Section 3.3 

Sampling Method, Collection, Capture And 
Storage 

Rooderand Re - Nkwe Diamond Drillholes NRD1 To NRD23 
PGE Mineral Resource Estimate 

(i) Describe the nature and quality of sampling  

Original sampling techniques unavailable. A total of 21 of the 
original 25 drillholes were resampled by independent 
Competent Person Dr A Mitchell in 2016 which is described 
below and considered in-line with standard practice in this 
region of the Bushveld Complex 

(ii) 

Describe the sampling processes, including sub-
sampling stages to maximize representivity of 
samples. This should include whether sample sizes 
are appropriate to the grain of the material being 
sampled. Indicate whether sample compositing has 
been applied.  

Remaining core was quartered and depending on lithological 
contacts the sample lengths were 15cm to 30cm in length. If the 
core was fractured, the fragments were directly bagged. The 
sample size is considered appropriate for the UG2, Merensky 
Reefs and is consistent with other sampling programs from 
adjacent properties undertaken by other independent 
consultancies. A total of 298 samples were taken. Sample 
compositing was not applied 

(iii) 

Appropriately describe each data set (e.g. geology, 
grade, density, quality, diamond breakage, 
geometallurgical characteristics etc.), sample type, 
sample-size selection and collection methods.  

Each drillhole core was re-logged in 2016 and the dataset 
includes lithology, structural breaks, reef widths, depths from 
surface. The assay dataset includes assays for gold ("Au"), 
platinum ("Pt"), palladium ("Pd") and rhodium ("Rh") as well as 
specific gravity  

(iv) 

Report the geometry of the mineralization with respect 
to the drill-hole angle. State whether the orientation of 
sampling achieves unbiased sampling of possible 
structures and the extent to which this is known, 
considering the deposit type. State if the intersection 

The drillholes are all vertical. The Merensky in the area is 
variable in reef width (average thickness of 1.32m) and as 
various facies are developed. The UG2 is more consistently 
developed with an average true width of 0.85m and the dip 10° 
to 14°. The sampling of the entire width of the reefs largely 
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SAMREC 
Table 1 

Section 3.3 

Sampling Method, Collection, Capture And 
Storage 

Rooderand Re - Nkwe Diamond Drillholes NRD1 To NRD23 
PGE Mineral Resource Estimate 

angle is not known and only the down-hole lengths are 
reported. 

eliminates sampling bias 

(v) 
Describe retention policy and storage of physical 
samples (e.g. core, sample reject, etc.). 

Drillhole core was stored safely and securely on a farm located 
outside Brits in the North West Province. No pulps remain 

(vi) 

Describe the method of recording and assessing core 
and chip sample recoveries and results assessed, 
measures taken to maximize sample recovery and 
ensure representative nature of the samples and 
whether a relationship exists between sample 
recovery and grade, and whether sample bias may 
have occurred due to preferential loss/gain of 
fine/coarse material. 

Core trays containing suitable reefs were photographed, 
domains for cutting marked and photographs taken after 
sampling to record sample recovery. No relationship noted 
between sample recovery and grade and there is a limited risk 
for preferential loss/gain of material during sampling 

(vii) 
If a drill-core sample is taken, state whether it was split 
or sawn. Samples were air-dried 

Competent core was cut by rock-saw and the half core 
sampled. Otherwise fragments were bagged 

3.4 Sample Preparation and Analysis  

(i) 

Identify the laboratory/laboratories and state their 
accreditation status and Registration Number or 
provide a statement that the laboratories are not 
accredited.  

SGS Lakefield Laboratory Services ISO accredited (ISO/IEC 
17025) 

(ii) 

Identify the analytical method. Discuss the nature, 
quality and appropriateness of the assaying and 
laboratory processes and procedures used and 
whether the technique is considered partial or total. 

Assay for Au, Pt, Pd, Rh by fire assay using ICP-OES finish.  

(iii) 

Describe the process and method used for sample 
preparation, sub-sampling and size reduction, and 
likelihood of inadequate or non-representative 
samples (i.e. improper size reduction, contamination, 
screen sizes, granulometry, mass balance, etc.). 

Samples were dried and crushed to 80% passing 2mm sieve.  
Sample riffle split to achieve a 500gm sample weight. Portion 
pulverized to 85% passing 75µm in a carbon steel ring to 
minimize iron ("Fe") contamination. Risk of inadequate or non-
representative sample is low 

3.5 Sampling Governance 

(i) 

Discuss the governance of the sampling campaign 
and process, to ensure quality and representivity of 
samples and data, such as sample recovery, high 
grading, selective losses or contamination, core/hole 
diameter, internal and external QA/QC, and any other 
factors that may have resulted in or identified samples 
bias. 

Nkwe and Real Resources undertook the diamond drillhole 
campaign in 2004. The drilling and sampling exercise was 
supervised by independent, qualified Competent Person N 
Bleeker of Bleeker Geological Services. In 2016 the re-
sampling of the original core was undertaken by a qualified 
geologist and Competent Person. The entire reef was sampled 
so the risk of high grading, sample bias and selective losses is 
low. QA/QC measures were applied both by the company and 
the assay laboratory as discussed below 

(ii) 
Describe the measures taken to ensure sample 
security and the chain of custody. 

All samples were bagged and labeled under supervision, 
divided into batches of 18 with each batch including blanks, 
duplicates and certified reference material ("CRM"). Each 
sample batch was recorded on spreadsheets noting the 
positions of the blanks, CRMs and duplicates. Batches were 
dispatched to the laboratory and again recorded by the 
laboratory geotechnical on receipt 

(iii) 

Describe the validation procedures used to ensure the 
integrity of the data, e.g. transcription, input or other 
errors, between its initial collection and its future use 
for modeling (e.g. geology, grade, density, etc.). 

The 2016 assay data spreadsheets were checked against 
sample logs by Dr A Mitchell 

(iv) 
Describe the audit process and frequency (including 
dates of these audits) and disclose any material risks 
identified 

No additional audits other than to 2016 exercise has been 
undertaken. 

3.6 Quality Control/Quality Assurance 

(i) 

Demonstrate that adequate field sampling process 
verification techniques (QA/QC) have been applied, 
e.g. the level of duplicates, blanks, reference material 
standards, process audits, analysis, etc. If indirect 
methods of measurement were used (e.g. geophysical 
methods), these should be described, with attention 
given to the confidence of interpretation. 

The field verification processes for the sampling of the original 
drilling program supervised by Bleeker 2003 to 2004 are 
unavailable. The 2016 verification exercise included a blank of 
Middle Zone norite, CRM comprising Merensky ZA-AMIS0367 
at a grade of 2.94g/t PGE 4E and duplicate every 18 samples. 
The QA/QC protocols are within the standard measures applied 
for Bushveld Complex exploration known from Sedibelo 
campaigns. A total of 46 samples, approximately 15% of the 
total, were submitted to Set Point Laboratory as an umpire 
laboratory to check for accuracy and precision. 

3.7 Bulk Density 

(i) 

Describe the method of bulk-density/specific-gravity 
determination with reference to the frequency of 
measurements, the size, nature and 
representativeness of the samples. 

All samples submitted to SGS Lakefield Laboratory Service 
were tested for specific gravity using the classic weight-in-
air/weight-in-water method. The same method is used in 
exploration campaigns by Sedibelo. The number of 
determinations and representivity of the samples results in a 
low risk for the SG determinations. 

(ii) 
If target tonnage ranges are reported then the 
preliminary estimates or basis of assumptions made 
for bulk density or specific gravity(s) must be stated. 

NA  
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SAMREC 
Table 1 

Section 3.3 

Sampling Method, Collection, Capture And 
Storage 

Rooderand Re - Nkwe Diamond Drillholes NRD1 To NRD23 
PGE Mineral Resource Estimate 

(iii) 
Discuss the representivity of bulk density samples of 
the material for which a grade range is reported. 

NA 

(iv) 

Discuss the adequacy of the methods of bulk density 
determination for bulk material with special reference 
to accounting for void spaces (vugs, porosity etc.), 
moisture and differences between rock and alteration 
zones within the deposit. 

NA 

3.8 Bulk Sampling and/or Trial Mining 
(i) Indicate the location of individual samples. NA 

(ii) 

Describe the size of samples, spacing/density of 
samples recovered and whether sample sizes and 
distribution are appropriate to the grain size of the 
material being sampled. 

NA 

(iii) Describe the method of mining and treatment. NA 

(iv) 
Indicate the degree to which the samples are 
representative of the various types and styles of 
mineralization and the mineral deposit as a whole.  

NA 

The analysis of the QA/QC data for the resampling exercise was undertaken by IRES’ 
comprehensive QA/QC program on the entire stored Nkwe Platinum drillhole core. Not all the 
UG2 and Merensky Reef intersections had any remaining sample from the original Nkwe 
Platinum program, and whilst the presence of the UG2 and Merensky reefs in some portions 
of the RE/Ptn2 area are obvious from the logs, an additional drilling program will be required 
to collect samples for grade analysis before a Mineral Resource can be declared. 

All blank samples showed at or below a detection limit of 0.02g/t for Au, Pt, Pd and Rh, with 
the exception of a single sample NRD11/019 at 0.04g/t for Pt. The results provide confidence 
that contamination levels are satisfactorily low. 

The mean deviation analysis of the CRM data on the AMIS0367 standard, using data from all 
batches submitted for analysis, indicates varying but minor degrees of laboratory bias 
dependent upon the elements being investigated. IRES concluded from this investigation that, 
notwithstanding some minor concerns, laboratory precision was generally within acceptable 
limits. 

The overall conclusion by IRES is that the analytical data for the Nkwe Platinum PGE 
campaign is reliable, in accordance with SAMREC disclosure requirements as is the drillhole 
campaign and information for the geological and structural models. However the dataset for 
the grade model is considered by IRES to be insufficient for a declaration of a Mineral 
Resource estimate at this point. 

19.2 Sampling Of Nkwe Platinum 2004 Core for Chrome (2016) - Rooderand 46JQ RE 

As part of the 2016 verification of the QA/QC of the Nkwe Platinum PGE drilling program, 
Chrometco undertook a systematic sampling of the previously unassayed chromitite reefs. 
The required SAMREC Section 3.3 to 3.8 disclosure of this sampling campaign is presented 
in Table 16. 
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Table 16: Sampling, Preparation, QA/QC and SG for Nkwe Platinum 2003 and 2016 
Chrome Program Rooderand 46JQ RE 

SAMREC 
Table 1 

3.3 

Sampling Method, Collection, Capture And 
Storage 

Rooderand Re - Nkwe Diamond Drillholes NRD1 To 
NRD23 Chrome Mineral Resource Estimate 

(i) Describe the nature and quality of sampling  

Original campaign did not sample or analyze for chrome. 
A total of 21 of the original 25 drillholes were resampled 
by independent Competent Person Dr A Mitchell in 2016 
which is described below and considered standard 
practice in this region of the Bushveld Complex 

(ii) 

Describe the sampling processes, including sub-
sampling stages to maximize representivity of 
samples. This should include whether sample sizes 
are appropriate to the grain of the material being 
sampled. Indicate whether sample compositing has 
been applied.  

Remaining core was quartered and depending on 
lithological contacts the sample lengths were 15cm to 
30cm in length. If the core was fractured, the fragments 
were directly bagged. The sample size is considered 
appropriate for the chromitite reefs in the Bushveld 
Complex and is consistent with other sampling programs 
from adjacent properties undertaken by other 
independent consultancies. A total of 134 samples were 
taken. Sample compositing was not applied 

(iii) 

Appropriately describe each data set (e.g. geology, 
grade, density, quality, diamond breakage, 
geometallurgical characteristics etc.), sample type, 
sample-size selection and collection methods.  

Each drillhole core was re-logged in 2016 and the dataset 
includes lithology, structural breaks, reef widths, depths 
from surface. The assay dataset includes assays for gold 
("Au"), platinum ("Pt"), palladium ("Pd") and rhodium 
("Rh") as well as specific gravity  

(iv) 

Report the geometry of the mineralization with 
respect to the drill-hole angle. State whether the 
orientation of sampling achieves unbiased sampling 
of possible structures and the extent to which this is 
known, considering the deposit type.   State if the 
intersection angle is not known and only the down-
hole lengths are reported. 

The drillholes are all vertical. The LG5, LG6, MG1 to MG4 
reefs were sampled. The sampling of the entire width of 
the reefs largely eliminates sampling bias 

(v) 
Describe retention policy and storage of physical 
samples (e.g. core, sample reject, etc.). 

Drillhole core was stored safely and securely on a farm 
located outside Brits in the North West Province. No 
sample pulps still exist 

(vi) 

Describe the method of recording and assessing 
core and chip sample recoveries and results 
assessed, measures taken to maximize sample 
recovery and ensure representative nature of the 
samples and whether a relationship exists between 
sample recovery and grade, and whether sample 
bias may have occurred due to preferential 
loss/gain of fine/coarse material. 

Core trays containing suitable reefs were photographed, 
domains for cutting marked and photographs taken after 
sampling to record sample recovery. No relationship 
noted between sample recovery and grade and there is a 
limited risk for preferential loss/gain of material during 
sampling 

(vii) 
If a drillhole core sample is taken, state whether it 
was split or sawn. Samples were air-dried 

Competent half core was cut by rock-saw and the quarter 
core sampled. Otherwise fragments were bagged 

3.4 Sample Preparation and Analysis  

(i) 

Identify the laboratory/laboratories and state their 
accreditation status and Registration Number or 
provide a statement that the laboratories are not 
accredited.  

 ISO accredited Set Point Laboratories 

(ii) 

Identify the analytical method. Discuss the nature, 
quality and appropriateness of the assaying and 
laboratory processes and procedures used and 
whether the technique is considered partial or total. 

Assay for Cu, Co, Cr and Ni by sodium peroxide fusion 
using an ICP-OES finish 

(iii) 

Describe the process and method used for sample 
preparation, sub-sampling and size reduction, and 
likelihood of inadequate or non-representative 
samples (i.e. improper size reduction, 
contamination, screen sizes, granulometry, mass 
balance, etc.). 

Samples were dried and crushed to 80% passing 2mm 
sieve.  Sample riffle split to achieve a 500gm sample 
weight. Portion pulverized to 85% passing 75µm in a 
carbon steel ring to minimize iron ("Fe") contamination. 
Risk of inadequate or non-representative sample is low 

3.5 Sampling Governance 
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SAMREC 
Table 1 

3.3 

Sampling Method, Collection, Capture And 
Storage 

Rooderand Re - Nkwe Diamond Drillholes NRD1 To 
NRD23 Chrome Mineral Resource Estimate 

(i) 

Discuss the governance of the sampling campaign 
and process, to ensure quality and representivity of 
samples and data, such as sample recovery, high 
grading, selective losses or contamination, 
core/hole diameter, internal and external QA/QC, 
and any other factors that may have resulted in or 
identified samples bias. 

Nkwe and Real Resources undertook the 25 diamond 
drillhole campaign. The drilling and sampling exercise 
was supervised by independent, qualified Competent 
Person N Bleeker of Bleeker Geological Services. In 
2016 the re-sampling of the original core was undertaken 
by a qualified geologist and Competent Person. The 
entire reef was sampled so the risk of high grading, 
sample bias and selective losses is low. QA/QC 
measures were applied both by the company and the 
assay laboratory as discussed below 

(ii) 
Describe the measures taken to ensure sample 
security and the chain of custody. 

All samples were bagged and labeled under supervision, 
divided into batches of 18 with each batch including 
blanks, duplicates and certified reference material 
("CRM"). Each sample batch was recorded on 
spreadsheets noting the positions of the blanks, CRMs 
and duplicates. Batches were dispatched to the 
laboratory and again recorded by the laboratory 
geotechnical on receipt 

(iii) 

Describe the validation procedures used to ensure 
the integrity of the data, e.g. transcription, input or 
other errors, between its initial collection and its 
future use for modeling (e.g. geology, grade, 
density, etc.). 

The 2016 assay data spreadsheets were checked 
against sample logs by Dr A Mitchell 

(iv) 
Describe the audit process and frequency (including 
dates of these audits) and disclose any material 
risks identified 

No additional audits other than the 2016 exercise has 
been undertaken. 

3.6 Quality Control/Quality Assurance 

(i) 

Demonstrate that adequate field sampling process 
verification techniques (QA/QC) have been applied, 
e.g. the level of duplicates, blanks, reference 
material standards, process audits, analysis, etc. If 
indirect methods of measurement were used (e.g. 
geophysical methods), these should be described, 
with attention given to the confidence of 
interpretation. 

The 2016 verification exercise included a blank of Middle 
Zone norite, CRM (Amis0367 standard) and duplicate 
every 18 samples. The QA/QC protocols are within the 
standard measures applied for Bushveld Complex 
exploration known from Sedibelo campaigns. 

3.7 Bulk Density 

(i) 

Describe the method of bulk-density / specific-
gravity determination with reference to the 
frequency of measurements, the size, nature and 
representativeness of the samples. 

All samples submitted to Set Point Laboratories were 
tested for specific gravity using the classic weight-in-
air/weight-in-water method. The same method is used in 
exploration campaigns by Sedibelo. The number of 
determinations and representivity of the samples results 
in a low risk for the SG determinations. 

(ii) 
If target tonnage ranges are reported then the 
preliminary estimates or basis of assumptions made 
for bulk density or specific gravity(s) must be stated. 

NA 

(iii) 
Discuss the representivity of bulk density samples 
of the material for which a grade range is reported. 

NA 

(iv) 

Discuss the adequacy of the methods of bulk 
density determination for bulk material with special 
reference to accounting for void spaces (vugs, 
porosity etc.), moisture and differences between 
rock and alteration zones within the deposit. 

NA 

3.8 Bulk Sampling and/or Trial Mining 

(i) Indicate the location of individual samples. NA 

(ii) 

Describe the size of samples, spacing/density of 
samples recovered and whether sample sizes and 
distribution are appropriate to the grain size of the 
material being sampled. 

NA 

(iii) Describe the method of mining and treatment. NA 

(iv) 
Indicate the degree to which the samples are 
representative of the various types and styles of 
mineralization and the mineral deposit as a whole.  

NA 
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The analysis of the QA/QC data for the chromitite sampling campaign using mean deviation 
analysis with reference to the Cr values in the Amis0367 standard showed adequate accuracy 
and minor but insignificant laboratory bias. The blank samples showed satisfactory low levels 
of contamination. The overall conclusion by IRES was that the laboratory precision was within 
acceptable limits and the data suitable for incorporation into a Mineral Resource estimate. 

19.3 Sampling, Preparation QA/QC and SG for the Chrometco/DCM/Mineral 
Corporation 2008 Chromitite Campaign over Rooderand 46JQ RE and RE/Ptn2 

As discussed in Section 13 and summarized in Table 2, Chrometco entered a conditional 
mining and acquisition agreement with DCM and in 2008 DCM commissioned The Mineral 
Corporation (Pty) Ltd (Mineral Corporation) to manage and supervise an exploration drilling 
campaign on Rooderand 46JQ RE and RE/Ptn2 as summarized in Section 18.3. The program 
was to focus on Cr2O3 potential of the area and to generate SAMREC complaint Mineral 
Resource estimates. The details of the SAMREC disclosure in regards to Section 3.3 to 3.8 
are provided in Table 17. 

Table 17: Sampling, Preparation, QA/QC and SG for the Chrometco/DMC/Mineral 
Corporation 2008 Chrome Campaign over Rooderand 46JQ RE and RE/Ptn2 

SAMREC 
Table 1 

3.3 

Sampling Method, Collection, Capture And 
Storage 

Rooderand 46JQ Re And Re/Ptn2 - DCM/Mineral Corporation RND1 
To RND23 

(i) Describe the nature and quality of sampling  
Sampling was undertaken by independent Mineral Corporation by 
qualified geologists using standard nomenclature used elsewhere in the 
Bushveld Complex 

(ii) 

Describe the sampling processes, including sub-
sampling stages to maximize representivity of 
samples. This should include whether sample 
sizes are appropriate to the grain of the material 
being sampled. Indicate whether sample 
compositing has been applied.  

Core sampling was guided predominantly by the chromitite reef lithology 
taking into account the variable nature of the layering in some of the 
reefs. The entire reef width from upper to lower contacts was split by 
rock saw and sampled guided by a nominal 50cm sample length with a 
minimum of 18cm to ensure adequate sample size for analysis. No 
sample compositing was undertaken. Quarter core was retained as a 
reference. 

(iii) 

Appropriately describe each data set (e.g. 
geology, grade, density, quality, diamond 
breakage, geometallurgical characteristics etc.), 
sample type, sample-size selection and collection 
methods.  

The dataset includes lithology, structural breaks, nature of the contacts, 
mineralogy, grain size, bedding dips, reef widths, depth from surface. 
The analytical dataset includes XRF analyses for Si, Fe, Al, Ca, Mg, Na, 
K, Cr, Ti, Mn, P, Sr and Ba. 

(iv) 

Report the geometry of the mineralization with 
respect to the drill-hole angle. State whether the 
orientation of sampling achieves unbiased 
sampling of possible structures and the extent to 
which this is known, considering the deposit type.   
State if the intersection angle is not known and 
only the down-hole lengths are reported. 

The drillholes are all vertical and the LG5, LG6 and MG4 reefs dip 
between 10° and 14°. The sampling of the entire width of the reefs largely 
eliminates sampling bias. The average total reef thickness are LG5 - 
0.73m, LG6 - 0.96m and the MG4 - 0.98m. 

(v) 
Describe retention policy and storage of physical 
samples (e.g. core, sample reject, etc.). 

Drillhole core was securely stored away from potential contamination by 
drilling in core boxes covered by plastic sheeting. After the core was 
logged, photographed and sampled, the trays were moved a secure 
container on site. 

(vi) 

Describe the method of recording and assessing 
core and chip sample recoveries and results 
assessed, measures taken to maximize sample 
recovery and ensure representative nature of the 
samples and whether a relationship exists 
between sample recovery and grade, and 
whether sample bias may have occurred due to 
preferential loss/gain of fine/coarse material. 

Core trays containing suitable reefs were photographed, domains for 
cutting marked and photographs taken after sampling to record sample 
recovery. No relationship was noted between sample recovery and 
grade and there is a limited risk for preferential loss/gain of material 
during sampling 

(vii) 
If a drill-core sample is taken, state whether it was 
split or sawn. Samples were air-dried 

Core was cut by rock-saw and the half core sampled. Otherwise 
fragments were bagged 

3.4 Sample Preparation and Analysis  

(i) 

Identify the laboratory/laboratories and state their 
accreditation status and Registration Number or 
provide a statement that the laboratories are not 
accredited.  

Core samples were prepared off-site by ALSChemex (ISO accredited - 
ISO17025) for the analysis of Cr and other major and minor elements 

(ii) 

Identify the analytical method. Discuss the nature, 
quality and appropriateness of the assaying and 
laboratory processes and procedures used and 
whether the technique is considered partial or 
total. 

Whole rock analysis by XRF using lithium borate fusion. The analytical 
method is entirely appropriate for chromitite samples and is used widely 
for Bushveld Complex material. The technique is considered total. 
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SAMREC 
Table 1 

3.3 

Sampling Method, Collection, Capture And 
Storage 

Rooderand 46JQ Re And Re/Ptn2 - DCM/Mineral Corporation RND1 
To RND23 

(iii) 

Describe the process and method used for 
sample preparation, sub-sampling and size 
reduction, and likelihood of inadequate or non-
representative samples (i.e. improper size 
reduction, contamination, screen sizes, 
granulometry, mass balance, etc.). 

The samples were prepared using standard laboratory techniques, 
including drying, jaw crushing, and ring pulverizing. The samples were 
riffle split and prepared for XRF analysis by standard methods 

3.5 Sampling Governance 

(i) 

Discuss the governance of the sampling 
campaign and process, to ensure quality and 
representivity of samples and data, such as 
sample recovery, high grading, selective losses or 
contamination, core/hole diameter, internal and 
external QA/QC, and any other factors that may 
have resulted in or identified samples bias. 

The sampling campaign was monitored throughout by qualified 
geologists in the employ of Mineral Corporation. The entire reef sections 
were sampled and no high-grading or selective loss is applicable. 
QA/QC protocols were followed which included blank samples of 
Magaliesburg Quartzite (5% of the sample stream), CRM of SARM72 
from Mintek Laboratory with Cr grades of 31%, and pulp duplicates 
inserted at a rate of 3% per sample batch. In addition ALS Chemex 
inserted its own blanks and duplicate samples as per its normal 
procedure. No sample bias was anticipated nor detected 

(ii) 
Describe the measures taken to ensure sample 
security and the chain of custody. 

All samples were bagged and labeled under supervision, divided into 
batches with each batch including blanks, duplicates and CRM. Each 
sample batch was recorded on spreadsheets noting the positions of the 
blanks, CRMs and duplicates. Batches were dispatched to the laboratory 
and again recorded by the laboratory geotechnician on receipt. A sample 
of pulp material was conveyed to the company's Vancouver laboratory 
and the remainder stored in Johannesburg. All pulp samples thereafter 
are stored in Mineral Corporations company offices in Johannesburg. 

(iii) 

Describe the validation procedures used to 
ensure the integrity of the data, e.g. transcription, 
input or other errors, between its initial collection 
and its future use for modeling (e.g. geology, 
grade, density, etc.). 

The assay results were reported on spreadsheets and were checked 
against sample logs 

(iv) 
Describe the audit process and frequency 
(including dates of these audits) and disclose any 
material risks identified 

No additional audits have been undertaken. 

3.6 Quality Control/Quality Assurance 

(i) 

Demonstrate that adequate field sampling 
process verification techniques (QA/QC) have 
been applied, e.g. the level of duplicates, blanks, 
reference material standards, process audits, 
analysis, etc. If indirect methods of measurement 
were used (e.g. geophysical methods), these 
should be described, with attention given to the 
confidence of interpretation. 

The field verification processes for the sampling of the original drilling 
program supervised by Mineral Corporation included insertion of blanks,  
CRM at a grade of 31% Cr2O3 , repeats from previous batches and 
duplicates. The QA/QC protocols are within the standard measures 
applied for Bushveld Complex exploration known from Sedibelo and 
other campaigns. 

3.7 Bulk Density 

(i) 

Describe the method of bulk-density / specific-
gravity determination with reference to the 
frequency of measurements, the size, nature and 
representativeness of the samples. 

All chromitite samples were tested using the classical 'weight-in-
air/weight-in-water' method. 

(ii) 

If target tonnage ranges are reported then the 
preliminary estimates or basis of assumptions 
made for bulk density or specific gravity(s) must 
be stated. 

NA 

(iii) 
Discuss the representivity of bulk density samples 
of the material for which a grade range is 
reported. 

NA 

(iv) 

Discuss the adequacy of the methods of bulk 
density determination for bulk material with 
special reference to accounting for void spaces 
(vugs, porosity etc.), moisture and differences 
between rock and alteration zones within the 
deposit. 

NA 

3.8 Bulk Sampling and/or Trial Mining 
(i) Indicate the location of individual samples. NA 

(ii) 

Describe the size of samples, spacing/density of 
samples recovered and whether sample sizes 
and distribution are appropriate to the grain size 
of the material being sampled. 

NA 

(iii) Describe the method of mining and treatment. NA 

(iv) 

Indicate the degree to which the samples are 
representative of the various types and styles of 
mineralization and the mineral deposit as a 
whole.  

NA 
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The QA and QC protocols applied to the Rooderand samples resulted in the following 
datasets which provided insight into the laboratory accuracy and precision. 

19.3.1 Sample Blanks 

Crushed Magaliesburg Quartzite, obtained from Rolfes Silica near Brits provided the source 
material for sample blanks. Blank samples were introduced at regular intervals into the 
sample stream and constituted 5% of total samples submitted to the laboratory. As part of its 
internal QA/QC procedures, the laboratory introduced its own blank material for analysis into 
the sample stream. Further details regarding the source of the blank material are unknown. 
Assays of these blanks were distributed with the core sample results.  

Elevated levels of laboratory sample contamination were evident in six of the seven blank 
samples submitted in the first sample batch. This was especially noticeable for Cr2O3 with an 
outlying value of 3.1% Cr2O3 recorded in sample F2100. Remaining elevated assays 
averaged 0.2% Cr2O3. Subsequent contamination was at lower levels throughout the 
remainder of the first batch and in subsequent batches. All internal laboratory blanks returned 
Cr2O3 and Fe2O3 values of less than 0.01%. Mineral Corporation was of the opinion that the 
initial contamination does not materially affect the Cr2O3 or Fe2O3 values of the chromitite 
reefs which are at very high levels relative to those recorded in the blank assays.  

19.3.2 Certified Reference Material 

The SARM 72 CRM standard used to determine laboratory accuracy and precision was 
obtained from Mintek Laboratory (“Mintek”) in Randburg, Johannesburg. Mintek is accredited 
with ISO 17025 and is a specialist company focusing on mineral and metallurgical technology, 
including the manufacture of certified reference materials. The original material from which 
the standard was prepared was sourced from Anglo Platinum mines and comprises high-
grade UG2 reef with substantial chromite content. Certified analyses of SARM 72 with respect 
to Cr2O3, Fe and SiO2 are as shown below in Table 18.  

Table 18: Certified Selected Analyses of SARM 72 

Material 
Certified Average 

Value % 
95% Confidence 

Interval 
Inter-Laboratory Standard 

Deviation 
Number Of 
Analyses 

Cr2O3 31.0 30.0 - 32.0 1.61 13 
Fe 17.8 17.2 - 18.4 0.91 12 

SiO2 14.1 13.6 - 14.6 0.85 12 
Source: Mineral Corporation 2008 

The Fe% declared in Mintek’s reference sheet has been back-calculated from total Fe2O3 

using a factor of 0.6994. Samples of SARM 72 standard were introduced into the sample 
stream at 20 sample intervals, equivalent to 5% of total samples submitted.  

As part of its internal QA/QC procedures, the laboratory introduced its own CRMs for analysis 
into the sample streams. Three standards were used for the three separate sample batches 
submitted by Mineral Corporation.  

For the first batch (covering drillholes RND1 to RND12) the internal standards used were 
referred to as STSD-4 and were introduced at the rate of approximately 7% of total samples 

submitted, at positions guided by the laboratory’s procedures. The target ranges (deemed to 
represent the 95% confidence limits) for Cr2O3, Fe and SiO2 are shown in Table 19.  
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Table 19: Target Ranges for Internal Laboratory Standards 
Material Lower Value % Upper Value % 

Standard STSD-4 
Cr2O3 <0.01 0.02 
Fe2O3 5.41 6 
SiO2 55.95 61.86 
Standard SARM 5 
Cr2O3 3.32 3.7 
Fe2O3 Not stated Not stated 
SiO2 Not stated Not stated 
Standard SCH-1 
Material Lower value % Upper value % 
Cr2O3 Not stated Not stated 
Fe2O3 82.48 91.18 
SiO2 7.68 8.5 

For the second and third batches of samples submitted, internal standards SARM 5 and SCH-
1 were used. These covered drillholes RND13 to RND23 and were introduced at the rate of 
approximately 7% of total samples submitted, at undetermined positions. The target ranges 
(deemed to represent the 95% confidence limits) for Cr2O3, Fe and SiO2 are shown in Table 
19.  

19.3.3 Pulp Duplicates 

The Mineral Corporation retrieved the reject pulps from the first batch of samples submitted to 
ALS Chemex and selected 10% of these for re-submission in the second batch of samples 
under new sample IDs to check for laboratory accuracy and precision. Selection was 
determined to some extent by the availability of remaining pulp material for re-analysis. 
Approximately 3% of submitted samples for each batch submitted were re-analyzed by ALS 
Chemex as internal duplicates.  

The mean deviation analysis was conducted for Cr2O3, Fe2O3 and SiO2 on the SARM 72 
standard using data from all three batches submitted for analysis. 

Assay results of SARM 72 indicate that between Fe2O3 grades of 17.2% and 17.6%, error in 
the analytical procedure was between 2% and 6%.  Laboratory error in analysis of Cr2O3 for 
grades between 30% and 33% was ±4%. Laboratory error in analysis of SiO2 for grades 
between 13.5% and 14.1% was ±4%.  All the analyses for Fe2O3 and SiO2 were 
underestimated compared with the SARM 72 average value, while all but one of the thirteen 
Cr2O3 standards indicated overestimation compared with the SARM 72 standard.  

The assay results from sample no. F2211, which was the first standard sample submitted in 
the third batch, were responsible for the Cr2O3, Fe2O3 and SiO2 outlier values on the three 
graphs.  

The mean assay value of the Cr2O3 standards, at 31.97%, lies at the extreme upper end of 
the 95% confidence range declared by Mintek. The mean assay value for Fe (back- 
calculated from Fe2O3) at 16.9% lies just outside the 95% confidence range declared by 
Mintek of 17.2%-17.8% but falls within the 90% confidence range. The mean assay value for 
SiO2 at 13.62% lies just on the lower limit of the 95% confidence range declared by Mintek of 
13.6%-14.6%.  The results of the mean deviation analysis indicate varying but minor degrees 
of laboratory bias dependent upon the elements being investigated. The Mineral Corporation 
concluded from this investigation that, notwithstanding some minor concerns, laboratory 
precision was generally within acceptable limits.  

19.3.4 Duplicate Analysis 

Graphs indicated that at between 14% and 28% Fe2O3, the precision of the results has less 
than 5% error in the analytical procedure. Whilst other plots indicated that for chromite 
analysis, at between 19% and 45% Cr2O3, the precision of the results has less than 10% error 
in the analytical procedure.  
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Similarly for silica, at between 3% and 30% SiO2, precision of results has less than 14% error 
in the analytical procedure. Eight of the nine samples are less than 9%.  

The overall precision in the analysis of between-batch duplicate samples is reasonably 
expected to be limited to those levels indicated which relate to laboratory precision of CRMs.  
Any improvement on this precision cannot reasonably be expected from duplicate samples.  

The results of the between-batch duplicate assays indicate precision levels that fall outside 
the ranges of the CRMs, which is an expected observation.  

The analyses of duplicate samples present a sufficiently wide range of values, providing a 
good indication of overall laboratory precision for Cr2O3, Fe2O3 and SiO2. The Mineral 
Corporation concluded that precision and accuracy errors in laboratory duplicate analysis do 
not impact materially on the assays used to guide the resource estimation process.  

19.3.5 Laboratory Internal Duplicate Analyses 

Precision of assay results for all elements analyzed lies within 1%, with a single exception of 
1.8%. This indicates a high degree of in-batch laboratory precision.  

The increased variability shown in the between-batch duplicate assays can be ascribed to 
homogenization problems in the sample preparation process. However, The Mineral 
Corporation believed that this does not have a material impact on the acceptability of assays 
used in the resource estimation process.  

19.3.6 Overall QA/QC 

QA/QC procedures adopted for the DCM exploration program were sufficient to ascertain that 
sample assays are of reasonable accuracy and precision and that the results are suitable for 
inclusion in a Mineral Resource estimate. 

19.4 Sampling, Preparation, QA/QC And SG For The Anglo Platinum PGE Campaign 
Over RE/Ptn2 

Anglo Platinum undertook a diamond drillhole exploration program for PGEs over RE/Ptn2 
(Table 14 and Figure 14) and whilst Anglo Platinum was exploring for PGEs, the importance 
of this information is the intersection depths which were utilized to verify the structure of the 
whole of Chrometco’s mineral rights. 

Table 20: Sampling, Preparation, QA/QC and SG for the Anglo Platinum PGE Campaign 
Over RE/Ptn2 

SAMREC 
Table 1 

3.3 

Sampling Method, Collection, Capture 
and Storage 

Rooderand 46JQ RE/Ptn2 

(i) Describe the nature and quality of sampling  
Sampling was undertaken by Anglo Platinum qualified geologists 
using standard nomenclature used elsewhere in the Bushveld 
Complex 

(ii) 

Describe the sampling processes, including 
sub-sampling stages to maximize 
representivity of samples. This should 
include whether sample sizes are 
appropriate to the grain of the material 
being sampled. Indicate whether sample 
compositing has been applied.  

Core sampling was guided by lithology but was done in 20cm 
samples increasing up to 50cm in more erratically mineralized 
zones. Sample breaks were based on natural breaks in the core or 
on lithology. Mineralized zones were identified by the presence of 
sulphides or in the case of Merensky Reef Footwall mineralization by 
alteration. For a typical drillhole, sampling four reefs, approximately 
100 samples were taken. No sample compositing was undertaken. 
Quarter core was retained as a reference. 

(iii) 

Appropriately describe each data set (e.g. 
geology, grade, density, quality, diamond 
breakage, geometallurgical characteristics 
etc.), sample type, sample-size selection 
and collection methods.  

Al data was electronically captured. The dataset includes lithology, 
structural breaks, nature of the contacts, mineralogy, grain size, 
bedding dips, reef widths, depth from surface.  
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SAMREC 
Table 1 

3.3 

Sampling Method, Collection, Capture 
and Storage 

Rooderand 46JQ RE/Ptn2 

(iv) 

Report the geometry of the mineralization 
with respect to the drill-hole angle. State 
whether the orientation of sampling 
achieves unbiased sampling of possible 
structures and the extent to which this is 
known, considering the deposit type.   State 
if the intersection angle is not known and 
only the down-hole lengths are reported. 

The drillholes are all vertical and the UG2 and Merensky Reefs dip at 
between 10° and 14°. The sampling of the entire width of the reefs 
largely eliminates sampling bias.  

(v) 
Describe retention policy and storage of 
physical samples (e.g. core, sample reject, 
etc.). 

No other information regarding the drillcore security is available to 
Chrometco at this time.  

(vi) 

Describe the method of recording and 
assessing core and chip sample recoveries 
and results assessed, measures taken to 
maximize sample recovery and ensure 
representative nature of the samples and 
whether a relationship exists between 
sample recovery and grade, and whether 
sample bias may have occurred due to 
preferential loss/gain of fine/coarse 
material. 

Core trays containing suitable reefs were logged, measured, 
marked, domains for cutting marked and sampling recorded. No 
relationship was noted between sample recovery and grade and 
there is a limited risk for preferential loss/gain of material during 
sampling 

(vii) 
If a drill-core sample is taken, state whether 
it was split or sawn. Samples were air-dried 

Core was cut by rock-saw and the half core sampled.  

3.4 Sample Preparation and Analysis  

(i) 

Identify the laboratory/laboratories and state 
their accreditation status and Registration 
Number or provide a statement that the 
laboratories are not accredited.  

Core samples were prepared off-site by SGS Lakefield Laboratory 
Services  (ISO accredited - ISO/IEC 17025) for the analysis of Cr 
and other major and minor elements 

(ii) 

Identify the analytical method. Discuss the 
nature, quality and appropriateness of the 
assaying and laboratory processes and 
procedures used and whether the 
technique is considered partial or total. 

Whole rock analysis by XRF by lithium borate fusion for Si, Al, Fe, 
Ca, Mg, Na, K, Cr, Ti, Mn, P, Sr, Ba. The analytical method is 
entirely appropriate for the samples and is used widely for Bushveld 
Complex material. The technique is considered total. 

(iii) 

Describe the process and method used for 
sample preparation, sub-sampling and size 
reduction, and likelihood of inadequate or 
non-representative samples (i.e. improper 
size reduction, contamination, screen sizes, 
granulometry, mass balance, etc.). 

The samples were prepared using standard laboratory techniques, 
including drying, jaw crushing, and ring pulverizing. The samples 
were riffle split and prepared for XRF analysis by standard methods 

3.5 Sampling Governance 

(i) 

Discuss the governance of the sampling 
campaign and process, to ensure quality 
and representivity of samples and data, 
such as sample recovery, high grading, 
selective losses or contamination, core/hole 
diameter, internal and external QA/QC, and 
any other factors that may have resulted in 
or identified samples bias. 

A complete paper trail of instructions to the laboratory, delivery to 
and reception of the samples was inspected by SRK Consulting and 
found to be adequate. The sampling campaign was monitored 
throughout by qualified geologists in the employ of Anglo Platinum. 
The entire reef sections were sampled and no high-grading or 
selective loss is applicable. No information regarding the QA/QC 
protocols are available at this time 

(ii) 
Describe the measures taken to ensure 
sample security and the chain of custody. 

All samples were bagged and labeled under supervision, divided into 
batches .Each sample batch was recorded on spreadsheets, 
Batches were dispatched to the laboratory and again recorded by 
the laboratory geotechnician on receipt.  

(iii) 

Describe the validation procedures used to 
ensure the integrity of the data, e.g. 
transcription, input or other errors, between 
its initial collection and its future use for 
modeling (e.g. geology, grade, density, 
etc.). 

The assay results were reported on spreadsheets and were checked 
against sample logs 

(iv) 
Describe the audit process and frequency 
(including dates of these audits) and 
disclose any material risks identified 

No additional audits have been undertaken. 

3.6 Quality Control/Quality Assurance 

(i) 

Demonstrate that adequate field sampling 
process verification techniques (QA/QC) 
have been applied, e.g. the level of 
duplicates, blanks, reference material 
standards, process audits, analysis, etc. If 
indirect methods of measurement were 
used (e.g. geophysical methods), these 
should be described, with attention given to 
the confidence of interpretation. 

Information not available 

3.7 Bulk Density 
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SAMREC 
Table 1 

3.3 

Sampling Method, Collection, Capture 
and Storage 

Rooderand 46JQ RE/Ptn2 

(i) 

Describe the method of bulk-density / 
specific-gravity determination with reference 
to the frequency of measurements, the size, 
nature and representativeness of the 
samples. 

No information available 

(ii) 

If target tonnage ranges are reported then 
the preliminary estimates or basis of 
assumptions made for bulk density or 
specific gravity(s) must be stated. 

NA 

(iii) 
Discuss the representivity of bulk density 
samples of the material for which a grade 
range is reported. 

NA 

(iv) 

Discuss the adequacy of the methods of 
bulk density determination for bulk material 
with special reference to accounting for void 
spaces (vugs, porosity etc.), moisture and 
differences between rock and alteration 
zones within the deposit. 

NA 

3.8 Bulk Sampling and/or Trial Mining 
(i) Indicate the location of individual samples. NA 

(ii) 

Describe the size of samples, 
spacing/density of samples recovered and 
whether sample sizes and distribution are 
appropriate to the grain size of the material 
being sampled. 

NA 

(iii) 
Describe the method of mining and 
treatment. 

NA 

(iv) 

Indicate the degree to which the samples 
are representative of the various types and 
styles of mineralization and the mineral 
deposit as a whole.  

NA 

20 Bulk Density 

Density determinations were performed on retained half core for all chromitite reefs in the 
DCM//Mineral Corporation and Nkwe Platinum programs. With respect to crushed/ground or 
broken half core, the largest piece from the density sample interval was considered to 
represent the entire interval otherwise individual small pieces constituting at least 50% of that 
interval were used.  

The scale balance that was available for the density determinations (Snowrex Precision 
Scale, Model NV/NHV) had an inherent instrument error of ±0.1g on a 500g-sample and this 
error increased significantly with diminishing sample sizes.  

The classical weight-in-air/weight-in-water method was the preferred determination method. 
Standard procedure was to weigh each sample in air (weight-in-air) and subsequently, in 
water (weight-in-water). All determined values were captured on a designed spreadsheet, for 
use in calculating the density value of each sample. All density determinations were 
conducted in a closed room to prevent disturbances due to wind currents, and to maintain 
water temperature relatively constant for fairly long periods.  

20.1 Bulk-Sampling and/or Trial Mining  

Mining of the LG6 chromite reef to 20m below surface was carried out in the late 1950s and 
into the 1960s and this mining was informed by the drilling of 23 shallow percussion holes by 
TLC to delineate the down-dip continuity of the chromitite reef for mine planning purposes. 
Surface extraction of the LG5 to a depth of a few meters and along 100m of strike was also 
carried out adjacent to the LG6 operations.  

Apart from limited underground mining carried out on the LG6 horizon in the 1960s, no further 
exploitation of the chromitite reefs took place until DCM commenced a small open pit mining 
in 2008. The operation was based on limited previous exploration data and surface 
identification of MG and LG chromitite outcrops.  
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In 2015, Chrometco entered into a mining management agreement with IFM whereby IFM 
mined (with an appointed subcontractor) and bought ore mined from the Rooderand project. 

21 Estimation and Reporting of Exploration Results and Mineral Resources 
21.1 Geological And Structural Model And Interpretation - Chromitite 

A significant amount of exploration drilling has taken place some of which is not suitable for 
inclusion in a resource estimate but which has provided valuable information in regards to the 
mineralization present, mineralization continuity, the depths of reefs, the inter-reef distances 
and structural information (Figure 14). These datasets, as summarized below, generally do 
not have sufficient assay and sampling and QA/QC controls for inclusion in a Mineral 
Resource estimate but have proved invaluable in understanding the geology: 

 Chrometco 2004 percussion drilling program on Rooderand 46JQ RE (Figure 
14); 

 DCM grade control drilling; and  
 IMF grade control drilling. 

The dataset considered suitable for inclusion the Mineral Resource modeling exercise 
comprises the following information (Figure 11): 

 the NRD1 to NRD23 data from the 2003-2004 Nkwe PGE drilling program 
with sufficient confidence in the location of the drillholes and sampling QA/QC 
to meet SAMREC requirements for inclusion in a Mineral Resource estimate 
(Section 19.1); 

 the NRD1 to NRD23 program sampled for chromitite and with sufficient 
confidence in the location of the drillholes and sampling QA/QC to meet 
SAMREC requirements for inclusion in a Mineral Resource estimate (Section 
19.2); 

 the RND1 to RND23 drilling program by Chrometco/DMC with sufficient 
confidence in the location of the drillholes and sampling QA/QC to meet 
SAMREC requirements for inclusion in a Mineral Resource estimate; 

The dataset available has allowed for construction of reliable three dimensional geological 
and structural models for chromitite which were constructed using average true widths of reef 
intersections and relative densities on a per reef basis as provided in the drillhole datasets. 
The data is in the form of AutoCAD™ DXF files, GIS Shape files and a number of Datamine™ 
files as well. IRES constructed three dimensional geological and structural models beginning 
with RE/Ptn2, using the older models as a starting basis, and then moving outwards.  

A considerable database of percussion drilling results for both properties (320 drillholes), 
whilst not used for the resource models, provided valuable information for the structural model 
as the area is structurally complex due to the intrusion of the Pilanesberg Complex. A detailed 
structural model was constructed (Figure 12). There are three prominent north-northwest 
striking faults within the Pilanesberg area which were exposed during exploration activities, 
namely the Witkleifontein, Rooderand and Tuschenkomst faults, the latter of which has been 
interpreted to have a 120m down-throw towards the west and has had the effect of displacing 
the outcropping chromitite reefs by up to 800m in an apparent right-lateral surface 
displacement. Some of these faults have a curved trend towards the south and terminate at 
the Pilanesberg Complex. Open pit observations at the Rooderand Project substantiate the 
presence of these faults, which exhibit fluctuating dips from 0° to 40° whilst possessing a wide 
degree of variability in strike. The significant lateral displacement on the Tuschenkomst Fault 
was not fully understood during the early Chrometco exploration activities, and the resultant 
juxtaposition of the LG reefs against the MG reefs along their surface expression was not 
wholly recognized.  

More recent information yielded substantially lower chromite grades from mining activities to 
the south of the Tuschenkomst Fault, which introduced the concern that earlier reef 
identification may be in doubt and resulted in a reinterpretation of the reef stratigraphy. 
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All the grade, isopach and structural data was imported into Datamine™, and modeled in 
three dimensions. The tops and bottoms of each reef were modeled according to the 
intersections of the individual drillholes in three dimensions. Known faults were extrapolated 
using their known trends in order to properly delineate each 3D structure bounded polygon. If 
there were three or more intersections of a particular reef within a single polygon, the 
appropriate orientation of the reef could be modeled accurately using the 3 point method of 
determining the orientation of a plane.  

The Datamine™ geology model modeled the MG4, MG3, MG2, LG7, LG6 (and LG6a) and 
LG5 layers, in three dimensions, within the Rooderand Project licenses. The model 
construction was time consuming and detailed as it required database validation, selection of 
suitable SAMREC compliant data, importation into Datamine™ and string construction to 
support the wireframing process which were done for each modeled reef within each 
structural block. The geological model constructed was a global model with no cut-off grades 
applied but a geological loss factor was used to reflect the degree of minor faulting expected. 

The LG6 and MG4 reefs resource areas from the geological and structural models and 
estimated surface traces are shown in Figure 12 and Figure 13. 

As far as IRES is aware, no audits of the database have been conducted, as defined by 
SAMREC but reviews of the database were conducted by Mineral Corporation and IRES for 
the various Mineral Resource estimates (Glossary SAMREC 2016 and Section Table 32). 

21.2 Volume Calculation - Chromitite 

Polygons/structural blocks were constructed in ArcGIS™ using individual reef outcrops, 
informing drillhole information and structural data. Polygon/structural block outlines were 
digitized and the resultant aerial extent in m2 stored in a spreadsheet. Each polygon was 
defined by three characters, which denote the reef, the individual structure polygon and the 
individual reef portion. The polygons/structural blocks were adjusted to account for previous 
open pit mining. Average apparent dips for each polygon were estimated from contour 
intervals, which themselves were based on drillhole intersection depths. Average on-reef area 
was defined using simple trigonometry based on the reef plans.  

21.2.1 Determination of Individual Reef Thickness - Chromitite 

Western limb Bushveld Complex chromitite reefs generally display remarkable lateral 
consistency between the Rustenburg and Amandelbult sections (Figure 7), but are noted for 
local scale thickness variability which usually results from variable internal silicate (mainly 
pyroxenite) content. Total chromitite reef thicknesses for the Rooderand Project corroborate 
this general trend, with some reefs (notably the LG5) displaying a higher degree of internal 
variability than others.  

In the case of multiple layer reefs (LG5, MG3 and MG4), both total reef thickness (determined 
from the base of the lowest chromitite reef to the top of the highest reef) and thickness of the 
main chromitite reef were calculated from the drillhole data. Total reef thickness may include 
significant quantities of internal pyroxenite, which will lower the total reef grade substantially. 
Reef intersections that were recorded as faulted or partially missing were excluded from 
average thickness calculations. Overall average reef thicknesses using unfaulted and 
complete intersections are presented in Table 21. 
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Figure 12: Estimated Surface Projections of Mineralization and Structure 

 



 
   
 

 
Independent Resource Estimations – Rooderand                                                                  60 

 
Figure 13: Mineral Resource Areas 
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Table 21: Average Reef Thickness for Rooderand - Chromitite 

Reef 
Average Chromitite  

Main Reef  
Thickness (m) 

Average Total  
Reef Thickness (m) 

LG5 0.27 0.73 
LG6 0.72 0.96 
LG7 0.18 0.36 
MG1 1.06 1.06 
MG2 0.34 0.36 
MG3A 0.35 0.35 
MG3B 0.31 0.31 
MG3 total 0.67 1.25 
MG4A 0.98 0.98 
MG4B 0.56 0.56 

   SG determinations are provided in Tables 24 and 25 

Reef thickness isopach maps were constructed which were aimed at determining if trends 
existed but no observable trend in individual reef thickness across RE/Ptn2 and Rooderand 
46JQ RE could be established. Contouring of this data provided no meaningful basis on 
which to determine if a trend in the data exists. The low variability of reef thickness across the 
property was also indicated through statistical analysis.  

21.3 Chrome – Iron Ratios 

The chrome-iron ratio provides an assessment of the chemical properties of the chromitite 
and thereby an indication of its marketability. Generally those chromitites with a higher ratio of 
chrome to iron attract a premium price. Metallurgical grade chromite is usually defined by a 
chrome-iron ratio of > 2:1.  

The range for chemical grade chromite is usually accepted as being between 1.5:1 and 2:1, 
while conditions for refractory grade chromite are less stringent, with a lower chromite grade, 
higher alumina content and lower chrome-iron ratio acceptable. Chrome-iron ratios for the 
Rooderand Project chromitites are reported in Table 24. 

21.4 Grade Estimation And Modelling - Chromitite 

Two chromitite grades were calculated for each reef in the resource area investigated by the 
Mineral Corporation, one of which refers to the pure chromitite layer and the other to the 
entire diluted reef package including disseminated chromite and internal pyroxenite. Mineral 
Resource tonnages and grades have however been reported using the accumulated massive 
chromitite components for each reef.  

The average pure and diluted Cr2O3, Fe2O3 and SiO2 grades are presented in Table 22 and 
Table 23. 

All chromitite grades are weighted by thickness and specific gravity. The grades shown in 
Table 22 provide an indication of the undiluted in situ value of the reefs excluding any 
contaminant material. The massive mineralized portions of the reef packages are calculated 
for chromite content, to provide an estimate of the grade and tonnage of the pure product that 
can be delivered as lump-type product where no additional beneficiation is required. 
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Table 22: Weighted Average Grades - Main Reefs - Chromitite 

Reef 
Average Weighted 

 Cr2O3 
Grade % 

Average Weighted 
Fe2O3 

Grade % 

Average Weighted  
SiO2 

Grade % 
LG5 42.34 25.80 4.60 
LG6 41.97 26.81 4.11 
LG7 43.68 27.35 2.92 
MG1 18.08 18.12 30.80 
MG2 35.36 25.71 8.91 
MG3A 30.85 25.00 13.51 
MG3B 33.48 26.99 10.38 
MG3 total 32.21 25.25 12.33 
MG4A 33.99 26.42 9.26 
MG4B 34.03 25.87 10.15 
MG4 total 34.00 26.22 9.60 

Table 23: Weighted Average Grades – Total Reef Package - Chromitite 

Reef 
Average Weighted 

 Cr2O3 
Grade % 

Average Weighted 
Fe2O3 

Grade % 

Average Weighted  
SiO2 

Grade % 
LG5 31.80 21.79 18.20 
LG6 36.12 24.49 11.39 
LG7 33.55 24.19 13.96 
MG1 18.08 18.12 30.80 
MG2 32.26 23.82 10.45 

MG3A 30.85 25.00 13.51 
MG3B 33.48 26.99 10.38 

MG3 total 17.89 14.66 - 
MG4A 33.99 26.42 9.26 
MG4B 34.03 25.87 10.15 

MG4 total 15.92 13.14 - 

The grades shown in Table 23 provide an indication of the diluted in situ value of reefs 
including all internal waste and low grade partings. The grades would be representative of the 
mined product of the entire reef channel prior to down-stream beneficiation.  

22 Mineral Resource Modeling and Estimation - Chromitite 

Lack of discernible trends in reef thickness and grade, and the effects of fault displacement 
on relative positions of the reefs indicated that a geostatistical approach to classification of the 
Mineral Resource categories is would be ill-advised and probably not necessary for the 
Mineral Resource estimation process on the Rooderand Project.  

A global statistical method and intersection statistical analysis were applied to the data to 
assess the classification of the Mineral Resources through analysis of the 90% confidence 
limits error [(upper - lower)/2/mean] expressed as a percentage. Those reefs that have an 
error of less than 10% could be considered as a Measured Mineral Resource; those between 
10% and 25% could be considered as an Indicated Mineral Resource, and those between 
25% and 50% as an Inferred Mineral Resource.  

No Measured Mineral Resources were defined for the Project and an area of Indicated 
Resources, approximately 25% of the total resource area, was defined in the central-north 
area of the Project (Figure 13). 

Confidence in the above classification criteria was enhanced as application of the criteria 
resulted in Mineral Resource areas that accord with the general protocols for the classification 
for western Bushveld Complex projects created by BHP-Billiton Ltd and Samancor Ltd for 
opencast resources based on area-of-influence, namely that the drillhole spacing for 
Measured Resources are 150mx150m, Indicated Resources 300mx300m and Inferred at 
greater distances. The areas modeled as opencast Indicated and Inferred Resources for the 
Rooderand Project match the drillhole spacing protocols for the western Bushveld Complex. 
The general area of influence protocols for underground resources in the western Bushveld 
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Complex are 300mx300m for Measured Mineral Resources and 600mx600m for underground 
Indicated Mineral Resources. In this instance the classification criteria applied similarly 
resulted in resource areas in accord with the protocols. IRES is satisfied that the classification 
criteria applied to the Rooderand Project Mineral Resources meet both SAMREC 
requirements and the general strategies applied in the western Bushveld Complex by 
experienced exploiters of the chromitite resources in that region. 

A global Mineral Resource for the chromitite resource was estimated as presented in Table 
24. The estimate constraints and assumptions are provided in the footnotes to Table 24 and 
the discussion pertaining to prospects for eventual economic extraction is presented in 
Section 22.1. The distances between the reefs are shown in Figure 10. The economic viability 
of mining narrow reefs underground is dependent largely on the prevailing chrome price and 
mining costs. Currently the underground Mineral Resources are potentially economic (Section 
22.1) but in order to provide transparency, a modified Mineral Resource excluding narrow 
reefs (MG2, LG5 and LG7) is also provided in Table 25. 

The Mineral Resource estimate took into account a considerable drilling and historical mining 
database and the result was a detailed structural model which will materially affect the final 
Mineral Resource estimate, as mineralization has been both displaced and in places 
eliminated through structural disturbance. This aspect has been accounted for in the 3D 
geological models constructed and the high geological loss factor applied. 

The chromite Mineral Resource estimate provided in Table 24 and Table 25 is a combination 
of the following studies from different areas of the Project: 

 the DCM/Mineral Corporation 2008 study which estimated Indicated and 
Inferred Mineral Resources in the DCM area as shown in Figure 14. The 
LG5, LG7 and MG3 reefs were considered economic at that time for an open 
pit operation and so were included in the Indicated Mineral Resources but not 
in an underground setting, and therefore they were not estimated for the 
underground Indicated Mineral Resources. Ideally, Chrometco should re-
estimate the below 40m resources for the LG5, LG6 and MG3 reefs as they 
could be shown to be economic at the current market conditions. However, 
the expense of this exercise would probably not justify the additional value 
added; and 

 the data from the Nkwe Platinum 2004 and Chrometco 2005 studies which 
were modelled recently by IRES outside the DCM area and the resultant 
Inferred Mineral Resources included narrower reefs which potentially could 
prove economic at the more favourable current chromite prices. 

No detailed mineralogical or metallurgical testwork has been conducted to date to examine 
the effects of weathering on the deposit. This is totally appropriate for the level of study, so 
comment on the weathered/fresh (oxide/sulphide) characteristics of the deposit cannot be 
made with any certainty. The mineralogical and metallurgical studies will be necessary and 
will be undertaken in the next phase of study to provide information regarding the most 
suitable facility to toll treat the Rooderand Project material. 

Until more favorable chrome prices occur, the current preferred Mineral Resource Statement 
is shown in Table 25. 
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Table 24: Global Mineral Resource Estimate for the Rooderand Project (RE and RE/Ptn2) - IRES May 2017 

Source 
Mineral 

Resource 
Category 

Reef Average SG 

Average 
True 

Thickness 
(m) 

Tonnage 
(Mt) 

Grade 
Cr2O3 (%) 

Cr2O3 

Content  

(T) 
Cr:Fe 

Open pit to a depth of 40m Indicated 

MG4 4.06 1.55 0.81 34.00 0.28 1.33 
MG3 3.94 0.67 0.36 32.21 0.11 1.27 
LG7 4.31 0.18 0.05 43.68 0.02 1.56 
LG6 4.28 0.72 0.62 41.97 0.26 1.60 
LG5 4.26 0.27 0.17 42.34 0.07 1.68 

Open pit   2.01 37.1 0.75   
Underground - to a depth of 
300m below surface 

Indicated 
LG6 4.28 0.72 4.53 41.97 1.90 1.60 

MG4A 4.06 1.55 2.13 33.99 0.72 1.33 
Underground   6.66 39.42 2.63   
Total Indicated Mineral Resources 8.67 38.88 3.37   

Open pit to a depth of 40m Inferred 

MG4 4.04 0.97 1.88 35.13 0.66 1.33 
MG3 3.90 0.64 1.29 36.7 0.47 1.27 
MG2 4.01 0.29 1.02 33.54 0.34  
LG7 4.31 0.16 0.49 35.07 0.17 1.56 
LG6 4.28 0.60 1.24 39.93 0.49 1.60 
LG5 4.26 0.36 0.65 37.07 0.24 1.68 

Open pit  6.56 36.38 2.38   

Underground - to a depth of 
300m below surface Inferred 

MG4 4.04 0.97 9.14 35.13 3.21 1.33 
MG3 3.90 0.64 6.48 36.70 2.38 1.27 
MG2 4.01 0.29 4.06 33.54 1.36  
LG7 4.31 0.16 2.24 35.07 0.79 1.56 
LG6 4.28 0.60 5.44 39.93 2.17 1.60 
LG5 4.26 0.36 3.23 37.07 1.20 1.68 

Underground  30.60 36.31 11.11   
Total Inferred Mineral Resources  37.17 36.32 13.49   
TOTAL         45.84 36.80 16.86   

Source: IRES 2016, Mineral Corporation 2008 
Mineral Resources reported according to SAMREC 2016 
Mineral Resources that are not Mineral Reserves do not have ‘demonstrated’ (through feasibility studies) economic viability 
Totals have been rounded down and may give rise to apparent computational errors 
Mineral Resources reported inclusive of Mineral Reserves – although no Mineral Reserves have been estimated for the Project 
Mineral Resources reported as RoM, unconcentrated and ready for sale or transportation 
No cut-off grades applied 
Geological loss between 20% to 30% applied on a block by block basis 
Inferred Mineral Resources are based on sufficient geological evidence to show but not verify geological and grade continuity 
It is reasonably expected that the majority of the Inferred Mineral Resource could be upgraded to Indicated with continued exploration  
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Table 25: Mineral Resources for Rooderand Project Excluding Narrow Reefs (RE and RE/Ptn2) - IRES May 2017 

Source 
Mineral Resource 

Category 
Reef Average SG 

Average 
True 

Thickness 
(m) 

Tonnage 
(Mt) 

Grade 
Cr2O3 (%) 

Cr2O3 

Content 

(T) 
Cr:Fe 

Open pit to a depth of 40m Indicated 

MG4 4.06 1.55 0.81 34.00 0.28 1.33 
MG3 3.94 0.67 0.36 32.21 0.11 1.27 
LG7 4.31 0.18 0.05 43.68 0.02 1.56 
LG6 4.28 0.72 0.62 41.97 0.26 1.60 
LG5 4.26 0.27 0.17 42.34 0.07 1.68 

Open pit   2.01 37.1 0.75   
Underground - to a depth of 
300m below surface 

Indicated 
LG6 4.28 0.72 4.53 41.97 1.90 1.60 

MG4A 4.06 1.55 2.13 33.99 0.72 1.33 
Underground   6.66 39.42 2.63   
Total Indicated Mineral Resources 8.67 38.88 3.37   

Open pit to a depth of 40m Inferred 

MG4 4.04 0.97 1.88 35.13 0.66 1.33 
MG3 3.90 0.64 1.29 36.7 0.47 1.27 
MG2 4.01 0.29 1.02 33.54 0.34  
LG7 4.31 0.16 0.49 35.07 0.17 1.56 
LG6 4.28 0.60 1.24 39.93 0.49 1.60 
LG5 4.26 0.36 0.65 37.07 0.24 1.68 

Open pit  6.56 36.38 2.38   

Underground - to a depth of 
300m below surface Inferred 

MG4 4.04 0.97 9.14 35.13 3.21 1.33 
MG3 3.90 0.64 6.48 36.70 2.38 1.27 
LG6 4.28 0.60 5.44 39.93 2.17 1.60 

Underground  21.06 36.31 7.76   
Total Inferred Mineral Resources  27.63 36.32 10.14   
TOTAL  36.30 36.80 13.51   

Source: IRES 2016, Mineral Corporation 2008 
Mineral Resources reported according to SAMREC 2016 
Mineral Resources that are not Mineral Reserves do not have ‘demonstrated’ (through feasibility studies) economic viability 
Totals have been rounded down and may give rise to apparent computational errors 
Mineral Resources reported inclusive of Mineral Reserves – although no Mineral Reserves have been estimated for the Project 
Mineral Resources reported as RoM, unconcentrated and ready for sale or transportation 
No cut-off grades applied 
Geological loss between 20% to 30% applied on a block by block basis 
Inferred Mineral Resources are based on sufficient geological evidence to show but not verify geological and grade continuity 
It is reasonably expected that the majority of the Inferred Mineral Resource could be upgraded to Indicated with continued exploration  
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Figure 14: Drilling Dataset and Geological Model 
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22.1 Reasonable and Realistic Prospects for Economic Extraction - Chromitite 

In order to qualify classification as a Mineral Resource, a series of criteria require fulfillment 
from both technical and economic perspectives that provide evidence for future extraction at 
economically viable rates. Several high level mine planning and economic viability studies 
have been undertaken for the chromite Mineral Resources on Rooderand 46JQ as 
summarized below. 

A high level techno-economic study conducted by Mineral Corporation in 2009 for its Mineral 
Resource estimate for the area denoted in Figure 13, concluded that under economic 
conditions then prevailing, it was unlikely that an underground mining operation would 
economically viable, even though technically such a plan could be considered. The study 
indicated that underground mining costs would be too high which, given the 2009 
metallurgical chrome price of ZAR500/t which rendered most underground mining 
unprofitable. The study did not take into the account the high degree of structural complexity 
on Rooderand 46JQ, which would increase underground mining costs further. The Mineral 
Resources that could be considered for open pit mining within would be the Indicated Mineral 
Resources for the LG5, LG6, LG7, MG2, MG3 and MG4 reefs. Intersection statistical analysis 
deemed that all the reefs should be classified as Indicated Mineral Resources with the 
exception of the MG2 which was regarded as an Inferred Mineral Resource. Despite its low 
thickness, the LG7 reef could be exploited with the LG6 until a 40m highwall is reached. The 
LG5 reef could be exploited in a separate open pit. The MG2 and MG3 reefs could also be 
exploited in a single open pit operation until a 40m highwall is reached. Thereafter the MG3 
reef may be mined down to a 40m highwall as well.  

The MWP prepared for Chrometco in 2013 by independent Sound Mining at the prevailing 
2013 economic and technical parameters provided in Table 26, was based on both open pit 
and underground resources to a depth of 200m over a strike of 4,800m dipping at between 
14º and 21º. The reefs included in the MWP were the Merensky, Pseudo, UG2 PGE bearing 
reefs and the LG1 to LG7; MG1 to MG4A chromitite reefs. The combined resource was 
modeled through Datamine™ NPV scheduler and the economic portions of the resource 
defined using the parameters in Table 26. 

Granted, the study included the small quantity of PGEs in Rooderand 46JQ RE, but the study 
showed that mining the resources to 200m was economically possible at chrome income/t 
rates of ZAR750/t. 

Sound Mining is currently undertaking an updated techno-economic study based on the 2017 
parameters provided in Table 26. The location of the proposed open pits is shown in Figure 
15. The preliminary results of the study show that at the current chrome prices the open pit 
resources have demonstrable prospects for economic extraction and can be classified as 
Mineral Resources including LG5, LG6, LG7, MG3 and MG4 reefs. 

In determining prospects for economic extraction of the underground resources a high level 
mining study was completed by IRES. The chrome prices in the first quarter of 2017 were 
significantly higher than those used by Mineral Corporation in 2009 in its assessment of the 
potential of the underground resources. IRES conducted a techno-economic study using 
current benchmarked underground mining costs at a metallurgical chrome price of 
ZAR1,500/t. IRES concurs with Sound Mining 2017 that an open pit operation is currently 
economically viable and it is likely that an underground mining operation can be considered if 
the benchmarked underground mining costs are applied. Using an underground room-and-
pillar mining method at a mining cost of ZAR500/t and a metallurgical price of ZAR1,500/t, an 
underground operation is possible and should be considered. The techno-economic study 
supports the prospects for economic extraction and the classification of the resources as 
Indicated and Inferred Mineral Resources. 
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Figure 15: Historical Open Pits and 2017 Proposed Pits 
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The required SAMREC Table 1 disclosure for reasonable and realistic prospects for eventual 
economic extraction (“RRPEEE”) Section 4.3 and reporting section 4.5 is provided in Table 
27. 

Table 26: Techno-Economic Parameters for Economic Viability Studies 
Parameter Units Metric 2013 Metric 2017 

Exchange rate ZAR:USD 8.00 16.65 
Income chrome ZAR/t 750 Depending on sale agreement –1,500 
Platinum price USD/oz 1,600 1,302 
Palladium price USD/oz 690 800 
Gold price USD/oz 1,500 1,280 
Rhodium price USD/oz 1,000 1,140 
Ruthenium price USD/oz 90  
Iridium price USD/oz 1,000  
Toll treatment per tonne ZAR  720 
Processing costs PGE ZAR/tonne 117.16  
Processing costs Cr ZAR/tonne 16.97  
Plant recovery - fresh PGE % 80 to 82 78 to 65 
Plant recovery - oxide PGE % 0 to 60 40 to 50 
Plant recovery - fresh/oxide Cr % 75 60 
LoM PGE years 13 7 
LoM Cr years 4 7 to 8 
Mining rate (average at steady state) RoM Mtpa 6.7  
Mining recovery % 79 to 86 90 
Mining dilution % 5 30 
Pit slope angle ° 55  
Mining costs PGE ZAR/tonne 230.82 

 
Mining costs Cr ZAR/tonne 153.09 
Source: Mineral Corporation 2009, MWP 2013, IRES 2017, SMS 2017 

Table 27: RRPEEE for Rooderand 46JQ - Chromite 
SAMREC 
Table 1 
Section 
4.3 And 

4.5 

Reasonable And Realistic Prospects For Eventual 
Economic Extraction 

Rooderand Project 2017 Mine Planning 

(i) 

Disclose and discuss the geological parameters. These would 
include (but not be limited to) volume / tonnage, grade and 
value / quality estimates, cut-off grades, strip ratios upper and 
lower-screen sizes.  

The geological parameters are provided in Table 
24 and 25. Two scenarios are provided for 
transparency, namely a global in situ resource with 
geological losses but no cut-off grades and a 
modified Mineral Resource for which narrow reefs 
have been removed as they are normally not mined 
in the western Bushveld Complex. 

(ii) 

Disclose and discuss the engineering parameters. These 
would include mining method, dilution, processing, 
geotechnical, geohydraulic and metallurgical) parameters. At 
the exploration stage of the Project  

Open pit mining to 40m and board-and-pillar mining 
for the underground section to 300m. High level 
mine plans suggest a dilution of up to 30%. No 
processing on-site will be conducted 

(iii) 
Disclose and discuss the infrastructure, including, but not 
limited to, power, water, and site-access.  

Infrastructure detail has been disclosed in Section 
23.3. Power would be available from Eskom 
national grid nearby and water supplied by 
borehole 

(v) 
Disclose and discuss the environmental and social (or 
community) parameters. 

Environmental and social aspects are provided in 
Section 23.5 

(vi) Disclose and discuss marketing parameters. 
Product from the potential operation would be 
concentrated and toll treated at Tharisa mine for Cr 
and at Sedibelo (4km away) for PGEs 

(vii) 
Disclose and discuss the economic assumptions and 
parameters. These factors will include, but not limited, 
community prices and potential capital and operating costs. 

The economic assumptions are provided in Table 
26. Potential capital and operating cost estimates 
have not been determined at this level of 
exploration 

(viii) Discuss any material risks 

Structural complexity may affect mining activities 
and a significant drop in the chrome price would 
render the underground operation potentially 
uneconomic 

(ix) 
Discuss the parameters used to support the concept of 
'eventual'. 

Table 26 

4.5 Reporting 

(i) 
Discuss the reported low and high grades and widths together 
with their spatial location to avoid misleading the reporting of 
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources or Mineral Reserves.   

The grades and widths are provided in Table 24 
and Table 25 
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SAMREC 
Table 1 
Section 
4.3 And 

4.5 

Reasonable And Realistic Prospects For Eventual 
Economic Extraction 

Rooderand Project 2017 Mine Planning 

(ii) 
Discuss whether the reported grades are regional averages or 
if they are selected individual samples taken from the property 
under discussion.  

The grades reported are from every sample taken 
and not regional averages. No sampling bias is 
possible as the entire reef section was sampled 
and analyzed 

(iii) 

State assumptions regarding mining methods, infrastructure, 
metallurgy, environmental and social parameters. State and 
discuss where no mining-related assumptions have been 
made. 

The level of development of the Project is not at a 
scoping or feasibility study level therefore only high 
level mining studies have been undertaken and 
reported in Section 22.1. No metallurgical studies 
are required at this stage as the RoM will be sold or 
processed off-site 

(iv) 
State the specific quantities and grades / qualities that are 
reported in ranges and/or widths, and explain the basis of the 
reporting.  

Table 24 and Table 25. Based on exploration 
database 

(viii) 

If the CP is relying on a report, opinion, or statement of 
another expert who is not a CP, disclose the date, title, and 
author of the report, opinion, or statement, the qualifications 
of the other expert and why it is reasonable for the CP to rely 
on the other expert, any significant risks, and any steps the 
CP took to verify the information provided.  

NA 

(ix) State the basis of equivalent metal formulae, if applied. NA 

(v) 
Present the detail, for example open pit, underground, residue 
stockpile, remnants, tailings, and existing pillars or other 
sources in the Mineral Resource statement. 

Open pit and underground Mineral Resources are 
provided in Table 24 and Table 25. No other 
resource sources are included 

(vi) 
Present a reconciliation with any previous Mineral Resource 
estimates. Where appropriate, report and comment on any 
historical tends (e.g. global bias). 

Previous estimates are provided but these were not 
SAMREC compliant and therefore reconciliation is 
meaningless. There are no discernable historical 
trends or global bias 

(vii) 

Present the defined reference point for the tonnages and 
grades reported as Mineral Resources. State the reference 
point if the point is where the run-of-mine material delivered to 
the processing plant. It is important that, in all situations 
where the reference point is different, such as for a saleable 
product, a clarifying statement is included to ensure that the 
reader is fully informed as to what is being reported. 

See Table 24 and Table 25 footnotes 

IRES are satisfied that the Mineral Resource estimates presented are a true reflection of the 
available chromitite Mineral Resource. The Mineral Resource meets the requirements for 
“reasonable prospects of economic extraction”. 

22.2 Mineral Resources – PGEs 

In November 2012, Chrometco and Nkwe Platinum entered into an agreement to vend the 
Rooderand 46JQ RE PGE assets into Chrometco in exchange for shares in Chrometco. 
Under the terms of the agreement, Nkwe Platinum agreed to transfer its geological data and 
the drill core to Chrometco and conditionally abandon its prospecting right subject to the 
granting of the Section 102 Consent of the Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development 
Act in favor of Chrometco.  

The original drillhole data for RE (Table 8 and Table 9) was included in a JORC compliant 
Mineral Resource estimate published on ASX. The drilling program and sampling was verified 
in 2016 and the resultant PGE database for these aspects is considered SAMREC compliant. 
More rigorous requirements in the 2016 SAMREC code in terms of the extent of grade 
information has indicated that there may be insufficient grade information for inclusion into a 
SAMREC compliant Mineral Resource. 

A considerable database of drilling and assay information exists for the adjacent RE/Ptn2 
right which includes diamond drillhole and RC drillhole and assay data for 131 diamond 
drillholes from Anglo Platinum. This data provided a valuable reference for grade continuity 
and reef depths and thicknesses for the Rooderand 46JQ RE PGE estimate. 

IRES, in association with Sound Mining 2017, created a 3D geological model from the dataset 
which was referenced to information for the adjacent RE/Ptn2 compiled by Snowden (Pty) Ltd 
and Anglo Platinum. The principles applied to the construction of the geological and structural 
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models are similar to those described for the chromitite resource in Section 21. The PGE 
Mineral Resource area is structurally complex with resultant reef displacement as a 
consequence. 

The mean deviation analysis of the CRM data on the AMIS0367 standard, using data from all 
batches submitted for analysis, indicates varying but minor degrees of laboratory bias 
dependent upon the elements being investigated. IRES concluded from this investigation that, 
notwithstanding some minor concerns, laboratory precision was generally within acceptable 
limits. 

22.2.1 Exploration Target for PGEs 

The overall conclusion by IRES is that the analytical data available for the Nkwe Platinum 
PGE campaign is reliable, in accordance with SAMREC disclosure requirements as is the 
drillhole campaign and information for the geological and structural models. However the 
dataset for the grade model is considered by IRES to be insufficient for a declaration of a 
Mineral Resource estimate at this point. Consequently, an Exploration Target is declared, 
which can easily be upgraded to an Inferred or Indicated Mineral Resource once additional in-
drilling has confirmed the PGE grades. According the SAMREC 2016, it is important to note 
that the potential volumes and tonnages are supported by a drilling program but that the 
grade estimates must be considered conceptual in nature.  

The Exploration Target for the PGEs is considered to be 29.0Mt to 34.6Mt for 3.00Moz to 
3.70Moz contained 4E. 

Table 28: Exploration Target on Rooderand 46JQ RE/Ptn2 Only  

Reef 
Approximate 

Tonnages (Mt) 
Approximate Grade 

4E(G/T) 
Approximate 4E Contents 

(Oz) 
Merensky 12.00 16.99 3.00 4.10 1.12 1.59 

UG2 17.10 17.75 3.60 4.00 1.91 2.21 
TOTAL 29.00 34.60   3.00 3.70 

Source: Bleeker 2005, IRES 2017 
The Exploration Target is not a Mineral Resource but is conceptual in nature and there has been insufficient 
exploration to define a Mineral Resource and it is uncertain if further exploration could result in the determination of a 
Mineral Resource 
*rounded down to express uncertainty of the estimate 
Prill split Pt:Pd:Rh:Au for Merensky Reef 65:27:4:4 
Prill split for the UG2 59:30:11:0.5 

In respect of the PGE potential for the Rooderand Project it is important to note that upside 
value exists in that: 

 the PGE Exploration Target can be quickly and simply upgraded to a Mineral 
Resource through a small exploration program; 

 that the economic potential for the Exploration Target, if mined in conjunction 
with Lexshell Trading, has already been established through independent 
mining studies; and  

 that the PGE bearing potential for the LG5, LG6 and MG4 reefs has proved 
upside potential for other chromitite operations and could prove the same for 
Rooderand Project. 

23 Technical Studies  

The Rooderand Project is an exploration stage project and as such no detailed technical 
studies have been undertaken in the form of either scoping or feasibility studies. No detailed 
mine design or processing flow sheet designs have been undertaken. Furthermore, no 
Mineral Reserves have been declared for the Project. This is entirely appropriate for the 
current developmental status of the Project. 
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23.1 Conceptual Mine Design 

High level mining design and planning exercises were undertaken for the MWP the results of 
which are detailed in Sections 15.3 and 22.1. Current mine design is in progress for both 
properties and includes separate open pits to exploit the chromitite LG6, LG5 and MG4 reefs 
and the PGE bearing reefs, namely the UG2 and the Merensky Reef (Figure 15).  

The open pits were separately designed to exploit the LG5 and LG6 chromitite packages as 
well as the UG2 and Merensky Reefs which are in close proximity to one another. Both the 
oxide and fresh materials were considered in the design and appropriate recoveries applied to 
each. The maximum depth would be 160m to reach the PGE reefs in the southwest of 
Rooderand 46JQ RE.  

The design criteria applied are summarized in Table 29 but it must be emphasized that this 
design is still in progress and the metrics provided are purely conceptual in nature and cannot 
be relied upon for a potential production figures or in a project valuation.  

The PGE operation would be conducted in association with Lexshell Trading. The chromite 
operation and the combined PGE operation would be economic at the current chrome and 
PGE prices provided in Table 26.  

Table 29: Conceptual Mine Design Parameters 
Metric Units Chromite Open Pits PGE Open Pits 

Mining loss % 10 10 
Mining dilution % 10 30 
Mining recovery % 90 90 
Plant recovery - oxide % 40 40 - 50 
Plant recovery - sulphide % 65 65 -78 
Pit slope angle º 55 55 
LoM years 7 55 
Stripping ratio  10.36 16.3 

Note: The metrics presented are conceptual in nature and there is no guarantee that they will remain as stated 

23.2 Processing 

Only minimal metallurgical testwork has been undertaken at this stage of project development 
as would be expected. Furthermore, neither the chromitite nor the PGE reef packages are 
envisaged as being processed on site.  

All the techno-economic studies to date evoke a sale of concentrate at the mine gate or toll-
treatment at accessible facilities such as Tuschenkomst Mine for the PGEs and Tharisa Mine 
or Samancor operations for the chromitite material. No agreements are currently in place for 
either of these scenarios. 

The western limb Bushveld Complex chromitite and PGE reefs are well-known and have been 
successfully exploited and processed for a considerable period of time with standard 
processing flow-sheets and plants. There is no reason to suspect, in the absence of detailed 
metallurgical testwork studies, that there would be any significant risks associated with the 
processing of the Rooderand Project RoM material. The understanding of the weathering 
profile in relation to the oxide/sulphide boundary is reasonably well known from geophysical 
and loggings exercises (Section 17.1) and the areas of deep weathering have been defined. 
This information will inform the processing strategy going forward. 

The generic chromitite processing route would be similar to the summary below which 
pertains to several Samancor chromitite processing operations: 

 RoM crushed to 100% -100mm and passed over a double deck screen (top 
deck cutting at 20mm and bottom deck cutting at 2mm) which separates the 
material into three fractions: 

• the coarse fraction (-100 to +6mm to 20mm); 
• the intermediate fraction (-20mm to -6mm+2mm); and 
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• the fines fraction (-2mm). 
 the coarse fraction fed to the Wemco Drum dense medium separation (DMS) 

unit where the sinks (chromite) are separated from the floats (waste). The 
chromite (the lumpy product) would be stockpiled and then dispatched to the 
smelters  The waste would be conveyed to the waste dump; 

 the intermediate fraction from the Dense Medium Separation (DMS) unit fed 
to a DMS cyclone circuit using ferrosilicon as the circulating medium. After 
collection and recovery of the circulating medium, the cyclone overflow is 
thickened and pumped to the tailings storage facility.  

 The cyclone underflow is collected, rinsed (for collection of ferrosilicon 
medium), drained and screened at 8mm. Two size fractions result and they 
are: 

• the -20+8mm fraction, called the small lumpy material; and  
• the -8+2mm fraction, called the chips material.  

 the fine fraction from the DMS unit (-2mm) reports to a 0.63mm screen where 
two size fractions are produced. The oversize (-2+0.63mm) fraction is 
stockpiled separately for possible future processing as it cannot be 
processed further without additional milling. The undersize (-0.63mm) fraction 
reports to the washing plant which comprises cyclones, hydrosizers and 
banks of spirals performing roughing, cleaning and scavenging duties to 
produce fines concentrates. Fines concentrates are dried using the fluidised 
bed drying plant and either bagged or dispatched in bulk. 

The PGE processing route would be as follows, which is similar to the processing route at 
Tuschenkomst Mine: 

 the mining operation comprises accessing the two commonly exploited PGE 
reefs, namely the Merensky “silicate package” and UG2 reef in a single open-
cast mining operation, as the two reefs occur in close proximity to one 
another and are shallow; 

 the silicate package would be processed in a Merensky metallurgical 
concentrator plant and the UG2 would be processed in a separate 
metallurgical concentrator. The silicate ore consists of all reef and non-reef 
ore excluding the UG2. Part of the silicate ore would be upgraded through a 
DMS plant prior to flotation; 

 the two types of ore would be crushed and prepared separately and then 
treated together through a two stage ‘mill-float, mill-float’ (MF2) flotation 
circuit. The flotation concentrate would be combined in a single concentrate 
thickener, followed by filtration; 

 the two concentrates would be combined to achieve a relatively low chrome, 
high PGE and base metal concentrate. The concentrate would be transported 
to a facility for smelting; and 

 Cr recovery plant for the UG2 RoM is currently being constructed at 
Tuschenkomst Mine. 

23.3 Infrastructure 

Currently, no modern mining or processing infrastructure exists on Rooderand 46JQ that 
would serve a new operation. The availability of power and water are discussed in Section 9. 

23.4 Risk Analysis 

Detailed risk analysis at the exploration stage of the Rooderand Project is largely impossible. 

High level risks that can be identified at this stage are as follows: 

 the normal risks associated with the probabilistic estimation of Mineral 
Resources from drillhole data; 
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 the normal inherent risks associated with the development of mining projects 
which are however generally understood in the investment markets; 

 the risk of political instability and tenure disputes as a result of doing 
business in Africa; 

 the requirement of updates to the EMP, MWP and EIAs which could delay 
the commencement of operations; 

 risk of labour unrest and its interference with future mining operations and 
planned production; 

 the requirement for favourable sale of RoM and toll treatment agreements for 
the processing of the Rooderand Project production; 

 the fluctuation of the chrome and PGE markets; 
 the unpredictability of the structural controls in the Bushveld Complex with 

proximity to the Pilanesberg Complex. 

The risks identified have all been mitigated in the successful mining operations in the region 
and are not considered fatal flaws to the development of the Project. 

23.5 Environmental, Social and Governance (SAMESG) Compliance Status 

IRES is not aware of any environmental work, environmental assessments, environmental 
scoping study, environmental specialist studies or any environmental impact assessments 
that were performed either during or (post closure) of the historical mines. Consequently, no 
opinion on the significant effect of historical environmental factors on the Project can be 
assessed until full environmental assessments have been undertaken during the next phase. 

The environmental management plan (“EMP”) in support of the prospecting right application 
for the Project and the Environmental Impact Assessment (“EIA”) was approved for 
Rooderand Chrome and is available at the Company’s Head Office, so that the reader of this 
CPR can make a reasoned and balanced judgment regarding any potential liabilities, 
undertakings by the applicant and any additional requirements determined by the Regional 
Manager and agreed to by the Applicant. 

23.5.1 South African Legislative Framework 

A detailed description of the legislative framework relevant to the Rooderand Project can be 
found in Section 11.3 of this CPR. 

23.5.2 Permitting Status 

The following Environmental Authorizations are required from governmental departments for 
the activities at Rooderand (these include an indicative assessment of additional 
Environmental Authorizations that may be required at a later stage): 

 a Department of Mineral Resources (“DMR”) approved Environmental Impact 
Assessment and Environmental Management Program (“EIA/EMP”) report for 
the granting of a Mining Right in terms of the Mineral and Petroleum 
Resources Development Act (Act No. 28 of 1998) (“MPRDA”); 

 an approved Social and Labour Plan (“SLP”) from the DMR in terms of the 
MPRDA – the SLP was approved in 2010 for the DCM mining endeavour 
which constituted an open pit operation on the chromitite reefs over RE and 
RE/Ptn2. A new SLP will be required for any new mining operation designed 
for the Project; 

 an Environmental Authorisation for the activities which requires an approved 
EIA/EMP report in terms of the National Environmental Management Act (Act 
No. 107 of 1998) (“NEMA”); 

 an Air Emissions Licence (“AEL”) in terms of the National Environmental 
Management: Air Quality Act (Act No.39 of 2004) (“NEM:AQA”). This 
authorisation may be required to authorise air emissions if at any stage 
Chrometco decides to have a processing plant on site; 
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 a Waste Management Licence (“WML”) in terms of the National 
Environmental Management: Waste Act (Act No. 59 of 2008) (“NEM:WA”).  

 This authorisation may be required for any proposed residue stockpiles and 
related waste management activities triggering listed activities in terms of 
NEM:WA; 

 a permit from the South African Heritage Resource Agency (“SAHRA”) for the 
disturbance of archaeological sites and gravesites (if any occur on site); and 

 an approved Integrated Water Use Licence (“IWUL”) from the Department of 
Water and Sanitation (“DWS”) in terms of Section 40 of the National Water 
Act (Act No. 36 of 1998) (“NWA”) for any abstraction, storage and disposal of 
water, as well as river diversion activities. 

The current environmental and social compliance status in relation to the South African 
legislative requirements for the Rooderand Project are summarized in Table 1. 

23.5.3 Legal Aspects 

The legal aspects have been addressed in detail in Section 15 of this report. 

23.5.4 Environmental Parameters 

Details on the environmental context within which the project is located is provided in Section 
10 of this report. The various operations were previously a small underground operation and 
the chrome ore was brought to the surface at two shafts, loaded onto trucks and transported 
to the Rustenburg Minerals Development plant. The historical open pit operations are shown 
in Figure 15 and the RoM was similarly treated off-site. Future operations on the Project are 
likely to be open pit operations to a maximum depth of 160m with a possible underground 
operation to 300m. 

Due to the flat slope of the site, rainwater infiltrates into the subsoil, thereby eliminating 
surface water flow and erosion damage. No water or chemicals are used in the treatment 
process, therefore, long term pollution of water is unlikely. The following impacts and 
management actions are expected: 

 increased ambient particulates – dust emission will reduce as concurrent 
rehabilitation is done and vegetation establishes; 

 increased ambient sulphur dioxide – vehicular emissions will remain whilst 
mining and rehabilitation takes place; 

 increased turbidity – suspended solids will reduce as vegetation establishes; 
 loss of agricultural land – the land will be made available for agricultural 

purposes post closure; 
 change to land value – the historic mining activities have been in operation 

for a number of years and already discounted in the property values. Land 
value will increase as the land is returned to agriculture; and 

 effects on aesthetics – rehabilitation will result in a natural landscape. 

23.5.5 External Social and Political Parameters 

The Rooderand Project may positively affect the local region by creating employment 
opportunities. The regional and local economy will see substantial revenues and considerable 
wage bills. This impact will be positive in the long term.  

The influx of external mine workers to the local communities will place increased pressure on 
the services and housing in local townships. External workers will also compete with local 
workers for jobs, housing, etc, and this may cause social instability. The Municipalities can be 
affected in terms of infrastructure expectations as well as their Integrated Development Plans 
(IDP) and Local Economic Development (LED) initiatives. 
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No mining has taken place during the recent past due to the slump in the demand and prices 
for PGEs and chrome. However, the prices of PGEs and chrome have increased during the 
past year and it has now become feasible to commence with mining activities. 

23.5.6 Internal Social Parameters 

The SPL approved by the DMR relates to the DCM open pit mining operation started in 2007. 
The employee requirements, mining plan, commitments and employment levels are outdated 
and will not be applicable to a new operation designed for the Rooderand Project. 

23.5.7 Conformance and Compliance Status 

There are currently no recent conformance and compliance audits for the Rooderand Project. 

23.5.8 ESG Liability 

Index (Pty) Ltd (Index) was appointed by Chrometco to conduct a rehabilitation provision 
assessment of the mining activities undertaken between February 2016 and February 2017 
as required by the DMR. 

Index calculated a provision for the amount of ZAR14.8m which is slightly in excess of the 
liabilities calculated for 2017. According to the information made available IRES, on 15 
October 2015, the Project was issued with guarantees GR/G/00275/1015/0285 and 
GR/G/00275/1015/0286 to a total value of ZAR14.7m (ZAR5.9m + ZAR8.8m). These 
guarantees were issued to replace the previously issued guarantee for the sole purpose of 
the Section 11 transfer of mining rights. 

The main closure objective is to rehabilitate the mining area to its pre-mining landform and 
capacity. The objective is to establish self-sustainable and stable vegetation cover in order to 
mitigate visual impact, to control erosion and to create a habitat for animals. The rehabilitated 
environment also needs to be aesthetically acceptable according to the principles of Best 
Available Technology Not Entailing Excessive Cost (BATNEEC). The other objective is to 
manage the surface water to acceptable water standards when a closure certificate is issued. 

23.5.9 Risk Analysis Process 

In terms of the risk analysis process, the Chrometco Board has the final responsibility for the 
entire process and its effectiveness within the Group. Management is accountable to the 
Board and has established internal controls to manage significant risks. This enables the 
Board to exercise its responsibility in ensuring that the range of risks associated with the 
operations are well managed. Regular management reports, providing a balanced 
assessment of key risks, are an important component and the Board is satisfied that there is 
an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the 
Group. 

24 Exploration Budget 

An estimate of the historic exploration expenditure is difficult to achieve as there have been 
several programs undertaken by a number of owners and JV partners, the information for 
which is unavailable. 

The exploration stage of the Rooderand Project is such that additional exploration and 
technical studies will be required to develop the full value of the Project. Future co-operation 
with adjacent rights holders and access to their historical databases will greatly facilitate this 
process and reduce the costs associated with further exploration. The chromitite Mineral 
Resources are well-understood in terms of the geology and structure. A Scoping Study with a 
high-level mine design should be undertaken to as a precursor to a Preliminary Feasibility 
Study. As part of this process initial negotiations with potential buyers of the run-of-mine 
(“RoM”) material, or partners prepared to beneficiate and smelt the chromite would enhance 
the value of the Project. 
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Table 30: Rooderand Project Environmental and Social Compliance Status 
Act, 

Regulation Or 
By-Law 

Permitting Requirements Current Compliance Status 

MPRDA 

Approved Mining Right 

In December 2011, Chrometco’s Old Order Mineral Rights were successfully converted into New Order Mining Rights (NOMR) under the MPRDA. 
Subsequently, Section 11 transfers were also approved by the DMR, for a change of majority ownership; converting from Pilanesberg Mining Co (Pty) 
Ltd (Pilanesberg Mining) to Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd (Rooderand). 
On 6 November 2015, the initially awarded chrome Mining Right covering the Remaining Extent of the farm Rooderand 46 JQ was amended to include 
PGEs, gold ore, silver ore, nickel ore, copper ore and cobalt ore. The Mining Right for Portion 2 of the farm Rooderand 46 JQ covers the mining of 
chrome only. 
According to the information provided to IRES, in June 2012, an EIA/EMP was compiled by Africa Geo-Environmental Engineering and Science (Pty) 
Ltd (AGES) [appointed by Atla Mining Resources (Pty) Ltd (Atla)] for the proposed PGE mining activities on Portion 2 of the farm Rooderand 46 JQ. No 
record of a Mining Right or any other Environmental Authorisation exists for Atla due to the court cases that took place in relation to this application. 
IRES have been informed by representatives at Chrometco and AGES that no further actions have been undertaken by Atla following these court 
cases. 

Approved EMP 
The MWPs and EMPs were compiled for NOMR application and were updated and submitted with Section 102 amendment and Section 11 transfer. 
During the next phase of the project, the existing EMPs will require an amendment to align it with the updated MWP, whilst ensuring compliance to the 
EIA Regulations, December 2014 (GNR.982 of 4 December 2014). 

Approved SLP Rooderand has an approved SLP, dated 2010. However, this SLP has since become outdated and requires an update.  

NEMA Environmental Authorisation 

Rooderand does not have a NEMA Environmental Authorisation at this stage of the process and for any new project activities requiring authorisation in 
terms of NEMA, the process will have to run concurrently with the EMP amendment process in line with the One Environmental System through the 
DMR. The Listed Activities must be reviewed against any new project activities to determine the likely triggers of whether a full EIA or Basis 
Assessment Process will be required for the project. Subsequently, an application for the listed activities must be submitted to the DMR who is the 
relevant Competent Authority in terms of this application for Environmental Authorisation. 

NEM:AQA AEL 
No processing of chrome takes place on site, it is therefore unlikely that an AEL will be required. However, IRES recommends that should this change, 
process activities must be reviewed, confirming the requirements of an AEL. 

NEM:WA WML 
A WML may be required for planned future infrastructure such residue stockpiles and related waste management activities. This process will also have 
to run concurrently with the EMP amendment, forming part of the One Environmental System. 

NHRA 
Permission from SAHRA for 

the removal of graves 
According to the existing EMP, no sites or any objects of cultural interest have been observed on site. Should any additional features of archaeological 
importance be uncovered at any stage of the project, the NHRA requires that SAHRA be notified and permission obtained. 

NWA WUL 

No IWUL is currently in place at Rooderand and may be required for the following future water use activities: 
·            abstraction of water from a water resource (e.g. borehole); 
·            storage of water; 
·            disposal of water; 
·            river diversion activities; and 
·            dewatering of opencast pits 
  
This process will also have form part of the One Environmental System. 
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The PGE Exploration Target would require additional drilling to further inform the grade 
model. Successful co-operation with adjacent PGE rights holders will greatly add to the 
knowledge base and the prospects for eventual economic extraction. 

A summary of the costs to develop the Project to a Scoping Study would be approximately as 
follows, but it is important to note that this is not committed expenditure at this stage: 

Table 31: Exploration and Technical Study Indicative Budget 
Exploration Or Technical Study Potential Cost (ZARm) 

In-fill drilling program for PGEs - 5 diamond drillholes to 200m 0.5 
Mineral Resource estimation for PGEs 0.6 
Scoping Study for chromite operation 1.6 
Metallurgical testwork 0.6 
Update of EIA, MWP and EMP for chromite open pit operation 0.6 
TOTAL 3.9 

25 Interpretation and Conclusions 

The technical review of the Rooderand Project by IRES has highlighted the following 
interpretations and conclusions: 

 the Competent Persons Report was prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the SAMREC Code; and  

 the requirements of Section 12.9 of the JSE Listings Requirements and the 
2016 SAMREC Code (including Table 1) have been complied in completing 
the CPR. 

The numerous exploration programs have provided sufficient data of a reliable nature to 
permit the declaration of an Inferred and Indicated Mineral Resource for chromite LG5, LG6 
and MG4 reefs of 36.3Mt at a grade of 36.8% Cr2O3 for a chrome content of 13.5t. The 
geological and structural models are sufficiently comprehensive to permit the development of 
a new mine plan for a Mine Works Program which is currently incomplete, but which has 
proven the prospects for economic extraction of the chromite. The extraction would be via 
open pits along the strike of the reef sub-crops to depths between 100m and 160m.  

The run-of-mine would be sold or beneficiated by a third party or Chrometco partner and no 
processing would occur on site. The environmental permitting status is currently sufficient for 
the exploration stage of the Project but amendments to the EMP and MWP will be required as 
the Project is developed through feasibility study to construction. The environmental 
guarantees in place are sufficient for the closure liability anticipated.  

The chromite asset of the Rooderand Project is well understood and the structural complexity 
of the area has been thoroughly investigated. An open pit operation at the current chrome 
prices would sustain a life-of-mine plan of 7 to 8 years at a positive NPV. 

In addition, to the chromite asset, the PGE potential of the area has been investigated. The 
analytical data available for PGE campaign is reliable, in accordance with SAMREC 
disclosure requirements, as is the drillhole campaign and information for the geological and 
structural models. 

However the dataset for the grade model is considered by IRES to be insufficient for a 
declaration of a Mineral Resource estimate at this point. Consequently, an Exploration Target 
is declared of 29.0Mt to 34.6Mt for 3.00Moz to 3.70Moz contained 4E with a 4E grade range 
of 3.3g/t to 4.0g/t. The Exploration Target can easily be upgraded to an Inferred or Indicated 
Mineral Resource once additional in-drilling has confirmed the PGE grades. According to 
SAMREC 2016 it is important to note that the potential volumes and tonnages are supported 
by a drilling program but that the grade estimates must be considered conceptual in nature.  



 
   
 

 
 
Independent Resource Estimations – Rooderand                                                                 79 

In respect of the PGE potential for the Rooderand Project it is important to note that upside 
value exists in that: 

 the PGE Exploration Target can be quickly and simply upgraded to a Mineral 
Resource through a small exploration program; 

 that the economic potential for the Exploration Target, if mined in conjunction 
with Lexshell Trading, has already been established through independent 
mining studies; and  

 that the PGE bearing potential for the LG5, LG6 and MG4 reefs has proved 
upside potential for other chromitite operations and could prove the same for 
Rooderand Project. 

 

Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

D.S. Ferreira 
BSc (Geology), BEng (Mining), Pri.Sci.Nat.  
DIRECTOR OF IRES 

 
Effective Date: 3 May 2017 
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1 Synopsis 

The Directors of Chrometco Limited (Chrometco) commissioned this valuation report on the 
Rooderand asset from Mineral Valuation Group (Pty) Ltd (Mineral Valuation Group).  

This valuation of the Rooderand asset was completed in accordance with the 2016 South 
African Code for the Reporting of Mineral Asset Valuation (SAMVAL Code). 

The effective valuation date is 3 May 2017. 

The Rooderand asset is located in the North West Province of South Africa, on the north-
western side of the Pilansberg Intrusion, and 60 km north-west of Rustenburg. The 
Rooderand asset neighbors the Pilansberg Platinum Mine operated by Sedibelo Platinum 
Mines Limited. 

The Rooderand asset is located on the Western Limb of the Bushveld Complex. Chromite 
mineralization of the LG5, LG6, and LG7 reefs, as well as the MG2, MG3, and MG4 reefs are 
present on the Rooderand asset. PGE mineralization is present in the UG2 reef and the 
Merensky reef, also present on the Rooderand asset.  

Mr. D.S. Ferreira, the Competent Person for Chrometco, updated the Mineral Resources as 
summarized below. These Mineral Resources are detailed in the “IRES Competent Persons’ 
Report on the Rooderand Project 2017”. Mineral Valuation Group relied on the Preferred 
Chromite Mineral Resource in the Valuation of the asset. 

Chromite Resources 
Tonnage 
(tonnes) 

Grade 
(%) 

Content 
tonnes 

Indicated Mineral Resources  8,670,000  38.88  3,370,000 
Inferred Mineral Resources  37,170,000  36.80  10,140,000 

Totals  45,840,000  29.47  13,510,000 

IRES 2016, Mineral Corporation 2008          
Mineral Resources Reported According to SAMREC 
2016 

        

 
 PGE Exploration Target 

Source 
Tonnage Range 

(tonnes) 
4E Grade Range 

(g/t) 
4E Content Range 

(oz) 

Merensky  12,000,000  16,990,000  3.00  4.10  1,120,000  1,590,000 
UG2  17,100,000  17,750,000  3.60  4.00  1,910,000  2,210,000 

Total Exploration Target  29,100,000  34,740,000      3,000,000  3,800,000 
Bleeker 2005, IRES 2017 
The Exploration Target is not a Mineral Resource but is conceptual in nature and there has been insufficient exploration to define a Mineral 
Resource and it is uncertain if further exploration could result in the determination of a Mineral Resource 
*rounded down to express uncertainty of the estimate 
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The value ranges of the Rooderand asset were determined using the Market Approach. The 
Chromite Resources and the PGE Exploration Target were valued separately. The global 
Chromite Resource was used in the valuation, as analysis indicated that there is no material 
difference including the narrow reef resources at an overall lower in-situ unit value versus 
excluding the narrow reef resources at an overall higher in-situ unit value. 

The in-situ value range attributable to the Rooderand asset’s chromite interest is 
ZAR13.10/tonne to ZAR26.28/tonne for the contained Cr2O3 Mineral Resources. This gives a 
value range to the asset of ZAR177.0m to ZAR355.0m. The preferred value is ZAR258.0m. 

The in-situ value range attributable to the Rooderand asset’s PGE interests is 
ZAR15.00/ounce to ZAR30.00/ounce for the contained PGE Exploration Target. This gives a 
value range to the asset of ZAR45.0m and ZAR114.0m. The preferred value is ZAR76.5m.  

The combined value range for the Rooderand asset is therefore ZAR222.0m to ZAR469.0m. 
The preferred value is ZAR334.5m. The valuation is summarized below. 

Resource Category 
Resources 

(Tonne)/(Oz) 

In‐Situ Values  Project Values 

Lower 
Value 

(ZAR/Unit) 

Upper 
Value 

(ZAR/Unit) 

Preferred 
(ZAR/Unit) 

Lower 
Value 
(Zarm) 

Upper 
Value 
(Zarm) 

Preferred 
(Zarm) 

Chrome Mineral Resources  13,510,000  13.10  26.28  19.10  177.00  355.00  258.00 

PGE Exploration Target  3,400,000  15.00  30.00  22.50  45.00  114.00  76.50 

Total  222.00  469.00  334.50 

2 Report Overview 
2.1 Introduction and Scope 

The Directors of Chrometco Limited (Chrometco) commissioned this valuation report on the 
Rooderand asset from Mineral Valuation Group (Pty) Ltd (Mineral Valuation Group).  

This valuation of the Rooderand asset was completed in accordance with the 2016 South 
African Code for the Reporting of Mineral Asset Valuation (SAMVAL Code).  

2.2 Sources of Information 

Mineral Valuation Group has relied upon information provided by the Directors of Chrometco 
as well as information from public sources. This valuation is based primarily on the following 
documents: 

 IRES, Competent Persons’ Report on the Rooderand Project in the North West 
Province of South Africa, 2017 

 IRES Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves report May 2017 
 Chrometco Annual Report 2015 
 Technical Report on the Rooderand Project in the North West Province South Africa 

by IRES, January 2011. 

2.3 Valuation Date 

The effective valuation date is 3 May 2017. 

2.4 Background on Authors 

Mineral Valuation Group is a South African based company specializing in the valuation of 
mineral assets.  
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Iaan Myburgh has 7 years’ experience in the valuation of mineral assets. He is an affiliate 
member of the Geological Society of South Africa (GSSA) and a member of the Investment 
Analyst Society (ISA) of South Africa. He is also a Chartered Financial Analyst® 
charterholder.   

Gert Kriel has 7 years’ experience in the valuation of mineral assets. He is an affiliate member 
of the GSSA and a member of the IAS of South Africa. He is also a Chartered Financial 
Analyst® charterholder. 

The authors of this document have completed evaluations of the Rooderand asset previously. 
The authors have extensive knowledge of the history of the project, the valuation methods 
employed in the past, and previous valuations of the asset. 

2.5 Independence 

Mineral Valuation Group and its employees have no interest in the Rooderand asset or in 
Chrometco. The fees for this engagement are not contingent on any aspect of this report, and 
were determined before commencement of the engagement. 

2.6 Forward Looking Statements 

The valuation presented in this document is dependent on mine plans, commodity prices, 
exchange rates and cost estimates that are not based on historical information and therefore 
constitute “forward looking statements”. Forward looking statements are subject to uncertainty 
and risk and may cause the actual future results to differ materially from that presented in this 
document.  

All facts presented in this document are correct to the best of the authors’ knowledge, and 
analysis and conclusions are limited to the reported forecasts and conditions.  

2.7 Reliance on Other Experts 

Mineral Valuation Group relied on the Mineral Resources signed off by the Competent Person 
of Chrometco, Mr. D.S. Ferreira of IRES, and permission to use these resources in this 
valuation was obtained from Chrometco. 

Mr. Ferreira is a senior geostatistician with over 25 years’ experience in project evaluation. 
Mr. Ferreira is a member of the South African Council for Natural Scientific Professionals and 
qualifies as an ‘Expert’, ‘Competent Person’ and ‘Qualified Person’ as defined in National 
Instrument 43-101, SAMREC and the JORC Code. 

2.8 Site Visit (T1.0) 

A site visit has not been undertaken for this engagement; however the Competent Valuator 
has been to site during previous evaluations. 

2.9 Chromite Market Review 

The USGS estimates worldwide chromite ore production at 30.4Mt in 2016 with South Africa 
accounting for about 46% of that. Chromite ore is predominantly used in the production of 
Ferrochrome with over 90% of ore used for metallurgical purposes.  

The price outlook for chromite is positive with prices for metallurgical grade chrome ore 
ranging between USD80/tonne and USD200/tonne during 2016. January 2017 saw prices 
reach USD400/tonne. Prices have since cooled down as Chinese consumers rebalanced 
stock holdings. 
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South African Ferrochrome producers are predominantly vertically integrated companies with 
their own sources of ore. The market is dominated by Glencore and Samancor. Therefore, 
local ore sales are limited. China is the biggest export market for chromite ore from South 
Africa. 

2.10 PGE Market Review 

Worldwide supply of Platinum Group Metals in 2016 was 7.8m ounces. Supply is expected to 
decline in 2017 primarily as a result in a reduction in secondary supply. 2017 supply is 
expected to be 7,7m ounces. 

PGE’s are primarily used in autocatalytic processes. In the case of Platinum around 40% of 
demand is in the automotive industry and 40% for jewelry. Palladium is demand is around 
80% in the automotive industry. 

In 2016 Platinum prices raged between USD816/oz and USD1,184/oz. The average price 
was around USD990/oz. Palladium prices ranged between USD466/oz and USD778/oz. The 
average price was USD620/oz.  

PGE ore sales is not common in the South African market and PGE mines usually supply ore 
directly into a floatation processing plant to produce a PGE concentrate. The flotation 
concentrates undergo smelting and converting, to produce a PGE-containing nickel-copper 
matte. The matte is treated hydrometallurgically to separate the base metals from the 
precious metals. Finally, the PGE concentrate is refined to separate the individual precious 
metals into their pure forms. 

3 Asset Information 
3.1 Identity and Tenure 

The Rooderand asset comprises of the Right, M404, for Platinum Group Metals (PGE), base 
metals, as well as for chromite for the Remainder Portion of the farm Rooderand 46JQ, and 
Right, M405, for chromite on the Portion 2 of the farm Rooderand 46JQ. In 2015, both mineral 
rights were transferred to Rooderand Chrome Propriety Limited, a 74% subsidiary of 
Chrometco, shortly after the transfer, the PGEs and other minerals on the Remainder portion 
was acquired and included in the existing mining right. 

In November 2012, Chrometco shareholders approved the acquisition from Nkwe Platinum 
Limited and Realm Resources Limited of the Mining Rights for PGEs and base metals over 
the Remainder Portion of Rooderand for a total consideration of 90 million new Chrometco 
shares. 

The Rooderand asset is located in the North West Province of South Africa, on the north-
western side of the Pilansberg Intrusion, and 60 km north-west of Rustenburg as illustrated in 
Figure 1.  The Rooderand asset is located on the Western Limb of the Bushveld Complex. 
The Rooderand asset neighbors the Pilansberg Platinum Mine operated by Sedibelo Platinum 
Mines Limited.  
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Figure 1: Project Location Satellite Image 
 

 
 

3.2 History 

The Rooderand Asset was acquired by Chrometco in 2004. In 2007, a conditional sale of 
shares agreement with DCM Chrome SA (Pty) Ltd (DCM) was entered into, but in July 2011, 
shareholders of Chrometco did not approve the sale of the Rooderand assets. A mining and 
management agreement between DCM and Chrometco from 2007 was also terminated in 
2011 due to failure of DCM to pay the agreed right to mine amounts. 

In 2013, Chrometco shareholders approved the acquisition of the mining rights for PGE and 
base metals over the Remaining Extent portion of Rooderand from Nkwe Platinum Limited 
(Nkwe) and Realm Resources Limited. Phase 1 of the acquisition is complete, which relates 
to acquisition of geological data for PGEs and base metals on the Rooderand asset. This 
allowed Chrometco to update their chromite Mineral Resource statement. Phase 2, which 
relates to the PGE mining rights is awaiting approval from the DMR. 

In October 2014 Onicastar (Pty) Ltd acquired shares in Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd as part 
of an underwritten rights offer for Rooderand to comply with the Mineral and Petroleum 
Resources Development Act, 2002 (MPRDA) Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment 
(B-BBEE) requirements. 

In 2015 Chrometco entered into a mining management agreement with IFM (International 
Ferro Metals) whereby IFM mined (with an appointed subcontractor) and bought ore mined 
from Rooderand. IFM subsequently went into business rescue. 

3.3 Geological Setting 

The Rooderand asset is located in the Western Limb of the Bushveld Complex. The Bushveld 
Complex is a layered igneous intrusion. Within the Western Limb’s layered suite, the Critical 
Zone contains the Merensky Reef, and various chromitite reefs grouped as the Upper, Middle 
and Lower Groups, UG, MG and LG, respectively. Typically, the Merensky Reef and the UG2 
Reef are mined for PGE’s and the various MG and LG seams are mined for chromite. 
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Chromite mineralization in the LG5, LG6, and LG7 reefs, as well as the MG2, MG3, and MG4 
reefs are present on the Rooderand asset. PGE mineralization is present in the UG2 Reef 
and the Merensky Reef, also present on the Rooderand asset.  

3.4 Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves 

A significant amount exploration drilling has taken place on the project area, and where 
sufficient assay and sampling or QA/QC controls where in place, the data was included in a 
dataset that allowed construction of a three-dimensional geological and structural model for 
chromite. IRES is satisfied that the classification criteria applied to the Rooderand Project 
Mineral Resources meet both SAMREC requirements and the general strategies applied in 
the western Bushveld Complex by experienced exploiters of the chromite resources in that 
region. A global Mineral Resource for the chromite resource was estimated, as well as a 
Mineral Resource that excludes the narrow underground reefs. Exploitation of these narrow 
reefs is dependent on economic conditions. For the purposes of this valuation, Mineral 
Valuation Group relied on the Mineral Resource that excludes the narrow underground reefs.  

For the PGE Exploration Target, Chrometco and Nkwe Platinum entered into an agreement to 
vend the Rooderand PGE assets into Chrometco in exchange for shares in Chrometco.  
Under the terms of the agreement, Nkwe Platinum agreed to transfer its geological data and 
the drill core to Chrometco and conditionally abandon its prospecting right subject to the 
granting of the Section 102 Consent of the Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development 
Act in favor of Chrometco. IRES concluded that the analytical data available for the Nkwe 
Platinum PGE campaign is reliable, in accordance with SAMREC disclosure requirements, as 
is the drillhole campaign and information for the geological and structural models. However, 
the dataset for the grade model is considered insufficient for the declaration of a Mineral 
Resource estimate at this point. Consequently, an Exploration Target is declared, which can 
easily be upgraded to an Inferred or Indicated Mineral Resource once additional in-drilling has 
confirmed the PGE grades. According the SAMREC 2016 it is important to note that the 
potential volumes and tonnages are supported by a drilling program but that the grade 
estimates must be considered conceptual in nature. 

Mr. D.S. Ferreira, the Competent Person for Chrometco, updated the Mineral Resources as 
summarized in Table 1 and Table 2. These Mineral Resources are detailed in the “IRES 
Competent Persons’ Report on the Rooderand Project 2017”.  

Table 1: Mineral Resources – Chromite 

Source  Unit 
Tonnage 
(tonnes) 

Cr2O3 Grade 
(%) 

Cr2O3 Content 
(tonnes) 

Indicated Mineral Resources 

Open Pit 
LG5,LG6, LG7, MG3, 

MG4 
2,010,000  37.10  750,000 

Underground  LG6, MG4A  6,660,000  39.42  2,630,000 

Total Indicated Mineral Resources     8,670,000  38.88  3,370,000 

Inferred Mineral Resources  

Open Pit 
LG5,LG6, LG7, MG2, 

MG3, MG4 
6,560,000  36.38  2,380,000 

Underground 
LG5,LG6, LG7, MG2, 

MG3, MG4 
30,600,000  36.31  7,730,000 

Total Inferred Mineral Resources    37,170,000  36.32  10,140,000 

Total Resources  45,840,000  36.80  13,510,000 

IRES 2016, Mineral Corporation 2008             
Mineral Resources Reported According 
to SAMREC 2016 
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Table 2: Exploration Target – PGE 

Source 
Tonnage Range 

(tonnes) 
4E Grade Range 

(g/t) 
4E Content Range 

(oz) 

Merensky  12,000,000  16,990,000  3.00  4.10  1,120,000  1,590,000 
UG2  17,100,000  17,750,000  3.60  4.00  1,910,000  2,210,000 

Total Exploration 
Target 

29,100,000  34,740,000      3,000,000  3,800,000 

Bleeker 2005, IRES 2017 
The Exploration Target is not a Mineral Resource but is conceptual in nature and there has been insufficient exploration to define a 
Mineral Resource and it is uncertain if further exploration could result in the determination of a Mineral Resource 
*rounded down to express uncertainty of the estimate 

4 Valuation 
4.1 Valuation Approaches and Methodologies 

Mineral Valuation Group was tasked to value the Rooderand Asset. Mineral Valuation Group 
understands that this valuation will be used in the public domain to inform the value of the 
asset.  

The three generally accepted approaches to Mineral Asset Valuation per the SAMVAL code 
are: 

 Cash Flow Approach – The Cash Flow Approach relies on the ‘value-in-use’ 
principle and requires determination of the present value of future cash flows 
over the useful life of the Mineral Asset. 

 Market Approach – The Market Approach relies on the principle of ‘willing 
buyer, willing seller’ and requires that the amount obtainable from the sale of 
the Mineral Asset is determined as if in an arm’s-length transaction.  

 Cost Approach – The Cost Approach relies on historical and/or future 
amounts spent on the Mineral Asset. 

The SAMVAL code requires at least two valuation approaches must be applied, and the 
results must be weighed and reconciled into a concluding opinion of value. The choice of 
valuation approach depends on the development stage of the project and available 
information. Through different stages of the project life, different valuation approaches are 
deemed appropriate and more widely used. Figure 2 is a graphical representation of the 
project life stages indicating the expected confidence in the resources, completed studies and 
most widely used valuation methodologies for each stage.  The change in relative project 
value is also indicted. Based on the level of confidence in the mineral resources, the 
Rooderand Asset can be described as an Exploration asset.  
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Figure 2: Rooderand – Project Life Stages 

 

The SAMVAL code requires at least two valuation approaches must be applied, and the 
results must be weighed and reconciled into a concluding opinion of value. Due to the 
development stage of the asset, the Historic Cost and Market Comparative Approach should 
be used. However, as exploration of the mineral asset was undertaken by companies prior 
the acquisition of the mineral rights by Chrometco, Chrometco does not have updated audited 
exploration expenditure to use as historic costs. The acquisition costs through various 
transactions is also poor indicator of the current value due to market movements and the 
structure of these transactions.  

Mineral Valuation Group therefore applied the Market Approach as the primary and only 
valuation methodology of the Rooderand asset.  

To this end, Mineral Valuation Group compiled a database of comparable assets, and used 
observable values for these assets to inform the valuation of the Rooderand asset.  

4.2 Market Approach Valuation 

The Market Approach relies on the principle of ‘willing buyer, willing seller’ and requires that 
the amount obtainable from the sale of the Mineral Asset is determined as if in an arm’s-
length transaction. Since transactions are scarce in the minerals industry, Mineral Valuation 
Group supplements transaction data with market data from listed entities. In using this 
approach, the value of the asset in question is determined by comparing it to observable 
market values of similar assets. 

Mineral Valuation Group uses an algorithm to deconstruct an observable market value to an 
in-situ value range for each of the resource categories of the mineral asset. This algorithm 
uses the market capitalization and enterprise value, or transaction value, commodity prices 
and exchange rates as observable market inputs into deconstruction of the value. 
Development stage, resource classification, mining method and the depth of the resource are 
then used to attribute value to different projects in a company.  

4.2.1 Valuation of Chromite Interest 

For the valuation of the chromite interest in the Rooderand asset, Mineral Valuation Group 
identified one recent transaction and eight assets in listed entities as comparable assets from 
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a database of 24 projects. A not as yet completed transaction of a distressed asset was also 
taken into consideration.  

Mineral Valuation Group combined all the open pit resources and the underground resources 
of all the seams, and did not value it separately. This is due to the fact that extraction of the 
underground resources will most likely follow from decline shafts after exploitation of the open 
pit resources. The open pit portion of the resource makes up around 20 percent of the total 
resource and Mineral Valuation Group believes that the open pit and underground mines will 
operate as a single mining complex. Combining the resources is therefore appropriate on that 
basis. 

The Value Distribution Graphs for each resource category for the comparable assets are 
presented in Figure 3 and Figure 4. 

Figure 3: Value Distribution Graphs – In-Situ Indicated Resource Value Range – Cr2O3 
Contained Tonnes 
 

 
 

 
Figure 4: Value Distribution Graphs – In-Situ Inferred Resource Value Range – Cr2O3 
Contained Tonnes 
 

 
 

The distribution graphs of project values were generated from South African chromite assets 
at various stages of development. Each project has an upper lower and most likely value that 
contributes to the total distribution graph. The high in-situ values are from operating mines 
within vertically integrated companies with smelting capabilities. The low in-situ values are 
from early stage projects.  

Mineral Valuation Group relied on the Chromite Mineral Resource excluding the narrow 
underground reefs declared for the project. Exploitation of the narrow underground reefs are 



 
   
 

 
 
Independent Resource Estimations – Rooderand                                                                 89 

dependent on economic conditions. Excluding these resources from the valuation would 
justify a higher unit value for the in-situ resource. Mineral Valuation Group considered various 
scenarios including these resources at lower unit values, or excluding these resources at 
higher unit values and concludes that the valuation would not be materially different.  Mineral 
Valuation Group considered the above distribution graphs and the following additional factors 
to inform the in-situ value ranges for the chromite interest in the Rooderand asset:  

 The asset has been exploited for chromite in the past; 
 The resource is shallow; 
 The company holds the Mining Right for chromite over the project area. 

As compared to the projects in the database used to generate the distribution graphs, Mineral 
Valuation Group Considers the Rooderand asset to fall in the lower middle quartile of the 
dataset (ie the 25th to 50th percentile of values). The in-situ value ranges attributable to the 
Rooderand asset’s chromite interest are ZAR22.50/tonne to ZAR45.00/tonne for the 
contained Cr2O3 Indicated Mineral Resources and ZAR10.00/tonne to ZAR20.00/tonne for the 
contained Cr2O3 Inferred Mineral Resources. This gives a value range to the asset of 
ZAR177.0m to ZAR355.0m. The preferred value is ZAR258.0m. This is calculated as the 
weighted average of the values in the lower middle quartile. The valuation of the chromite 
interest is summarized in Table 3. 

Table 3: Valuation Summary: Chromite Interest 

Resource Category 
Cr2O3 
Content 
(tonnes) 

In‐Situ Values  Project Values 

Lower 
Value 

(ZAR/tonne) 

Upper 
Value 

(ZAR/tonne) 

Preferred 
(ZAR/tonne) 

Lower 
Value 
(ZARm) 

Upper 
Value 
(ZARm) 

Preferred 
(ZARm) 

Indicated Mineral 
Resources 

3,370,000  22.50  45.00  33.30  76.00  152.00  112.00 

Inferred Mineral 
Resources 

10,140,000  10.00  20.00  14.40  101.00  203.00  146.00 

Total  13,510,000  13.10  26.28  19.10  177.00  355.00  258.00 

*rounded to nearest million                    

4.2.2 Valuation of PGE Interest 

For the valuation of the PGE interest in the Rooderand asset, Mineral Valuation Group 
identified twenty-four assets within listed entities as comparisons. The Value Distribution 
Graphs for the inferred resource category for the comparable assets are presented in Figure 
5.  

Figure 5: Value Distribution Graphs – In-Situ Inferred Resource Value Range – PGE 
Contained Ounces 
 

 
 



 
   
 

 
 
Independent Resource Estimations – Rooderand                                                                 90 

The distribution graphs of project values were generated from South African PGE assets at 
early stages of development. The high in-situ values are from projects near production. The 
low in-situ values are from projects at early stages of development, or deep assets.  

The original drillhole data acquired from NKWE was included in a JORC compliant Mineral 
Resource estimate published on ASX. The drilling program and sampling was verified in 2016 
and the resultant PGE database for these aspects is considered SAMREC compliant. More 
rigorous requirements in the 2016 SAMREC code in terms of the extent of grade information 
has indicated that there may be insufficient grade information for inclusion into a SAMREC 
compliant Mineral Resource. IRES therefore downgraded the Resource Classification to an 
Exploration Target under 2016 SAMREC. This Exploration Target can easily be upgraded to 
an Inferred or Indicated Mineral Resource once additional in-drilling has confirmed the PGE 
grades. 

By applying a wider range, Mineral Valuation Group considered the value distribution graphs 
for Inferred Mineral Resources a fair proxy to estimate the value of the PGE Exploration 
Target. The following additional factors to inform the in-situ value ranges for the PGE interest 
in the Rooderand asset: 

 The asset is shallow and neighbours an existing PGE mine 
 Mineralization of the UG2 and Merensky reefs are similar to nearby operations and 

can be reasonably expected to be processed in a similar fashion 
 The existing dataset has sufficient reliability to inform volume and tonnage estimates, 

and geological and structural modelling 
 PGE bearing potential in the LG5, LG6 and MG4 has proved upside potential for 

other chromite operations and could prove the same this asset  
 Chrometco holds the mineral rights over the project area 

As compared to the projects in the database used to generate the distribution graphs, Mineral 
Valuation Group Considers the Rooderand asset to fall in the lower middle quartile of the 
dataset (ie the 25th to 50th percentile of values). Mineral Valuation Group narrowed the range 
by setting the lower value above the values for very deep resources, and setting the upper 
value below that of more advanced stage projects. 

The in-situ value ranges attributable to the Rooderand asset’s PGE interest ZAR15.00/tonne 
to ZAR30.00/tonne for the contained PGE Exploration Target. This gives a value range to the 
asset of ZAR45.0m and ZAR114.0m. The preferred value is ZAR76.5m. This is calculated as 
the weighted average of the values in the lower middle quartile. The valuation of the PGE 
interest is summarized in Table 4. 

Table 4: Valuation Summary: PGE Interest 

Resource Category 
PGE 

(ounces) 

In‐Situ Values  Project Values 

Lower 
Value 

(ZAR/oz) 

Upper 
Value 

(ZAR/oz) 

Preferred 
(ZAR/oz) 

Lower 
Value 
(ZARm) 

Upper 
Value 
(ZARm) 

Preferred 
(ZARm) 

Lower ounce Range  3,000,000  15.00  30.00  22.50  45.00  90.00  67.50 
Upper ounce Range  3,800,000  15.00  30.00  22.50  57.00  114.00  85.50 

Mean ounces  3,400,000  15.00  30.00  22.50  45.00  114.00  76.50 

4.3 Valuation Results 

The value ranges of the Rooderand asset were determined using the Market Approach. The 
Chromite Resources and the PGE Exploration Target were valued separately. The global 
Chromite Resource was used in the valuation, as analysis indicated that there is no material 
difference including the narrow reef resources at an overall lower in-situ unit value versus 
excluding the narrow reef resources at an overall higher in-situ unit value. 
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The in-situ value range attributable to the Rooderand asset’s chromite interest is 
ZAR10.50/tonne to ZAR21.00/tonne for the contained Cr2O3 Mineral Resources. This gives a 
value range to the asset of ZAR177.0m to ZAR355.0m. The preferred value is ZAR258.0m. 

The in-situ value range attributable to the Rooderand asset’s PGE interests is 
ZAR15.00/ounce to ZAR30.00/ounce for the contained PGE Exploration Target. This gives a 
value range to the asset of ZAR45.0m and ZAR114.0m. The preferred value is ZAR76.5m.  

The combined value range for the Rooderand asset is therefore ZAR222.0m to ZAR468.0m. 
The preferred value is ZAR334.5m. The valuation is summarized in Table 5. 

Table 5: Valuation Summary: Total Value 

Resource Category 
Resources 
(tonne)/(oz) 

In‐Situ Values  Project Values 

Lower 
Value 

(ZAR/unit) 

Upper 
Value 

(ZAR/unit) 

Preferred 
(ZAR/unit) 

Lower 
Value 
(ZARm) 

Upper 
Value 
(ZARm) 

Preferred 
(ZARm) 

Chrome Mineral Resources  13,510,000  13.10  26.28  19.10  177.00  355.00  258.00 
PGE Exploration Target  3,400,000  15.00  30.00  22.50  45.00  114.00  76.50 

Total  222.00  469.00  334.50 

4.4 Previous Valuations 

In 2013, Venmyn Rand (Pty) Ltd (Venmyn Rand) valued the chromite interests between 
ZAR255.99m and ZAR511.98m. This was based on a Mineral Resource of 13.42Mt Cr2O3 
contained in the Indicated Resource category and 6.74Mt Cr2O3 contained in the Inferred 
Resource category. This valuation was presented in Chrometco’s 2013 Annual Report.  The 
same Mineral Resource was used in the 2014 Annual Report, and Venmyn Rand valued the 
chromite interest between ZAR120.85m and ZAR302.13m.  The 2015 Annual Report did not 
include a valuation of the assets.  

5 Conclusions 

The value ranges of the Rooderand asset were determined using the Market Approach. The 
Chromite Resources and the PGE Exploration Target were valued separately. The global 
Chromite Resource was used in the valuation, as analysis indicated that there is no material 
difference including the narrow reef resources at an overall lower in-situ unit value versus 
excluding the narrow reef resources at an overall higher in-situ unit value. 

The in-situ value range attributable to the Rooderand asset’s chromite interest is 
ZAR13.10/tonne to ZAR26.28/tonne for the contained Cr2O3 Mineral Resources. This gives a 
value range to the asset of ZAR177.0m to ZAR355.0m. The preferred value is ZAR258.0m. 

The in-situ value range attributable to the Rooderand asset’s PGE interests is 
ZAR15.00/ounce to ZAR30.00/ounce for the contained PGE Exploration Target. This gives a 
value range to the asset of ZAR45.0m and ZAR114.0m. The preferred value is ZAR76.5m.  

The combined value range for the Rooderand asset is therefore ZAR222.0m to ZAR469.0m. 
The preferred value is ZAR334.5m. The valuation is summarized in Table 6. 

Table 6: Valuation Summary: Total Value 

Resource Category 
Resources 
(tonne)/(oz) 

In‐Situ Values  Project Values 

Lower 
Value 

(ZAR/unit) 

Upper 
Value 

(ZAR/unit) 

Preferred 
(ZAR/unit) 

Lower 
Value 
(ZARm) 

Upper 
Value 
(ZARm) 

Preferred 
(ZARm) 

Chrome Mineral Resources  13,510,000  13.10  26.28  19.10  177.00  355.00  258.00 
PGE Exploration Target  3,400,000  15.00  30.00  22.50  45.00  114.00  76.50 

Total  222.00  469.00  334.50 
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CHROMETCO LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) 
(Registration number 2002/026265/06)
Share code: CMO ISIN: ZAE000070249
(“Chrometco” or “the Company”)

Notice is hereby given that the annual general 
meeting of shareholders of Chrometco will 
be held in the boardroom, at Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, 
Rosebank, 2196, Johannesburg on Tuesday, 
15 August 2017 at 10:00 (“the Annual General 
Meeting”) to consider the business set out 
herein and if deemed fit, to pass, with or 
without modification, the ordinary and special 
resolutions set out below.

Important dates:

• Record date to receive the notice of Annual 
General Meeting is Friday, 23 June 2017.

• Last date to trade to be eligible to vote is 
Tuesday, 1 August 2017.

• Record date to be eligible to vote is Friday, 
4 August 2017.

• Last date for lodging forms of proxy is 
Friday, 11 August 2017.

ORDINARY BUSINESS
Presentation of annual 
financial statements
The audited annual financial statements are 
available on the Company’s website, at www. 
chrometco.co.za, or may be obtained in 
person, at no charge, at the registered offices 
of the Company at, 71 Van Beek Avenue 
Glenanda Johannesburg, 2091, Gauteng, 
during office hours.

Ordinary resolution number 1: 
Re-appointment of auditors
Resolved that Mazars Incorporated be and 
are hereby re-appointed as the independent 
auditors of the Company (the designated 
auditor being Mr B Bank) for the ensuing year, 
such auditors having been nominated by the 
Company’s Audit Committee.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 
1 is that the Company, being a public listed 
company, must have its financial results 
audited and such auditor must be appointed or 
re-appointed each year at the Annual General 
Meeting of the Company as required by the 
South African Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as 
amended (“the Companies Act”).

The minimum percentage of voting rights that 
is required for this resolution to be adopted is 
50% of the voting rights plus one vote to be 
cast in favour of the resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 2: 
Election and re-election 
of Directors
In terms of the Company’s memorandum of 
incorporation (“MOI”), the following directors 
retire by rotation at the Annual General 
Meeting, but, being eligible, offer themselves 
for re-election:

• Mr JG Scott

• Mr E Bramley.

Accordingly, shareholders are requested to 
consider and, if deemed fit, to re-elect the 
Directors named above by way of passing the 
separate ordinary resolutions set out below:

• Ordinary resolution number 2(a): 
Re-election of JG Scott as Director.

• Resolved that JG Scott be and is hereby 
re-elected as a director of the Company.

• Ordinary resolution number 2(b): 
Re-election of E Bramley as Director.

• Resolved that E Bramley be and is hereby 
re-elected as a Director of the Company.

The reason for ordinary resolutions numbers 
2(a) and 2(b) is that the MOI of the Company, 
the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited 
(“JSE”) and, to the extent applicable, the 
Companies Act, require that a component of 
the Non-Executive Directors rotate at every 
Annual General Meeting of the Company 
and, being eligible, may offer themselves for 
re-election as Directors.

A brief curriculum vitae of each Director 
is available on page 3 of this integrated 
annual report.

Ordinary resolution number 3: 
Re-appointment of Audit 
Committee members
To re-appoint individually the following 
independent Non-Executive Directors to the 
Audit Committee:

• Ordinary resolution number 3(a): 
Re-appointment of JG Scott as a member 
of the Audit Committee.

• Ordinary resolution number 3(b): 
Re-appointment of R Rossiter as 
Chairperson of the Audit Committee.

• Ordinary resolution number 3(c): 

Re-appointment of E Bramley as a 
member of the Audit Committee.

• Ordinary resolution number 3(d): 
Re-appointment of I Collair as a member 
of the Audit Committee.

A brief curriculum vitae of each Director 
is available on page 3 of this integrated 
annual report.

The reason for ordinary resolutions numbers 
3(a) to 3(d) (inclusive) is that the Company, 
being a public listed company, must appoint 
an Audit Committee and the Companies 
Act requires that the members of such Audit 
Committee be appointed, or re-appointed, 
as the case may be, at each Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.

The minimum percentage of voting rights that 
is required for this resolution to be adopted is 
50% of the voting rights plus one vote to be 
cast in favour of the resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 4: 
General authority to issue shares 
for cash
Resolved that, subject to the provisions of the 
Company’s MOI, the Listings Requirements of 
the JSE (“the JSE Listings Requirements”) and 
the Companies Act, the mandate given to the 
Directors of the Company in terms of a general 
authority to issue shares for cash, as and 
when suitable opportunities arise, be renewed 
subject to the following conditions:

1. The general authority be valid until the 
Company’s next Annual General Meeting, 
provided that it shall not extend beyond 
15 months from the date of the passing of 
this ordinary resolution (whichever period 
is shorter).

2. The allotment and issue of the shares must 
be made to public shareholders, as defined 
in the JSE Listings Requirements, and not 
to related parties.

3. The shares which are the subject of the 
issue for cash must be of a class already in 
issue, or where this is not the case, must 
be limited to such shares or rights that are 
convertible into a class already in issue.

4. The number of shares issued for cash, 
in aggregate in any one financial year, 
shall not exceed 50% (fifty percent) of 
the Company’s issued ordinary share 
capital as at the date of this notice of 
Annual General Meeting, provided that any 
ordinary shares to be issued pursuant to 

Notice of Annual General 
Meeting
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a rights issue (announced, irrevocable and 
fully underwritten) or an acquisition issue 
shall not diminish the number of ordinary 
shares that comprise the 50% of ordinary 
shares that may be issued in terms of this 
ordinary resolution. As at the date of this 
notice of Annual General Meeting, 50% 
of the Company’s issued ordinary share 
capital (net of treasury shares) amounts to 
137 464 341 ordinary shares.

5. The maximum discount at which ordinary 
shares may be issued is 10% (ten percent) 
of the weighted average traded price of 
those shares on the JSE over the 30 (thirty) 
business days prior to the date that the 
price of the issue is agreed between the 
Company and the party subscribing for the 
securities or any other price agreed to by 
the JSE. The JSE will be consulted for a 
ruling if the shares have not traded in such 
30-day period.

6. After the Company has issued shares for 
cash which represent, on a cumulative 
basis within a financial year, 5% (five 
percent) or more of the number of shares in 
issue prior to that issue, the Company shall 
publish an announcement containing full 
details of the issue (including the number 
of shares issued, the average discount 
to the weighted average traded price of 
the shares over the 30 (thirty) business 
days prior to the date that the price of 
the issue is agreed in writing between 
the issuer and the party subscribing for 
the shares and the effect of the issue on 
net asset value, net tangible asset value, 
earnings and headline earnings per share), 
or any other announcements that may be 
required in such regard in terms of the 
Listings Requirements of the JSE which 
may be applicable from time to time. 
For listed entities wishing to issue shares 
for cash (other than issues by way of rights 
offers, in consideration for acquisitions 
and/or to share incentive schemes (which 
schemes have been duly approved by 
the JSE and by the shareholders of the 
company)), it is necessary for the Board of 
the Company to obtain the prior authority 
of the shareholders in accordance with the 
JSE Listings Requirements and the MOI of 
the Company. Accordingly, the reason for 
ordinary resolution number 4 is to obtain a 
general authority from shareholders to issue 
shares for cash in compliance with the 
JSE Listings Requirements and the MOI of 
the Company. In terms of the JSE Listings 
Requirements, a 75% (seventy-five percent) 
majority of the votes cast by shareholders 
present or represented by proxy at the 
Annual General Meeting, must be cast in 
favour of ordinary resolution number 4 for it 
to be approved.

Ordinary resolution number 5: 
Remuneration philosophy
To approve, by way of a non-binding advisory 
vote, the remuneration philosophy of the 
Company, as set out on pages 15 and 16 of 
this integrated annual report. The minimum 
percentage of voting rights that is required for 
this resolution to be adopted is 50% of the 
voting rights plus one vote to be cast in favour 
the resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 6: 
Authority to sign all 
documents required
Resolved that, subject to the passing of 
ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 5 and 
special resolutions numbers 1 to 4, any 
director of the Company or the Company 
Secretary be and is hereby authorised to sign 
all documents and perform all acts which may 
be required to give effect to such ordinary 
resolutions numbers 1 to 5 and special 
resolutions numbers 1 to 4 passed at the 
Annual General Meeting; hereby ratifying and 
confirming all such things already done and 
documentation already signed. In order for this 
ordinary resolution to be adopted, it must be 
supported by more than 50% of the votes cast 
by shareholders present or represented by 
proxy at this meeting.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
Special resolution number 
1: General authority to 
repurchase shares
Resolved, in terms of the MOI of the Company 
(or one of its subsidiaries), the JSE Listings 
Requirements and sections 46 and 48 of 
the Companies Act, that the Directors of the 
Company be authorised, by way of a general 
authority, until this authority lapses at the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Company, 
provided that it shall not extend beyond 15 
(fifteen) months from the date of passing of 
this special resolution (whichever period is 
the shorter), to acquire the Company’s own 
shares, upon such terms and conditions and in 
such amounts as the Directors may from time 
to time decide, subject to the following terms 
and conditions:

1. Any repurchase of securities must be 
effected through the order book operated 
by the JSE trading system and done 
without any prior understanding or 
arrangement between the Company and 
the counter-party.

2. The repurchase is authorised by the 
Company’s MOI.

3. At any point in time, the Company may 
only appoint one agent to effect any 
repurchases on its behalf.

4. The number of shares which may be 
repurchased pursuant to this authority in 
any financial year may not, in the aggregate, 
exceed 20% (twenty percent) of the 
Company’s issued share capital.

5. Repurchases of shares may not be made 
at a price greater than 10% (ten percent) 
above the weighted average of the market 
value of the securities for the 5 (five) 
business days immediately preceding the 
date on which the transaction was effected.

6. Repurchases may not be undertaken by the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries during 
a prohibited period, as defined in the JSE 
Listings Requirements, unless a repurchase 
programme is in place where the dates and 
quantities of securities to be repurchased 
during the relevant period are fixed, which 
programme has been submitted to the JSE 
in writing and executed by an independent 
third party.

7. After the Company has acquired shares 
which constitute, on a cumulative basis, 
3% (three percent) of the initial number 
of shares in issue (at the time that the 
authority from shareholders for the 
repurchase is granted) of the relevant 
class of securities and for each 3% (three 
percent) in aggregate of the initial number of 
that class acquired thereafter, the Company 
shall publish an announcement containing 
full details of such repurchase.

8. The Board of Directors have passed a 
resolution authorising the repurchase and 
that the Company has passed the solvency 
and liquidity test contained in section 4 of 
the Companies Act, and that since the test 
was done, there have been no material 
changes to the financial position of the 
Company. The reason for and effect of 
special resolution number 1 is to extend 
the general authority given to the Directors 
of the Company or any subsidiary of the 
Company, in terms of the Companies 
Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, 
for the acquisition by the Company or its 
subsidiaries of the Company’s securities 
which authority shall be used at the 
Directors’ discretion during the course of 
the period authorised.

In accordance with the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the Directors record that:

1. They have no specific intention to 
repurchase shares, but would utilise the 
renewed general authority to repurchase 
securities to serve shareholders’ interests, 
as and when suitable opportunities present 
themselves, which opportunities may 
require expeditious and immediate action.
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2. The Directors, after considering the effect 
of the maximum number of securities 
which may be repurchased pursuant to the 
general authority, are of the opinion that, for 
a period of 12 (twelve) months after the date 
of this notice of Annual General Meeting:

a. the Company and the Group will be able 
to pay their debts in the ordinary course 
of business;

b. the consolidated assets of the Company 
and of the Group will be in excess 
of the liabilities of the Company and 
the Group; the assets and liabilities 
being recognised and measured in 
accordance with the accounting policies 
used in the latest audited Group annual 
financial statements;

c. the share capital and reserves of 
the Company and of the Group 
are adequate for ordinary business 
purposes; and

d. the working capital of the Company and 
the Group will be adequate for ordinary 
business purposes.

3. The minimum percentage of voting rights 
that is required for this resolution to be 
adopted is 75% to be cast in favour of 
the resolution.

Special resolution 
number 2: Approval of 
Directors’ remuneration
Resolved that, in terms of section 66(9) of the 
Companies Act, the Company be authorised to 
pay a maximum amount of remuneration to its 
Non-Executive Directors for their services as 
Directors as listed below: 

Proposed 
fees for the 
year ended 

28 February 
2018 

(per meeting)

Proposed 
fees for the 
year ended 

28 February 
2017 

(per meeting

Board 
Chairman R8 000 R8 000
Board 
member R8 000 R8 000
Audit 
Committee 
Chairman R4 000 R4 000
Audit 
Committee 
member R4 000 R4 000
Remuneration 
Committee 
Chairman R nil R nil
Remuneration 
Committee 
member R nil R nil

The reason and effect for special resolution 
number 2 is to obtain shareholder approval, by 
way of a special resolution, for Non-Executive 
Directors’ remuneration for their services 
as directors in compliance with the 
Companies Act.

It is noted that the remuneration payable to 
Directors in their capacities as such does not 
include salaries and other benefits payable to 
Directors in other capacities.

The minimum percentage of voting rights that 
is required for this resolution to be adopted is 
75% (seventy-five percent) of the voting rights 
to be cast in favour of the resolution.

Special resolution 
number 3: Inter-company 
financial assistance
Resolved, in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of 
the Companies Act, as a general approval, 
that the Board of the Company be and 
is hereby authorised to approve that the 
Company provides any direct or indirect 
financial assistance (“financial assistance” 
will herein have the meaning attributed to it 
in section 45(1) of the Companies Act) that 
the Board of the Company may deem fit to 
any company or corporation that is related 
or inter-related (“related” or “inter-related” 
will herein have the meaning attributed to 
it in section 2 of the Companies Act) to the 
Company, on the terms and conditions and for 
amounts that the board of the Company may 
determine, provided that the aforementioned 
approval shall be valid until the date of the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company. 
The reason for and effect of special resolution 
number 3 is to grant the Directors of the 
Company the authority, until the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company, to provide 
direct or indirect financial assistance to any 
company or corporation which is related or 
inter-related to the Company. This means that 
the Company is, inter alia, authorised to grant 
loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee the 
debt of its subsidiaries.

The minimum percentage of voting rights that 
is required for this resolution to be adopted is 
75% (seventy-five percent) of the voting rights 
to be cast in favour of the resolution.

Notifications
Shareholders are hereby notified in terms of 
section 45(5) of the Companies Act that the 
Board has passed the same resolution to take 
effect on the passing of special resolution 
number 3 by shareholders and that the Board 
is satisfied that the Company meets the 
solvency and liquidity test.

Special resolution number 4: 
Financial assistance for the 
subscription or purchase of 
shares in the company or in a 
related or inter-related company
Resolved, in terms of Section 44(3)(a)(ii) of 
the Companies Act, as a general approval, 
that the Board of the Company be and 
is hereby authorised to approve that the 
Company provides any direct or indirect 
financial assistance (“financial assistance” 
will herein have the meaning attributed to it in 
Sections 44(1) and 44(2) of the Companies Act) 
that the Board of the Company may deem fit 
to any company or corporation that is related 
or inter-related to the Company (“related” or 
“inter-related” will herein have the meaning 
attributed to it in Section 2 of the Companies 
Act), on the terms and conditions and for 
amounts that the Board of the Company 
may determine for the purpose of, or in 
connection with the subscription of any option, 
or any shares or other securities, issued or 
to be issued by the Company or a related 
or inter-related company or corporation, or 
for the purchase of any shares or securities 
of the Company or a related or inter-related 
company or corporation, provided that the 
aforementioned approval shall be valid until 
the date of the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company.

The reason for and effect of special resolution 
number 4 is to grant the Directors the authority, 
until the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company, to provide financial assistance to 
any company or corporation which is related or 
inter-related to the Company for the purpose 
of, or in connection with, the subscription or 
purchase of options, shares or other securities 
in the Company or any related or inter-related 
company or corporation. This means that the 
Company is authorised, inter alia, to grant 
loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee and 
furnish security for the debt of its subsidiaries 
where any such financial assistance is directly 
or indirectly related to a party subscribing for 
options, shares or securities in the Company 
or its subsidiaries. The minimum percentage of 
voting rights that is required for this resolution 
to be adopted is 75% (seventy-five percent) 
of the voting rights to be cast in favour of 
the resolution.

The Company has no immediate plans to 
use this authority and is simply obtaining 
same in the interests of prudence and good 
corporate governance should the unforeseen 
need arise to use the authority. In terms of and 
pursuant to the provisions of sections 44 and 
45 of the Companies Act, the Directors of 
the Company confirm that the Board will 
satisfy itself, after considering all reasonably 
foreseeable financial circumstances of the 
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Company, that immediately after providing any 
financial assistance as contemplated in special 
resolutions numbers 3 and 4 above:

• the assets of the Company (fairly valued) 
will equal or exceed the liabilities of 
the Company (fairly valued) (taking into 
consideration the reasonably foreseeable 
contingent assets and liabilities of 
the Company);

• the Company will be able to pay its debts 
as they become due in the ordinary course 
of business for a period of 12 months;

• the terms under which any financial 
assistance is proposed to be provided, 
will be fair and reasonable to the 
Company; and

• all relevant conditions and restrictions (if 
any) relating to the granting of financial 
assistance by the Company as contained 
in the Company’s MOI have been met.

DISCLOSURES REQUIRED 
IN TERMS OF PARAGRAPH 
11.26 OF THE JSE LISTINGS 
REQUIREMENTS
The following additional information, some 
of which may appear elsewhere in this 
annual report, is provided in terms of the JSE 
Listings Requirements for purposes of special 
resolution number 1:

Major shareholders – page 52. 

Company’s share capital – page 43.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY 
STATEMENT
The Directors, whose names are given on 
page 3 of this annual report, collectively and 
individually, accept full responsibility for the 
accuracy of the information pertaining to 
special resolution number 1 and certify that, 
to the best of their knowledge and belief, there 
are no facts that have been omitted which 
would make any statement false or misleading 
and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain 
such facts have been made and that the 
aforementioned special resolution contains all 
the information required by the JSE.

MATERIAL CHANGE
Other than the facts and developments 
reported on in this annual report, there have 
been no material changes in the financial 
or trading position of the Company or its 
subsidiaries since the Company’s financial 
year-end and the signature date of this 
annual report.

VOTING AND PROXIES
A shareholder of the Company entitled to 
attend, speak and vote at the Annual General 
Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or 
proxies to attend, speak and vote in his stead. 
The proxy need not be a shareholder of the 
Company. A form of proxy is attached for the 
convenience of any certificated shareholder 
and own-name registered dematerialised 
shareholder who cannot attend the Annual 
General Meeting, but who wishes to be 
represented thereat.

Additional forms of proxy may also be obtained 
on request from the Company’s registered 
offices, at 71 Van Beek Avenue, Glenanda, 
Johannesburg 2091, Gauteng. The completed 
forms of proxy must be deposited at, posted 
or faxed to the Transfer Secretaries at the 
address set out below, to be received by no 
later than 10:00 on Friday, 4 August 2017. 
Shareholders may hand forms of proxy to 
the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting 
at any time before the appointed proxy 
exercises any shareholder rights at the Annual 
General Meeting.

Any shareholder who completes and 
lodges a form of proxy will nevertheless be 
entitled to attend and vote in person at the 
Annual General Meeting should the member 
subsequently decide to do so.

On a show of hands, every shareholder of 
the Company present in person or by proxy 
shall have 1 (one) vote only, irrespective of 
the number of shares he holds or represents, 
provided that a proxy shall, irrespective of the 
number of shareholders he represents have 
only 1 (one) vote. On a poll, every shareholder 
of the Company who is present in person 
or represented by proxy, shall have one 
vote for every share held in the Company by 
such shareholder.

Shareholders who have dematerialised 
their ordinary shares through a CSDP or 
broker, other than own-name registered 
dematerialised shareholders, and who wish 
to attend the Annual General Meeting must 
request their CSDP or broker to issue them 
with a Letter of Representation. Alternatively, 
dematerialised shareholders, other than 
own-name registered dematerialised 
shareholders, who wish to be represented, 
must provide their CSDP or broker with 
their voting instructions in terms of the 
custody agreement between them and 
their CSDP or broker in the manner and by 
time-frame stipulated.

Any shareholder of the Company may 
authorise any person to act as its 
representative at the Annual General Meeting. 
Please also note that section 63(1) of the 
Companies Act requires that persons wishing 

to participate in the Annual General Meeting 
(including the aforementioned representative) 
must provide satisfactory identification before 
they may so participate.

Voting will be performed by way of a poll so 
that each shareholder present or represented 
by way of proxy will be entitled to vote the 
number of shares held or represented by him.

Equity securities held by a share trust or 
scheme will not have their votes at the Annual 
General Meeting taken into account for the 
purposes of resolutions proposed in terms of 
the JSE Listings Requirements.

Unlisted securities (if applicable) and shares 
held as treasury shares may not vote.

The last day to trade in order to be eligible to 
vote at the Annual General Meeting is Tuesday, 
1 August 2017.

The record date in order to vote at the Annual 
General Meeting is Friday, 4 August 2017.

By order of the board

PJ Cilliers
Managing director

Johannesburg

3 July 2017 
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Notes



CHROMETCO LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) 
(Registration number 2002/026265/06)
Share code: CMO   ISIN: ZAE000070249
(“Chrometco” or “the company”)

For use by the holders of the Company’s certificated ordinary shares (“certificated shareholder”) and/or dematerialised ordinary shareholders whose 
shares are held through a CSDP or broker and who have selected own-name registration (“own-name dematerialised shareholders”) at the Annual 
General Meeting of the Company to be held at the offices of Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann 
Avenue, Rosebank, Johannesburg, 2196 at 10:00 on Tuesday, 15 August 2017 or at any adjournment thereof.

Not for the use by holders of the Company’s dematerialised ordinary shares who are not own-name dematerialised shareholders. Such shareholders 
must contact their CSDP or broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting and request that they be issued with the 
necessary Letter of Representation to do so, or provide the CSDP or broker timeously with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the 
Annual General Meeting in order for the CSDP or broker to vote thereat in accordance with their instructions.

I/We  (please print full names) 

of  (address) 

being the holder(s) of  ordinary shares in the Company, hereby appoint:

1.  or failing him/her,

2.   or failing him/her,

3.  the chairman of the Annual General Meeting,

  as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held for the purpose 
of considering and, if deemed fit, passing the ordinary and special resolutions to be proposed thereat and at each adjournment thereof, and 
to vote for and/or against and/or abstain from voting in respect of the ordinary shares in the issued share capital of the Company registered in 
my/our name/s in accordance with the following instructions:

  Please indicate with an ”X” the appropriate space below how you wish your votes to be cast unless otherwise instructed my/our proxy may vote 
as he/she thinks fit.

ORDINARY BUSINESS IN FAVOUR AGAINST ABSTAIN

1.
To re-appoint Mazars Incorporated as the independent auditors of the Company (the designated 
auditor being Mr B Bank).

2. (a) To re-elect Mr JG Scott as a director

(b) To re-elect Mr E Bramley as a director

3. (a) To re-appoint Mr JG Scott as a member of the Audit Committee

(b) To re-appoint Mr R Rossiter as chairman of the Audit Committee

(c) To re-appoint Mr E Bramley as a member of the Audit Committee

(d) To re-appoint Mr I Collair as a member of the Audit Committee

4. General authority to issue shares for cash

5. Remuneration philosophy

6. Authority to sign all documents required

SPECIAL BUSINESS

1. General authority to repurchase shares

2. Approval of directors’ remuneration

3. Inter-company financial assistance

4.
Financial assistance for the subscription and/or purchase of shares in the Company or a related 
or inter-related company

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote in his stead. 
A proxy so appointed need not be a shareholder of the Company.

Signed at  on  2017 

Signature 

Assisted by  (if applicable) 

Please read the notes on the reverse. 

Form of proxy

✁
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Notes to form of proxy
1. This form of proxy is to be completed only by those shareholders who are:

• holding shares in certificated form; or

• recorded in the sub-register in electronic form in their “own-name”.

2. A shareholder may insert the name or names of two alternative proxies of his choice in the space provided, with or without deleting “the chairman 
of the Annual General Meeting”. The person whose name appears first on this form of proxy and who is present at the Annual General Meeting 
will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. Any such proxy, who need not be a shareholder of the Company, is 
entitled to attend, speak and vote on behalf of such shareholder.

3. A proxy is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote for each share held. A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be 
indicated in the appropriate space.

4. If a shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that the proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain from voting 
or gives contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution/s or any amendment/s which may be properly put before the Annual 
General Meeting be proposed, the proxy shall be entitled to vote as he thinks fit. Forms of proxy must be lodged at, posted to or faxed to the 
transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Ave, Rosebank, Johannesburg, 
2196 (fax number: +27 11 688 5238 or email: proxy@computershare.co.za) to reach the transfer secretaries by no later than 10:00 on Friday, 
11 August 2017.

5. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of the person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this 
form of proxy unless previously recorded by the Company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the chairman of the Annual General Meeting.

6. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy does not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the Annual General Meeting and 
speaking and voting in person to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms of this form of proxy.

7. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialed by the signatory/ies.

8. The chairman of the Annual General Meeting may accept or reject any form of proxy, which is completed and/or received, other than in 
accordance with these notes, provided that the chairman shall not accept a proxy unless the chairman is satisfied as to the manner in which a 
shareholder wishes to vote.

9. Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares must inform their CSDP or broker of their intention to attend the Annual General Meeting and 
request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary Letter of Representation to attend the Annual General Meeting or provide their 
CSDP or broker with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the Annual General Meeting in person but wish to be represented 
thereat. This must be done in terms of the agreement entered into between the shareholder and his CSDP or broker.

10. Please note that, in terms of section 58(3) of the Companies Act:

• the appointment of a proxy is revocable unless the proxy appointment expressly states otherwise. If the appointment of a proxy is revocable, 
a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and 
delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy, and to the Company. The revocation will take effect on the later of: (i) the date 
stated in the revocation instrument or (ii) the date on which the revocation instrument was delivered to the proxy and the Company.

• a proxy may delegate his authority to act on your behalf to another person, subject to any restriction set out in this form of proxy.

• a proxy must be delivered to the Company, or to the transfer secretaries of the Company, namely Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited, before your proxy exercises any of your rights as a shareholder at the Annual General Meeting.

11. The last day to trade in order to be eligible to vote at the Annual General Meeting is Tuesday, 1 August 2017.

12. The record date in order to vote at the Annual General Meeting is Friday, 4 August 2017.
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